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NOTICE OF WRITTEN CONSENT IN LIEU OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY
AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY

Dear Stockholders:

Notice is hereby given to you that our Board of Directors has approved and the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares of our common stock have approved by written consent in lieu of a stockholders’ meeting the
following corporate actions: (1) election of the five (5) nominees named in the attached Information Statement to the
Board of Directors of Viggle Inc. to serve one-year terms expiring at the later of the next Annual Meeting of
Stockholders or upon a successor being elected and qualified; (2) approval of the sale of the Company’s rewards
business to Perk.com, Inc.; (3) approval of the change of the Company’s name from Viggle Inc. to DraftDay Fantasy
Sports, Inc.; and (4) ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as independent auditor for the Company for
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.

Because the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock, being 50.2%, have approved the

foregoing corporate actions pursuant to a written consent, our Board of Directors believes it is not in the best interest

of our company and stockholders to incur the costs of holding a stockholders’ meeting or of soliciting proxies or
consents from additional stockholders in connection with these corporate actions.

This Notice, the accompanying Information Statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2015 are being made available on or about January 5, 2015 to all of our stockholders of record at the close of
business on December 21, 2015.

In accordance with Rule 14c-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Information Statement is
being given to our stockholders at least 20 days prior to the taking of the corporate actions approved pursuant to the

written consent referred to above.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Mitchell J. Nelson
Executive Vice President and Secretary
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INFORMATION STATEMENT
OF
VIGGLE INC.
902 Broadway, 11th Floor
New York, New York

NOTICE OF WRITTEN CONSENT IN LIEU OF MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY
AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY

9 ¢ 99 ¢

Viggle Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”), is making this Information Statement available o
or about January 5, 2015 to all of the Company’s stockholders of record as of December 21, 2015 (the “record date”). As

of the record date, 33,891,030 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding, and 10,000 shares of our

Series C preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

Each outstanding share of our common stock and each share of our Series C preferred stock is entitled to one vote per
share. Holders of 50.2% of the outstanding shares of our common stock have approved by written consents in lieu of
an annual stockholders’ meeting (the “Written Consents”) the following corporate actions: (1) re-election of the
following five (5) incumbent directors to serve on the Company’s board of directors until the next annual meeting of
stockholders and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified: (a) Robert F.X. Sillerman, (b) Peter
Horan, (c) Michael J. Meyer, (d) Mitchell J. Nelson, and (e) Birame Sock, (2) approval of the sale of the Company’s
rewards business to Perk.com, Inc.; (3) approval of the change of the Company’s name from Viggle Inc. to DraftDay
Fantasy Sports, Inc.; and (4) ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP to serve as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for its fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.

This Information Statement is being made available pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14c-2 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), to inform holders of our common stock who were
entitled to consent to the matters authorized by the Written Consents. This Information Statement also constitutes
notice of the actions that have been approved pursuant to the Written Consents for purposes of Section 228 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”).

Because holders of approximately 50.2% of the outstanding shares of our common stock executed the Written
Consents, no vote or consent of any other stockholder is being, or will be, solicited in connection with the
authorization of the matters set forth in the Written Consents. Under the DGCL and our Bylaws, the votes represented
by the holders signing the Written Consents are sufficient in number to elect directors and authorize the other matters
set forth in the Written Consents, without the vote or consent of any other stockholder of the Company. The DGCL
provides that any action that is required to be taken, or that may be taken, at any annual or special meeting of
stockholders of a Delaware corporation may be taken, without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a
written consent, setting forth the action taken, is signed by the holders of outstanding capital stock having not less than
the minimum number of votes necessary to authorize such action.
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Based on the foregoing, our board of directors has determined not to call a meeting of stockholders to approve such
actions. The board of directors believes it would not be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to
incur the costs of holding a meeting or of soliciting proxies or consents from additional stockholders in connection
with these actions. There are no dissenters’ or appraisal rights as a result of the approval of these actions.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 is also being made available to our
stockholders of record as of the record date.
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INFORMATION ON CONSENTING STOCKHOLDERS

Pursuant to our Bylaws and the DGCL, a vote by the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of
common stock was required to approve the corporate actions set forth in the Written Consent. Our Certificate of
Incorporation does not authorize cumulative voting. As of the record date, 33,891,030 shares of our common stock
were issued and outstanding and 10,000 shares of our Series C preferred stock. Each share of Series C preferred stock
is entitled to one vote per share. Therefore, there were 33,901,030 total votes on matters submitted to the Company’s
stockholders, of which 16,950,516 of combined common shares and Series C preferred shares were required to pass
any stockholder resolutions. The consenting stockholders, who consist of Robert F.X. Sillerman, our Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and his affiliates, were collectively the record and/or beneficial owners of
17,027,891 shares of the outstanding shares of our common stock outstanding on the record date, which represented
50.2% of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock as of that date. Pursuant to Section 228 of the
DGCL, the consenting stockholders voted in favor of the actions described herein in the written consents attached
hereto as Annex A. No consideration was paid for any stockholder’s consent. Mr. Sillerman’s beneficial holdings of
our outstanding common stock are set forth in the table under “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” included elsewhere in this Information Statement.

1. To elect the five nominees named herein to the Board of Directors of Viggle Inc., each to serve a one-year term
expiring at the later of the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2016 or upon his or her successor being elected and
qualified.

2. To approve the Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”’) made and entered into as of December
13, 2015, by and between the Company and Perk.com Inc., an Ontario corporation (‘“Perk”), the Other Agreements (as
defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement) and the transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement and

the Other Agreements.

3. To approve the change of the Company’s name from Viggle Inc. to DraftDay Fantasy Sports, Inc.

4. To ratify the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as independent auditor for the Company for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2016.

10
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SUMMARY TERM SHEET

This summary highlights information included elsewhere in this Information Statement relating to Action 2, the sale
of assets pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement. You should read the entire Information Statement carefully,
including the annexes attached hereto.

Parties to the Asset Purchase Agreement. Viggle Inc. (the “Company”) is a mobile and web-based entertainment
marketing platform that uses incentives to make content consumption and discovery more rewarding for media
companies, brands and consumers. The Company also owns and operates Wetpaint.com, a leading entertainment
publishing website and Choose Digital, Inc., a business-to-business provider of digital rewards for loyalty and rewards
programs, and MyGuy, a real-time play-along game. The Company also owns an interest in DraftDay Gaming Group,
Inc., which operates a daily fantasy sports website. The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 902
Broadway, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10010, and our main telephone number is (212) 231-0092.

Perk.com, Inc. (“Perk” or the “Buyer”) is traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Information and public filings on Perk
can be found at www.perk.com. For more complete information, the public filings should be consulted directly. The
phone number of Perk’s headquarters is (519) 827-1999. Perk provides a rewards platform targeting consumers
primarily by providing cash and gift card rewards for people's every day mobile and internet activities. Headquartered

at 720 Brazos Street, Suite 110, Austin, Texas 78701, Perk offers Perk Points, a digital currency, earned by members
for a wide variety of activities where members interact with third party consumer brands. Perk currently owns and
operates 12 mobile applications allowing members to earn Perk Points through activities such as shopping, watching
videos, and playing social games. Perk also operates numerous owned websites. In addition to offering Perk Points
through its own mobile applications and websites, in 2015, Perk launched its Appsaholic Software Development Kit
(SDK) which allows mobile publishers to reward their users with real world rewards (gift cards, consumer goods, etc.)
for engaging with the publisher’s applications. See Action No. 2 — Sale of the Rewards Business — Information About
Perk.com, Inc.

Asset Purchase Agreement: On December 13, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement
(the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) and certain Other Agreements (as defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement) with
Perk including the Credit Facility described below. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company will sell
(the “Asset Sale”) to Perk certain assets and liabilities of the Company relating to the Company’s consumer-based mobile
rewards program using audio recognition technology (the “Business”). The Company will retain its interest in DraftDay
Gaming Group, Inc., Wetpaint.com, Inc., Choose Digital, Inc. and the assets relating to its MyGuy game. See Action
No. 2 — Sale of Rewards Business — Asset Purchase Agreement.

Purchase Price and Adjustments: As consideration for the assets to be sold, the Company will receive the
following consideration:

. 1,500,000 Perk common shares free and clear of all liens, less the number of Perk common shares applied to
the repayment of principal and interest of the credit facility described below (the “Initial Perk Shares”);

. 2,000,000 Perk common shares if Perk’s combined revenue, as calculated pursuant to the Asset Purchase
Agreement, is at least USD $130.0 million for the calendar year commencing on January 1, 2016 or January 1, 2017
(the “Earn-Out™);

. A warrant (“Warrant 1) entitling the Company to purchase 1,000,000 Perk common shares at a strike price of
CDN $6.25 per share in the event the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of Perk common shares is greater than
or equal to CDN $12.50 per share for 20 consecutive trading days in the two year period following the closing of the
Acquisition;

11
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. A warrant (“Warrant 2”, and together with Warrant 1, the “Warrants”) entitling the Company to purchase 1,000,000
Perk common shares at a strike price of CDN $6.25 per share in the event that the VWAP of Perk common shares is
greater than or equal to CDN $18.75 per share for 20 consecutive trading days in the two year period following the
closing of the Acquisition; and

. Perk will also assume certain liabilities of the Company, including points liability. See Action No. 2 — Sale of
Rewards Business — Purchase Price and Adjustments.

Escrow. At the Closing, 37.5% of the Initial Perk Shares will be issued and delivered to an escrow agent to be
used exclusively for the purpose of securing the indemnification obligations of the Company under the Asset Purchase
Agreement. The escrow agent will hold such shares for one year from the Closing of the Asset Sale and will hold
them in accordance with the terms of an escrow agreement.

Credit Agreement. On December 13, 2015, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Perk pursuant
to which Perk will provide a $1,000,000 line of credit to the Company (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement
provides for three drawdowns pursuant to which Perk will make advances to the Company, not to exceed $1,000,000
in total. The first advance will be upon signing of the Asset Purchase Agreement. The second will be on the business
day after approval of the Asset Sale is obtained from the holders of a majority of the Company’s voting shares. As
Stockholder Approval was obtained on December 13, 2015, the Company received the first two drawdowns, totaling
$666,666.66, on December 14, 2015. The final drawdown will be made when this Information Statement is filed with
the SEC. Amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement will bear interest at 12% per annum, with an additional
12% if the Company is in default of its obligations under the Credit Agreement. Amounts outstanding under the
Credit Agreement will become payable upon the closing of the Asset Sale or April 30, 2016, whichever comes first. If
the Asset Sale closes, the Company may elect to repay all amounts outstanding pursuant to the Credit Agreement by
reducing the number of the Initial Perk Shares payable upon closing of the Asset Sale by 130,000 shares, in which
case, Perk would deliver 1,370,000 shares of Perk common stock to the Company at closing of the Asset Sale. In
connection with the Credit Agreement, the Company also entered into a Security Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company will provide Perk with a security interest in its assets to secure repayment of amounts outstanding under the
Credit Agreement. SIC III agreed to subordinate payment of the Promissory Note, and SIC IV agreed to subordinate
payment of the Grid Promissory Note, to amounts owed to Perk under the Credit Agreement, and received a security
interest in the assets of the Company in exchange for their consent and their agreement to subordinate. See Action
No. 2 — Sale of Rewards Business — Credit Agreement.

Recommendation. Our Board of Directors believes that the Asset Sale is advisable and in the best interests of
the Company and its stockholders for the following reasons:

* The challenges facing the Company given its lack of operating capital.
* The Company’s current and historical financial condition, results of operations, and anticipated future losses.

* The purchase price proposed by Buyer, which represents the highest price that the Board believes it could receive,
from Buyer, or any other party, for the Business.

» Perk’s potential to further develop these Business and ultimately value for our stockholders. See Action No. 2 — Sale
of Rewards Business — Recommendation.

10
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Nature of the Company’s Business Following the Transaction. The Company will retain its interest in DraftDay
Gaming Group, Inc., Wetpaint.com, Inc., Choose Digital, Inc. and the assets relating to its MyGuy game. The
Company will change its name to DraftDay Fantasy Sports, Inc.

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Company. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the
Company will recognize gain or loss on the disposition of each of the Assets of the Company pursuant to the Asset
Sale in an amount equal to the difference between the portion of the total purchase price allocable to each such Asset
and adjusted tax basis in each Asset. Any gain recognized by the Company from the Asset Sale may be offset by other
tax attributes of the Company such as consolidated net operating loss carryforward and/or tax credits to the extent they
are available and allowed by the U.S. federal tax laws. At June 30, 2015, the Company had a tax net operating loss
carryforward of $164.5 million, which will begin to expire in 2030. The Company has not fully evaluated the adjusted
tax basis of the Assets and/or how the purchase price will be allocated among the Assets for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Therefore, it is not able to fully analyze the tax treatment of the transaction to determine how much gain or
loss will be realized in the transaction or provide additional disclosure in this report with respect to the U.S. federal
income tax consequences of the Asset Sale to the Company. The Company anticipates that the Company’s net
operating loss carryforward will offset any gain on the sale of the Assets; provided, however, that the Company could
be subject to an alternative minimum tax. See Action No. 2 — Sale of Rewards Business — Certain U.S. Federal Tax
Consequences.

Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Stockholders. The Asset Sale will not produce any separate and
independent tax consequences to the Company's stockholders. However, upon distributions of any amounts (whether
in cash or in kind) to the Company's stockholders, the stockholders may recognize income or gain and be subject to
the payment of income tax at that time. No distributions to stockholders are intended as a result of the consummation
of the Asset Sale.

11
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ACTION 1 - ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Size of Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors currently consists of six members, but is to be reduced to five members upon the Written
Consent becoming effective. All members of the Board of Directors are elected by the holders of our common stock.

Current Nominees

The director nominees are Robert F.X. Sillerman, Peter C. Horan, Michael J. Meyer, Mitchell J. Nelson, and Birame
N. Sock. Each of the nominees is currently a member of the Board of Directors and each has been nominated for
election pursuant to the Written Consent. Current director John D. Miller has decided not to stand for re-election. He
will continue to serve as a member of the board until this election. The Board intends to reduce the number of
members by one.

Using Rule 5605 of the NASDAQ Listing Rules as a guide, the Board of Directors, upon the advice of the Nominating
& Governance Committee, has determined that all of the director nominees other than Mr. Sillerman and Mr. Nelson
are “independent directors” because they are not executive officers or employees of the Company; and in the opinion of
the Board of Directors, they do not have a relationship that will interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in
carrying out their responsibilities as directors.1 This independence question is analyzed annually in both fact and
appearance to promote arms-length oversight. Mr. Sillerman and Mr. Nelson are current Company officers, and
accordingly the Board of Directors has concluded that neither is currently an independent director.

Further discussion concerning director independence is available on the Company website at:
http://ir.viggleinc.com/governance-docs.

Under the DCGL and our Bylaws, the Written Consent is sufficient to elect all nominees to our board of directors
without the vote or consent of any of the other stockholders of the Company.

1 Rule 5605 of the NASDAQ Listing Rules specifically excludes the following persons from the definition of
Independent Director: (A) a director who is, or at any time during the past three years was, employed by the company
or by any parent or subsidiary of the company; (B) a director who accepted or who has a family member who accepted
any compensation from the company in excess of $120,000 during any period of twelve consecutive months within
the three years preceding the determination of independence, other than the following: (i) compensation for board or
board committee service; (ii) compensation paid to a family member who is an employee (other than an executive
officer) of the company; or (iii) benefits under a tax-qualified retirement plan, or non-discretionary compensation;
provided, however, that in addition to the requirements contained in this clause (B), audit committee members are also
subject to the additional, more stringent requirements of NASDAQ Listing Rules 5605(c)(2); (C) a director who is a
family member of an individual who is, or at any time during the past three years was, employed by the company as
an executive officer; (D) a director who is, or has a family member who is a partner in, or a controlling stockholder or
an executive officer of, any organization to which the company made, or from which the company received, payments
for property or services in the current or any of the past three fiscal years that exceed 5% of the recipient’s consolidated
gross revenues for that year, or $200,000, whichever is more, other than the following: (i) payments arising solely
from investments in the company’s securities; or (ii) payments under non-discretionary charitable contribution
matching programs; (E) a director of the company who is, or has a family member who is, employed as an executive

15
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officer of another entity where at any time during the past three years any of the executive officers of the issuer serve
on the compensation committee of such other entity; or (F) a director who is, or has a family member who is a current
partner of the company’s outside auditor, or was a partner or employee of the company’s outside auditor who worked
on the company’s audit at any time during any of the past three years.

12
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The information provided below is biographical information about each of the nominees. Age and other information in
each nominee’s biography are as of December 21, 2015.

INFORMATION REGARDING DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following tables set forth the nominees for director and our executive officers and each such person’s age and
positions with the Company as of the record date.

Directors
Name Age Position
Robert F.X. Sillerman 67 Director*
Mitchell J. Nelson 67 Director*
Peter Horan 60 Director
Michael J. Meyer 50 Director
Birame N. Sock 40 Director

* Also an executive officer (see below)

Executive Officers

Name Age Position
Robert F.X. Sillerman 67 Executive Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer**
Mitchell J. Nelson 67 Executive Vice President and
Secretary**
Olga Bashkatova 30 Principal Accounting Officer
Kyle Brink 48 General Manager

** Also a director (see above)
The business experience of each such person is set forth below.

Robert F.X. Sillerman was elected a director of the Company and Executive Chairman of our Board of Directors
effective as of February 7, 2011 and Chief Executive Officer effective June 19, 2012. He is also Executive Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of SFX Entertainment Inc. (“SFX”), a NASDAQ-listed company in the Electronic Dance
Music area. Between January 10, 2008 and December 31, 2012, he served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Circle Entertainment Inc. (“Circle”). Mr. Sillerman also served as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of CKX
Inc. from February 2005 until May 2010. From August 2000 to February 2005, Mr. Sillerman was Chairman of FXM,
Inc., a private investment firm. Mr. Sillerman is the founder and has served as managing member of FXM Asset
Management LLC, the managing member of MJX Asset Management, a company principally engaged in the
management of collateralized loan obligation funds, from November 2003 through April 2010. Prior to that, Mr.
Sillerman served as the Executive Chairman, a Member of the Office of the Chairman and a director of SFX
Entertainment, Inc., from its formation in December 1997 through its sale to Clear Channel Communications in
August 2000. Our Board of Directors selected Mr. Sillerman to serve as a director because he is our company’s
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our Board of Directors believes he possesses significant
entertainment and financial expertise, which will benefit our company.

17
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Peter C. Horan was appointed as a Non-Executive Board Member of the Company on February 15, 2011, and was
named Lead Independent Director on August 4, 2015. Mr. Horan is a partner in Horan MediaTech Advisors, an
investment and consulting firm founded in 2014. Previously, he served as Executive Chairman of Halogen Network,
a next generation digital media company. Mr. Horan has served as CEO of many internet companies, including
Goodmail Systems, Inc. from 2008 to 2010. Mr. Horan was CEO of IAC’s Media and Advertising Group from 2007
to 2008. He was CEO of AllBusiness.com from 2005 to 2007. As CEO of About.com from 2003 to 2005, Mr. Horan
led the sale of the company to the New York Times Company. Mr. Horan was CEO of DevX.com from 2000 to
2003. Previously at International Data Group, he served as Senior Vice President from 1991 until 2000, where he was
also the publisher of their flagship publication Computerworld. He held senior account management roles at leading
advertising agencies including BBD&O and Ogilvy & Mather. Mr. Horan was selected as a director because our
Board of Directors believes that his technology, internet and advertising experience will benefit the Company.

Michael J. Meyer was appointed as a Non-Executive Board Member of the Company on June 1, 2013. Mr. Meyer is
the founding partner of 17 Broad LLC, a diversified investment vehicle and securities consulting firm. Prior to
founding 17 Broad, from 2002 to 2007, he served as Managing Director and Head of Credit Sales and Trading for
Bank of America. Prior to that, Mr. Meyer spent four years as the Head of High Grade Credit Sales and Trading for
UBS. Mr. Meyer is a member of the board of directors and Chair of the Audit Committee of Circle. Mr. Meyer is also
a member of the board of directors, Chair of the Compensation Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of SFX Entertainment, Inc. (Mr. Sillerman serves as Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of SFX). Mr. Meyer was selected by the Board of Directors because it
believes his experience in financial planning and debt issues will benefit the Company.

Mitchell J. Nelson was appointed Director, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary on February 7,
2011. He stepped down as General Counsel effective April 16, 2013, but remains a director and the Company’s
Executive Vice President and Secretary. Mr. Nelson also serves as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary of Circle, having served in such capacity since January 2008, and served as President of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, FX Luxury Las Vegas I, LLC (which was reorganized in bankruptcy) in 2010. He has been a Senior Legal
Advisor to SFX since January 1, 2012. He also served as President of Atlas Real Estate Funds, Inc., a private
investment fund which invested in United States-based real estate securities, from 1994 to 2008, and as Senior Vice
President, Corporate Affairs for Flag Luxury Properties, LLC from 2003 to 2015. Prior to 2008, Mr. Nelson served as
counsel to various law firms, having started his career in 1973 at the firm of Wien, Malkin &Bettex. At Wien, Malkin
& Bettex, which he left in 1992, he became a senior partner with supervisory responsibility for various commercial
real estate properties. Mr. Nelson is an Adjunct Assistant Professor of Real Estate Development at Columbia
University. He was a director of The Merchants Bank of New York and its holding company until its merger with
Valley National Bank. Additionally, he has served on the boards of various not-for-profit organizations, including as a
director of the 92nd Street YMHA and a trustee of Collegiate School, both in New York City. Our Board of Directors
has selected Mr. Nelson as a director because it believes his legal and business experience will benefit the Company.

Birame Sock was appointed as a Non-Executive Board Member of the Company on February 12, 2013. Ms. Sock is
the founder of a new startup, Flyscan, a real-time interactive mobile marketing platform. She was the founder and
CEO of Third Solutions, Inc., the leading digital receipts company, which she founded in 2007. In 2002, Ms. Sock
founded Musicphone, a wireless entertainment company, which she led until its acquisition by Gracenote, Inc. in
2007. Birame Sock served as a member of the Board of Directors of CKX Inc. from 2005 until 2006, when she
became a consultant for CKX Inc. and affiliated companies. Ms. Sock attended the University of Miami, where she
studied computer science and broadcasting. The Board of Directors selected Ms. Sock as a director because it believes
her experience in technology and consumer marketing will benefit the Company
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Olga Bashkatova was named as Principal Accounting Officer on October 21, 2015. Ms. Bashkatova is the Company’s
Controller. She served as the Company’s Director of Accounting from May 2013 to April 2015. Before rejoining the
Company, Olga was Controller at Bizfi from April 2015 until September 2015. She previously worked at Merchantry,
Inc., as Financial Controller (2011- 2013), as Finance & Accounting Manager at Group Commerce Inc. (2011), and as
a Senior Associate at Kroll, Inc. (2006-2011). She has extensive experience in the preparation of financial statements,
accounting and audit management, budgeting, payroll and benefits management, and financial investigations. Ms.
Bashkatova is a Certified Public Accountant and holds a B.S. in Accounting from New York University.

Kyle Brink was named the Company’s General Manager on July 1, 2015. He joined the company in September 2011
as Product Director, in which role he was responsible for all product features and user experience, from play-along
games like MYGUY and Viggle LIVE to social TV elements. Mr. Brink was promoted to Vice President, Product, in
September of 2012. Prior to joining Viggle, Mr. Brink held leadership positions in game design and production at
Activision, Sega, and Electronic Arts.

Corporate Governance Guidelines and Director Independence

The Company has Corporate Governance Guidelines which provide, among other things, that a majority of the
members of our Board of Directors must meet the criteria for independence required by The NASDAQ Global
Market. Although neither our common stock nor our preferred stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market, we
voluntarily choose to comply with these criteria. The NASDAQ Global Market requires that a majority of our Board
of Directors qualify as “independent” and that the Company shall at all times have an audit committee, compensation
committee and nominating and corporate governance committee, which committees will be made up entirely of
independent directors.

Peter Horan, Michael Meyer, and Birame Sock, whose biographical information is included above under the heading
“Information Regarding Directors and Executive Officers” are incumbent directors and director nominees who qualify
as independent director under the applicable rules of The NASDAQ Global Market.

The Nominating & Governance Committee, consisting solely of “independent directors” as defined in Rule 5605 of the
NASDAQ Listing Rules, recommended the five directors set forth in Action 1 for nomination by our full Board of
Directors. Based on this recommendation and each nominee’s credentials and experience outlined above, the Board of
Directors has determined that each such nominee can make a significant contribution to the Board of Directors and
should serve as a director of the Company. Our Board of Directors nominated such directors for election. All
nominees are currently directors, and each nominee has agreed to be named in this Information Statement and to serve
if elected. Although we know of no reason why any of the nominees would not be able to serve, if any nominee is
unavailable for election, the stockholders may vote for another nominee proposed by the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors may also choose to reduce the number of directors to be elected, as permitted by our Bylaws.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines also outline director responsibilities, provide that our Board of Directors shall
have full and free access to officers and employees of the Company and require our Board of Directors to conduct an
annual self-evaluation to determine whether it and its committees are functioning effectively. The Corporate

Governance Guidelines can be found on the Company’s website at www.viggle.com.

Board of Directors Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight
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Our Board of Directors believes the interests of all stockholders are best served at the present time through a
leadership model with a combined Chairman and CEO position. Our Board of Directors has overall responsibility for
risk oversight. The role of the Board of Directors in the risk oversight of the Company includes, among other things:

appointing, retaining and overseeing the work of the independent auditors, including resolving disagreements
between the management and the independent auditors relating to financial reporting;
* approving all auditing and non-auditing services permitted to be performed by the independent auditors;

. reviewing annually the independence and quality control procedures of the independent auditors;
. reviewing and approving all proposed related party transactions;
. discussing the annual audited financial statements with the management; and

meeting separately with the independent auditors to discuss critical accounting policies, management letters,
recommendations on internal controls, the auditor’s engagement letter and independence letter and other material
written communications between the independent auditors and the management.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Company has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is applicable to all our employees and directors,
including our principal executive officer, chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller and persons
performing similar functions. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at www.viggle.com.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver
from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions by posting such
information on our website at www.viggle.com.

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, our Board of Directors held six (6) meetings and acted by unanimous
written consent twenty-one (21) times. Each of Messrs. Sillerman, Horan, Meyer, Miller and Nelson, and Ms. Sock
attended at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the total number of meetings of our Board of Directors and committees
(if any) on which he or she served that were held during 2015.

The following chart sets forth the current membership of each Board committee. Our Board of Directors reviews and
determines the membership of the committees at least annually.

Committee Members

Audit Committee Peter Horan
Michael J. Meyer (Chair)
John D. Miller

Compensation Committee Peter Horan
John D. Miller (Chair)

Nominating and Corporate John D. Miller (Chair)
Governance Committee Birame Sock
16
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Information about the committees, their respective roles and responsibilities and their charters is set forth below.
Audit Committee

The audit committee is currently comprised of Messrs. Horan, Meyer and Miller. Mr. Meyer serves as the chair of the
audit committee. The audit committee assists our Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee
management’s conduct of our financial reporting process, including the selection of our outside auditors, review of the
financial reports and other financial information we provide to the public, our systems of internal accounting, financial
and disclosure controls and the annual independent audit of our financial statements. The audit committee met four (4)
times during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.

All members of the audit committee are independent within the meaning of the rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and our Corporate Governance Guidelines. In addition, Mr. Meyer is qualified
as an audit committee financial expert under the regulations of the SEC and has the accounting and related financial
management expertise required by our Corporate Governance Guidelines. The audit committee’s charter can be found
on the Company’s website at www.viggle.com.

Compensation Committee

We have a standing compensation committee currently comprised of Messrs. Horan and Miller. The compensation
committee represents our Company in reviewing and approving the executive employment agreements with our
Chief Executive Officer, President, Principal Accounting Officer and General Counsel. The compensation committee
also reviews management’s recommendations with respect to executive compensation and employee benefits and is
authorized to act on behalf of our board of directors with respect thereto. The compensation committee also
administers the Company’s stock option and incentive plans, including our 2011 Executive Incentive Plan. All
members of the compensation committee are independent within the meaning of the rules and regulations of the SEC
and our Corporate Governance Guidelines. The compensation committee’s charter can be found on the Company’s
website at www.viggle.com. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the compensation committee met one (1)
time and acted by unanimous consent four (4) times.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and corporate governance committee is currently comprised of Mr. Miller and Ms. Sock. Mr. Miller is
the chair of the nominating and corporate governance committee. The nominating and corporate governance
committee is responsible for recommending qualified candidates to our Board of Directors for election as directors of
our Company, including the slate of directors proposed by our Board of Directors for election by stockholders. The
nominating and corporate governance committee also advises and makes recommendations to our Board of Directors
on all matters concerning directorship practices and recommendations concerning the functions and duties of the
committees of our Board of Directors. To assist in formulating such recommendations, the nominating and corporate
governance committee utilizes feedback that it receives from our Board of Directors’ annual self-evaluation process,
which it oversees and which includes a committee and director self-evaluation component. The nominating and
corporate governance committee developed and recommended to our Board of Directors Corporate Governance
Guidelines and will review, on a regular basis, the overall corporate governance of our Company. The nominating and
corporate governance committee met one (1) time and acted by unanimous consent one (1) time during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2015.
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All members of the nominating and corporate governance committee are independent within the meaning of our
Corporate Governance Guidelines. The nominating and corporate governance committee’s charter can be found on the
Company’s website at www.viggle.com.

When considering the nomination of directors for election, the Nominating and Governance Committee takes into
account all factors it considers appropriate, which may include strength of character, mature judgment, diversity,
career specialization, relevant technical skills and the extent to which the candidate would fill a present need on our
Board of Directors. The Nominating and Governance Committee may engage, as appropriate, a third party search
firm to assist in identifying qualified candidates. The process may also include interviews and all necessary and
appropriate inquiries into the background and qualifications of possible candidates. The nominating and corporate
governance committee currently does not have a policy whereby it will consider recommendations from stockholders
for its director nominees.

Lead Director

Peter Horan currently serves as the Lead Independent Director. The Lead Independent Director is an enhancement to
the responsible functioning of each director in carrying out his or her fiduciary obligations to the Company and its
stockholders. The Lead Independent Director is responsible for review of Board meeting agendas, calling meetings of
the independent directors, chairing executive sessions of the independent directors and serving as liaison between the
independent directors and Company management, as necessary. Mr. Horan was appointed to the role of Lead
Independent Director on August 4, 2015.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of our compensation committee was at any time during the past fiscal year an officer or employee of us,
was formerly an officer of us or any of our subsidiaries or has an immediate family member that was an officer or
employee of us or had any relationship requiring disclosure under Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related
Transactions, and Director Independence of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015,
filed with the SEC on September 21, 2015.

During the last fiscal year, none of our executive officers served as:

. a member of the compensation committee (or other committee of our Board of Directors performing equivalent
functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire Board of Directors) or another entity, one of whose
executive officers served on our compensation committee;

. a director of another entity, one of whose executive officers served on our compensation committee; and

. a member of the compensation committee (or other committee of our Board of Directors performing equivalent
functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire Board of Directors) of another entity, one of whose
executive officers served as a director of us.

Board Oversight of Enterprise Risk

Risk management is primarily the responsibility of the Company’s management team. However, our Board of
Directors oversees the management team’s assessment of the material risks faced by the Company at both the full
Board of Directors level and at the committee level. In accordance with our Audit Committee charter, the Audit
Committee is responsible for assisting the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility for monitoring Company
risk and the Company’s control system and for assisting the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility for
oversight of the quality and integrity of the accounting, auditing and reporting practices of the Company. To assist the
Audit Committee in assessing the Company’s approach to risk management, the management team prepares a list of
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what it perceives to be the most significant risks facing the Company, along with a statement reflecting any associated

action the Company is taking to mitigate each type of risk. The Audit Committee reports on risk to the full Board of
Directors as necessary.
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In addition, each quarterly Board report from management addresses matters of particular importance or concern
including any significant areas of risk that require Board of Directors and/or committee attention. Throughout the year
the Board of Directors and committees receive a variety of management presentations on different business topics that
include discussion of associated significant risks.

Communications with the Board

Any matter intended for the Board, or for any individual member or members of the Board, should be directed to the

Company’s General Counsel at 902 Broadway, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10010, with a request to forward the
communication to the intended recipient or recipients. In general, any stockholder communication delivered to the

Company for forwarding to the Board or specified Board member or members will be forwarded in accordance with

the stockholder’s instructions. However, the Company reserves the right not to forward to Board members any abusive,
threatening or otherwise inappropriate materials, or materials that do not relate to the Company’s business.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Employee directors do not receive any separate compensation for their board service. Independent directors receive
the compensation described below.

Each of our independent directors will receive an annual fee of $80,000, which includes attendance fees for four
meetings a year. Each independent director will also receive an additional $7,500 for attendance at additional
meetings of our Board of Directors (over four). The chairperson of the audit committee will receive an additional fee
of $15,000 per annum and the chairpersons of each other committee will receive an additional fee of $5,000 per
annum. Each of the other members of the audit committee will receive $3,000 per annum and the other members of
each of the other committees will receive a fee of $1,000 per annum. All fees described above were payable in stock
options priced based on the closing price on the day before issuance.

The total compensation earned by our independent directors during fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 is shown in the
following table (amounts in thousands):

Fees
Earned or Option
Paid in Stock Awards All Other
Name Cash Awards (H©2) Compensation Total

Peter Horan $— $101 $406 $ — $507

Michael J. Meyer — 95 312 — 407
John D. Miller — 104 425 — 529

Birame Sock — 83 281 — 364

€] The amount reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the option awards and stock awards granted during

the fiscal year, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. We provide information regarding the
assumptions used to calculate the value of the option awards and stock awards in note 10 to the notes to our financial
statements filed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ending June 30, 2015, as filed on
September 21, 2015. There can be no assurance that awards will vest or options will be exercised (in which case no
value will be realized by the individual), or that the value upon exercise or vesting, as applicable, will approximate the
aggregate grant date fair value.

2) As of June 30, 2015, each non-employee director held the following number of outstanding vested and
unvested stock options: Mr. Horan: 143,122 vested stock options and O unvested stock options, Mr. Meyer: 94,747
vested stock options and 0 unvested stock options, Mr. Miller: 147,184 vested stock options and O unvested stock
options, and Ms. Sock: 53,748 vested stock options and O unvested stock options.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Overview

The following discussion and analysis of the compensation arrangements of our named executive officers should be
read together with the compensation tables and related disclosures set forth below. This discussion contains
forward-looking statements that are based on our current plans, considerations, expectations, and determinations
regarding future compensation programs. The actual amount and form of compensation and the compensation policies
and practices that we adopt in the future may differ materially from currently planned programs as summarized in this
discussion.
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The compensation provided to our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 is detailed in the
Summary Compensation Table and accompanying footnotes and narrative that follows this section.
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Our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 were:

Robert F.X. Sillerman
John Small

Gregory Consiglio
Kevin Arrix

Mr. Consiglio resigned from his positions with the Company on June 29, 2015. Mr. Arrix and Mr. Small also
resigned from the Company after the end of the 2015 fiscal year, which was June 30, 2015. Kyle Brink and Olga
Bashkatova were both appointed as officers after the end of the fiscal year and would be named executive officers
today. However, because neither of such individuals was an executive officer as of the end of the last fiscal year,
neither has been included in the Summary Compensation Table below. Details of their compensation are nevertheless
described in the narrative sections of this Information Statement.

The Company’s compensation program consists only of salary, some bonuses as detailed in the Summary
Compensation Table below, and equity awards that vest on the basis of time. In 2015, no equity awards were
re-priced or otherwise materially modified. The Company does not maintain any deferred compensation plans. The
Company does not maintain any non-equity incentive plan compensation.

2015 Summary Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the compensation earned for services rendered to the Company for the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014 by our Chief Executive Officers, our Principal Financial Officer, and the three other most
highly compensated executive officers of the Company (the “named executive officers”) who served in such capacities
at the end of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. Except as provided below, none of our named executive officers
received any other compensation required to be disclosed by law or in excess of $10,000 annually. All dollar amounts
(except share and per share data) in the table and footnotes are in thousands.

Name and Stock Option All Other
Principal Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation  Total

Position (12) Year &) (%) $) ) $) (3) &) &)
Robert F.X.
Sillerman 2015 - 4) 250 622 ®) - - 872
Executive
Chairman,
Chief
Executive
Officer(1) 2014 208 — — - 208
Gregory
Consiglio (6) 2015 --- 4) --- 1,479 (7) --- --- 1,479
President and
Chief
Operating
Officer 2014 333 — — — 333
John Small (8) 2015 --- 4) 210 984 ) --- 1,194
Chief Financial
Officer 2014 250 - - --- — 250
Kevin Arrix
(10) 2015 --- 4) --- 1,171  (11) --- --- 1,171
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(1) Because Mr. Sillerman is our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, the Company books a compensation charge
for certain financing-related activities undertaken by Mr. Sillerman. These amounts are excluded because they do not
constitute compensation to Mr. Sillerman for his service as an officer or director of the Company, but instead solely
relate to certain financing arrangements. Specifically, the table excludes the following: (a) a $5,000 compensation
charge related to the receipt by Sillerman Investment Company II, LLC (“SIC II”), an affiliate of Mr. Sillerman's, of
62,500 shares of the Company's Common Stock as an inducement for SIC II to enter into a $25,000 Line of Credit
(the “$25,000 Line of Credit”) with the Company on February 11, 2013, (b) a compensation charge of $5,551 relating to
Mr. Sillerman's receipt of warrants to purchase 125,000 shares of the Company's common stock on March 11, 2013,
as an inducement to Mr. Sillerman to guarantee a term loan that the Company entered with Deutsche Bank Trust
Companies America, (c) a $7,481 compensation charge relating to 103,909 shares of the Company's common stock
received by Sillerman Investment Company, LLC (“SIC”) on March 11, 2013, as an inducement to convert a $20,000
line of credit that had previously been fully drawn into new 8% notes, (d) a compensation charge of $1,532 relating to
warrants received by SIC II for a draw of $4,000 on the $25,000 Line of Credit on May 21, 2013, (e) compensation
charges of $3,810 relating to warrants received by SIC II for draws under the $25,000 Line of Credit in the 2014 fiscal
year, (f) a compensation charge of $6,259 relating to shares of the Company's Preferred Stock that SIC received in
exchange for a promissory note, shares of the Company's Common Stock and warrants on September 16, 2013, and
(g) compensation charges in fiscal year 2015 of $4,141, consisting of: (i) $2,049 relating to warrants issued to
Sillerman Investment Company III LLC ("SIC III") in connection with draws under a Securities Purchase Agreement
with the Company entered into on October 24, 2014 (the "SPA") and (ii) compensation charges of $2,091 relating to
Series C Preferred Stock issued to SIC III under the SPA.

(2) These stock awards represent grants of RSUs. The per share fair value of RSUs granted was determined on the
date of grant using the fair market value of the shares on that date.

(3) The amount reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the option awards and stock awards granted during the
fiscal year, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. We provide information regarding the assumptions
used to calculate the value of the option awards and stock awards in Note 10, Share-Based Payments, to our financial
statements. There can be no assurance that awards will vest or options will be exercised (in which case no value will
be realized by the individual), or that the value upon exercise or vesting, as applicable, will approximate the aggregate
grant date fair value.

(4) Each of Mr. Sillerman, Mr. Consiglio, Mr. Small and Mr. Arrix entered into amended and restated employment
agreements effective as of May 1, 2014. The amendment to Mr. Sillerman’s agreement is described in the section
entitled "Employment Agreements” below. Messrs. Consiglio, Small and Arrix have resigned from the Company.

(5) The Company and Mr. Sillerman entered into an amendment to his employment agreement effective as of May 1,
2014. Pursuant to the revised terms, Mr. Sillerman was to receive a base salary of One Dollar per year, was to receive
a guaranteed bonus of $250 per year, payable in stock or in cash, and was to receive a grant of 155,090 RSUs, vesting
in equal installments on each of May 1, 2015, May 1, 2016, May 1, 2017, May 1, 2018 and May 1, 2019. The grant of
155,090 RSUs occurred on September 29, 2014, and based on a closing price of $4.01 on that date, such grant has a
fair value of $622. The Company has not yet paid Mr. Sillerman the guaranteed bonus of $250.

(6) Mr. Consiglio was appointed as the Company's President and Chief Operating Officer as of November 1,
2012. Previously, he has served as the Company's Head of Business Development. Mr. Consiglio resigned from his
position with the Company effective as of June 30, 2015.

(7) The Company and Mr. Consiglio entered into an amendment to his employment agreement effective as of May 1,

2014. Pursuant to the revised terms, Mr. Consiglio was to receive a base salary of One Dollar per year, was to receive
a guaranteed bonus of $250 per year, payable in stock or in cash, and was to receive a grant of 155,090 RSUs, vesting
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in equal installments on each of May 1, 2015, May 1, 2016, May 1, 2017, May 1, 2018 and May 1, 2019. The grant of
155,090 RSUs occurred on September 29, 2014, and based on a closing price of $4.01 on that date, such grant has a
fair value of $622. In addition, as part of a grant to employees generally, Mr. Consiglio received a grant of 100,000
RSUs on September 29, 2014, which grant vested as to 50,000 shares on December 4, 2014, as to 25,000 shares on
March 5, 2015 and as to 25,000 shares on June 4, 2015. Based on a closing price of $4.01 on that grant date, this grant
has a fair value of $401. Finally, on January 22, 2015, the Company entered into a further amendment to Mr.
Consiglio's employment agreement. Pursuant to this amendment, Mr. Consiglio received a grant of 200,000 RSUs,
which vested as to 100,000 shares on January 22, 2015 and as to 100,000 shares on May 5, 2015, and he agreed that
he would not receive a guaranteed bonus of $250. Based on a closing price of $2.28 on that grant date, this grant has a
fair value of $456. The amount in this column represents the aggregate sum of the fair value of these three grants.
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(8) Mr. Small was appointed the Company's Chief Financial Officer on September 10, 2012. Previously, he had served
as the Company's Head of Corporate Development and Strategy. Mr. Small resigned his position with the Company
effective October 15, 2015.

(9) The Company and Mr. Small entered into an amendment to his employment agreement effective as of May 1,
2014. Pursuant to the revised terms, Mr. Small was to receive a base salary of One Dollar per year, was to receive a
guaranteed bonus of $250 per year, payable in stock or in cash, and was to receive a grant of 155,090 RSUs, vesting in
equal installments on each of May 1, 2015, May 1, 2016, May 1, 2017, May 1, 2018 and May 1, 2019. The grant of
155,090 RSUs occurred on September 29, 2014, and based on a closing price of $4.01 on that date, such grant has a
fair value of $622. In addition, as part of a grant to employees generally, Mr. Small received a grant of 80,000 RSUs
on September 29, 2014, which grant vested as to 40,000 shares on December 4, 2014, as to 20,000 shares on March 5,
2015 and as to 20,000 shares on June 4, 2015. Based on a closing price of $4.01 on that grant date, this grant has a fair
value of $321. To satisfy the guaranteed bonus of $250, Mr. Small received a cash payment of $210 in May of 2015
and received a grant of 17,250 RSUs on May 8, 2015, which immediately vested. Based on a closing price of $2.37 on
that grant date, this grant has a fair value of $41. The amount in this column represents the aggregate sum of the fair
value of these three grants.

(10) Mr. Arrix is a named executive officer for fiscal years 2015 and 2014, but was not a named executive officer in
fiscal year 2013. Mr. Arrix resigned from the Company effective September 30, 2015.

(11) The Company and Mr. Arrix entered into an amendment to his employment agreement effective as of May 1,
2014. Pursuant to the revised terms, Mr. Arrix was to receive a base salary of One Dollar per year, was to receive a
guaranteed bonus of $250 per year, payable in stock or in cash, and was to receive a grant of 155,090 RSUs, vesting in
equal installments on each of May 1, 2015, May 1, 2016, May 1, 2017, May 1, 2018 and May 1, 2019. The grant of
155,090 RSUs occurred on September 29, 2014, and based on a closing price of $4.01 on that date, such grant has a
fair value of $622. In addition, as part of a grant to employees generally, Mr. Arrix received a grant of 80,000 RSUs
on September 29, 2014, which grant vested as to 40,000 shares on December 4, 2014, as to 20,000 shares on March 5,
2015 and as to 20,000 shares on June 4, 2015. Based on a closing price of $4.01 on that grant date, this grant has a fair
value of $321. Finally, on January 22, 2015, the Company entered into a further amendment to Mr. Arrix's
employment agreement. Pursuant to this amendment, Mr. Arrix received a grant of 100,000 RSUs, which vested as to
50,000 shares on February 15, 2015 and as to 50,000 shares on May 15, 2015, and he agreed that he would not receive
a guaranteed bonus of $250. Based on a closing price of $2.28 on that grant date, this grant has a fair value of $228.
The amount in this column represents the aggregate sum of the fair value of these three grants.

(12) Mr. Consiglio resigned from his positions with the Company on June 29, 2015. Mr. Arrix and Mr. Small also
resigned from the Company after the end of the 2015 fiscal year, which was June 30, 2015. Kyle Brink and Olga
Bashkatova were both appointed as officers after the end of the fiscal year and would be named executive officers
today. However, because neither of such individuals was an executive officer as of the end of the last fiscal year,
neither has been included in this chart. Details of their compensation are nevertheless described in the narrative
sections of this Information Statement.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at June 30, 2015

Option Awards
Equity
Incentive
No. Plan
No. of of Awards: No. of
Securities Securities  No. of Shares or
Underlying Underlying Securities Units of
UnexercisedUnexercisedUnderlying Option Stock that
Options  Options Unexercised Exercise Option  Have Not
ExercisabléJnexercisableUnearned  Price  Expiration  Vested
Name #) #) Options (#) % Date #H()
Robert
EX.
Sillerman — — — — — 124,072 (2)
— — — — — 6,250 (4)
Gregory
Consiglio — — — — — — (5
John Small — — — — — — (6)
Kevin
Arrix — — — — — 15,505 (7)

(1)

2

3)

)

For information regarding restricted stock units, see also Note 10 to the audited

Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Equity Market
Incentive or

Plan  Payout
Market Awards: No. Value
Value of of
of UnearnedUnearned
Shares Shares, Shares,
or Units Units
Units or or
of Other Other
Stock Rights  Rights
that that that
Have Have Have
Not Not Not
Vested Vested Vested
&) (#) $)
254 (3) — —
13 (3)
— 3 _ _
3 — —

Consolidated Financial Statements (Share-Based Payments) in the Company’s

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.

The original grant was for 155,090 RSUs, 31,018 of these shares vested on May
1, 2015, future vesting in equal installments on each of May 1, 2016, May 1,
2017, May 1, 2018 and May 1, 2019.

The value is computed based on a per share price of $2.05, which was the closing
price of the Company's common stock on June 30, 2015, which was the last
trading day of the Company's fiscal year.

The original grant was for 31,250 shares, and Mr. Sillerman forfeited 18,750
shares of such grant and received no value for the forfeiture. 6,250 of such shares
vested on February 24, 2015 and an additional 6,250 of such shares remain
unvested and will vest on February 24, 2016.
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Mr. Consiglio resigned from the Company effective as of June 30, 2015. At the
time of his resignation, Mr. Consiglio had 124,176 restricted stock units that had
not yet vested. As a result of his termination, he forfeited those restricted stock
units.

Mr. Small resigned from the Company effective October 15, 2015. At the time of
his resignation, Mr. Small had 124,000 restricted stock units that had not yet
vested. As a result of his termination, he forfeited those restricted stock units.
The original grant was for 1,563 shares, and Mr. Arrix forfeited 730 shares of
such grant and received no value for the forfeiture. At the time of his separation
from the Company on September 30, 2015, Mr. Arrix had 124,000 restricted
stock units that had not yet vested. Provided that Mr. Arrix provides certain
transition services between the date of his termination and December 31, 2015,
15,500 of such restricted stock units shall vest on May 1, 2016. He forfeited the
remaining 108,500 restricted stock units.
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Employment Agreements (amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

On February 16, 2011 we entered into an employment agreement with Robert F.X. Sillerman for his services as
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director. The term of the agreement is for five years. Mr.
Sillerman’s base salary was originally $1,000 (payable in cash or shares of common stock) to be increased annually by
the greater of: (i) five percent or (ii) the current base salary multiplied by the percentage increase in the Consumer
Price Index published by the Federal Bureau of Labor Statistics for the New York, New York metropolitan area
during the previous twelve calendar months. He is to receive additional compensation at the sole discretion of the
Board of Directors in the form of additional cash bonus and/or grant of restricted stock, stock options or other equity
award. The agreement also provided for Mr. Sillerman to receive a minimum grant of restricted stock in the amount of
31,250 shares, subject to adjustment for stock dividends, subdivisions, reclassifications, recapitalizations and other
similar events), of the Company's common stock at the beginning of the first year of employment. On June 19, 2012,
Mr. Sillerman was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company by the Board of Directors. The terms of his
employment agreement with the Company did not change as a result of this appointment. On April 1, 2013, Mr.
Sillerman and the Company signed an amendment to his employment agreement, changing his annual salary to $500
and providing for him to receive a grant of options to purchase 31,250 shares of the Company's common stock at a
price of $80.00 per share, but making no other changes in Mr. Sillerman's employment agreement. On March 17,
2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Sillerman, which was
effective as of May 1, 2014. Under the amended and restated agreement, Mr. Sillerman's base salary was reduced to
$0.001 per year. Mr. Sillerman will be entitled to receive a guaranteed amount of $250, less the total value of all
fringe benefits, perquisites or other amounts that the Company and Mr. Sillerman agree at the beginning of each year
will be provided to Mr. Sillerman for such year. If the total of the guaranteed amount plus perquisites received by Mr.
Sillerman in any year exceeds the guaranteed amount, an amount equal to the excess received by Mr. Sillerman for
such year will be deducted on a pro-rata basis from Mr. Sillerman's guaranteed amount during the following year. The
guaranteed amount may be paid in cash, except that either Mr. Sillerman or the Company's compensation committee
can instead elect to have the guaranteed amount paid in shares of the Company's common stock at the weighted
average daily closing price of the Company's common stock for the twelve month period ending on the last day of the
month preceding payment. Mr. Sillerman will also be eligible for an additional bonus at the discretion of the
Company's Board. In addition, the amended and restated agreement provides that Mr. Sillerman will receive a grant of
restricted shares equal to 1.25% of our issued and outstanding common stock, including common shares underlying in
or at-the-money options and warrants and common shares issued in the Recapitalization, as measured immediately
prior to the public offering that closed on April 30, 2014. The grant will vest in equal annual installments over five
years. This grant, which equaled 155,090 shares, was issued on September 29, 2014. The Company has not yet paid
Mr. Sillerman the guaranteed payment of $250 for fiscal year 2015.

On May 11, 2011, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Gregory Consiglio for his services as
Head of Business Development. The agreement has no fixed term. Mr. Consiglio's salary under this agreement was
$300. The agreement also provided for Mr. Consiglio to receive a minimum grant of restricted stock in the amount of
938 shares of the Company's common stock at the beginning of the first year of employment, 313 shares of the
Company's common stock at the beginning of the second year of employment, and 313 shares of the Company's
common stock at the beginning of the third year of employment (in each case subject to adjustment for stock
dividends, subdivisions, reclassifications, recapitalizations and other similar events). On October 31, 2012, Mr.
Consiglio and the Company signed an amendment to his employment agreement, changing his title to President and
Chief Operating Officer and his annual salary to $400, but making no other changes in Mr. Consiglio's employment
agreement. On August 30, 2012, Mr. Consiglio received a grant of options to purchase 11,094 shares of the
Company's common stock at a price of $67.20, which was the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. 25%
of such options were vested immediately upon grant, and the remaining options vest in equal amounts annually over
three years. On October 31, 2012, Mr. Consiglio received an additional grant of options to purchase 1,250 shares of
the Company's common stock at a price of $184.00, which was greater than the fair market value of the stock on the
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date of grant. 25% of such options were vested immediately upon grant, and the remaining options vest in equal
amounts annually over three years.
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On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Consiglio,
which was effective as of May 1, 2014. Under the amended and restated agreement, Mr. Consiglio's base salary was
reduced to $0.001 per year. Mr. Consiglio will be entitled to receive a guaranteed amount of $250, which will be
payable on or before March 15 of each year. The guaranteed amount may be paid in cash, except that either Mr.
Consiglio or the Company's compensation committee can instead elect to have the guaranteed amount paid in shares
of the Company's common stock at the weighted average daily closing price of the Company's common stock for the
twelve month period ending on the last day of the month preceding payment. Mr. Consiglio will also be eligible for
an additional bonus at the discretion of the Company's Board. In addition, the amended and restated agreement
provides that Mr. Consiglio will receive a grant of restricted shares equal to 1.25% of our issued and outstanding
common stock, including common shares underlying in- or at-the-money options and warrants and common shares
issued in the Recapitalization, as measured immediately prior to the public offering that closed on April 30,
2014. The grant will vest in equal annual installments over five years. This grant, which equaled 155,090 shares, was
issued on September 29, 2014. In addition, as part of a grant to employees generally, Mr. Consiglio received a grant
of 100,000 restricted stock units on September 29, 2014, which grant vested as to 50,000 shares on December 4, 2014,
as to 25,000 shares on March 5, 2015 and as to 25,000 shares on June 4, 2015. Based on a closing price of $4.01 on
that grant date, this grant has a fair value of $401.

On January 22, 2015, Greg Consiglio, the Company’s President and Chief Operating Officer, entered into an
agreement with SFX to serve as its President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Consiglio remained President and

Chief Operating Officer of the Company. At that time, Mr. Consiglio’s employment agreement with the Company was
amended to provide that he would be able to serve in both such roles. The agreement provided that Mr. Consiglio will

devote his full-time best efforts and business time and attention to the Company, subject to his also fulfilling his

responsibilities as President and Chief Operating Officer of SFX. The terms of the sharing of Mr. Consiglio's are

subject to monitoring by the respective Boards of Directors or a committee of disinterested members of the respective

Boards of Directors. Mr. Consiglio also agreed that he would report conflicts of interest and corporate opportunities to

the Boards of both the Company and SFX Entertainment. The amendment to Mr. Consiglio’s employment agreement
further provided that, in lieu of payment of a $250 guaranteed amount currently contemplated in his employment

agreement, Mr. Consiglio received a grant of 200,000 restricted shares of Company common stock, half of which

vested on the date of grant and the other half of which vested on May 5, 2015.

Mr. Consiglio resigned from his position with the Company effective as of June 30, 2015.

On August 16, 2011, the Company entered into an employment agreement with John C. Small for his services as Head
of Strategy and Corporate Development. The agreement had no fixed term. Mr. Small's annual base salary was
$300. Mr. Small received grants of options to purchase a total of 9,375 shares of the Company's common stock at a
price of $800.00 per share. On September 10, 2012, Mr. Small was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the
Company by the Board of Directors. The terms of his employment agreement with the Company did not change as a
result of this appointment. On April 4, 2013, Mr. Small and the Company signed an amendment to his employment
agreement, providing for changes to the vesting of granted options upon a change-in-control (as more fully described
herein), but making no other changes in his employment agreement. On August 30, 2012, Mr. Small received a grant
of options to purchase 15,625 shares of the Company's common stock at a price of $67.20, which was the fair market
value of the stock on the date of grant. 25% of such options were vested immediately upon grant, and the remaining
options vest in equal amounts annually over three years.
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On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Small,
which was effective as of May 1, 2014. Under the amended and restated agreement, Mr. Small's base salary was
reduced to $0.001 per year. Mr. Small will be entitled to receive a guaranteed amount of $250, which will be payable
on or before March 15 of each year. The guaranteed amount may be paid in cash, except that either Mr. Small or the
Company's compensation committee can instead elect to have the guaranteed amount paid in shares of the Company's
common stock at the weighted average daily closing price of the Company's common stock for the twelve month
period ending on the last day of the month preceding payment. Mr. Small will also be eligible for an additional bonus
at the discretion of the Company's Board. In addition, the amended and restated agreement provides that Mr. Small
will receive a grant of restricted shares equal to 1.25% of our issued and outstanding common stock, including
common shares underlying in- or at-the-money options and warrants and common shares issued in the
Recapitalization, as measured immediately prior to this offering. The grant will vest in equal annual installments over
five years. This grant, which equaled 155,090 shares, was issued on September 29, 2014. In addition, as part of a
grant to employees generally, Mr. Small received a grant of 80,000 RSUs on September 29, 2014, which grant vested
as to 40,000 shares on December 4, 2014, as to 20,000 shares on March 5, 2015 and as to 20,000 shares on June 4,
2015. To satisfy the guaranteed bonus of $250 that was due in May of 2015, Mr. Small received a cash payment of
$210 in May of 2015 and received a grant of 17,250 restricted stock units on May 8, 2015, which immediately
vested. In addition, Mr. Small's base salary was increased to $300 per annum retroactively to July 13, 2015.

Mr. Small resigned from his position with the Company effective as of October 15, 2015.

On March 1, 2012, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Kevin Arrix for his services as Chief
Revenue Officer. The agreement had no fixed term. Mr. Arrix's annual base salary was $350, and he was eligible for
discretionary bonuses of up to 100% of his base salary. The agreement also provided for Mr. Arrix to receive a
minimum grant of restricted stock in the amount of 938 shares of the Company's common stock at the beginning of his
employment, 313 shares of restricted stock at the beginning of his second year of employment and 313 shares of
restricted stock at the beginning of his third year of employment (in each case subject to adjustment for stock
dividends, subdivisions, reclassifications, recapitalizations and other similar events and in each case subject to a three
year vesting schedule). The agreement also provided for a grant of 1,406 stock options to vest over a period of four
years. These options were issued with an exercise price of $400 per share. On August 30, 2012, Mr. Arrix received a
grant of options to purchase 10,156 shares of the Company's common stock at a price of $67.20, which was the fair
market value of the stock on the date of grant. 25% of such options were vested immediately upon grant, and the
remaining options vest in equal amounts annually over three years.

On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Arrix,
which was effective as of May 1, 2014. Under the amended and restated agreement, Mr. Arrix's base salary was
reduced to $0.001 per year. Mr. Arrix will be entitled to receive a guaranteed amount of $250, which will be payable
on or before March 15 of each year. The guaranteed amount may be paid in cash, except that either Mr. Arrix or the
Company's compensation committee can instead elect to have the guaranteed amount paid in shares of the Company's
common stock at the weighted average daily closing price of the Company's common stock for the twelve month
period ending on the last day of the month preceding payment. Mr. Arrix will also be eligible for an additional bonus
at the discretion of the Company's Board. In addition, the amended and restated agreement provides that Mr. Arrix
will receive a grant of restricted shares equal to 1.25% of our issued and outstanding common stock, including
common shares underlying in- or at-the-money options and warrants and common shares issued in the
Recapitalization, as measured immediately prior to this offering. The grant will vest in equal annual installments over
five years. This grant, which equaled 155,090 shares, was issued on September 29, 2014. In addition, as part of a
grant to employees generally, Mr. Arrix received a grant of 80,000 RSUs on September 29, 2014, which grant vested
as to 40,000 shares on December 4, 2014, as to 20,000 shares on March 5, 2015 and as to 20,000 shares on June 4,
2015.
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On January 22, 2015, Mr. Arrix entered into an agreement with SFX to serve as its Executive Vice President, Global
Brand Partnerships. In connection therewith, his employment agreement with the Company was amended to provide
that he will be able to serve in both such roles. The agreement provides that Mr. Arrix will devote his full-time best
efforts and business time and attention to the Company, subject to his also fulfilling his responsibilities to SFX
Entertainment. The terms of the sharing of Mr. Arrix's full time will be subject to monitoring by the respective Boards
of Directors or a committee of disinterested members of the respective Boards of Directors. Mr. Arrix also agrees that
he will report conflicts of interest and corporate opportunities to the Boards of both the Company and SFX
Entertainment. Additionally, the amendment to Mr. Arrix’s employment agreement provided that, in lieu of payment
of a $250 guaranteed amount currently contemplated in his employment agreement, he received a grant of 100,000
restricted shares of Company common stock, half of which shall vest immediately and the other half of which vested
on May 15, 2015.

Mr. Arrix resigned from his position with the Company effective as of September 30, 2015. In connection with his
resignation, the Company entered into a separation agreement with Mr. Arrix pursuant to which he agreed to provide
that Mr. Arrix certain transition services until December 31, 2015. In exchange for his transition services, Mr. Arrix
will be entitled to retain 15,500 restricted stock units that will vest on May 1, 2016. He will forfeit the remainder of
his restricted stock units.

On September 23, 2015, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Olga Bashkatova for her services
as Controller. The agreement had no fixed term. Ms. Bashkatova’s annual base salary was $200, and she was eligible
for a bonus of $20 after six months’ continuous employment with the Company. On October 21, 2015, Ms.
Bashkatova was named Principal Accounting Officer and the Company entered into an amended and restated
employment agreement with her. Under the amended and restated agreement, her annual base salary was increased to
$210, and she was eligible for a bonus of $30 after six months’ continuous employment with the Company. The
agreement also provided for Ms. Bashkatova to receive a minimum grant of restricted stock in the amount of 80,000
shares of the Company's common stock at the beginning of her employment.

On September 2, 2011, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Kyle Brink for his services as
Product Director. The agreement had no fixed term. Mr. Brink’s annual base salary was $175, and he was entitled to
up to $25 in relocation costs from California to the New York metropolitan area. He was entitled to discretionary
bonuses of up to 25% of his annual salary. The agreement also provided that Mr. Brink would receive a minimum
grant of 40,000 stock options during the first year of his employment with the Company. In September of 2012, Mr.
Brink was promoted to Vice President, Product, and at that time his salary was increased to $210 per year. On May
16, 2015, Mr. Brink’s salary was increased to $260. On June 29, 2015, he was named the Company’s General
Manager.

Potential Payments upon Termination without Cause or Change-in-Control (amounts in thousands)

The following disclosure is for our Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Sillerman:
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Mr. Sillerman's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided that upon a (i) termination
by the Company without “cause” or (ii) a “constructive termination without cause,” Mr. Sillerman was entitled to receive
the following benefits: (a) payments equal to (x) the cash equivalent of three years’ base salary at the rate in effect on
the date of termination (or immediately prior to a constructive termination due to salary reduction) and (y) three times
the average of all cash and equity bonuses paid during the three years prior to the termination, or if no annual bonuses
were paid, a payment in the amount of $100 per year for each year a cash bonus was not paid and $100 per year for
each year an equity grant was not made, (b) continued eligibility to participate in any benefit plans of our company for
one year, plus (c) accelerated vesting of any stock options, restricted stock or other equity based instruments
previously issued to the executive officer. Additionally, upon termination by the Company for a “change of control”,
Mr. Sillerman would have received the benefits set forth in (a), (b), and (c) above, plus all options to purchase the
Company's capital stock would remain exercisable for the full maximum term of the original option grant or ten years
from the closing of the change of control transaction, whichever is greater. In addition, in the event that the aggregate
of such payments would constitute a “parachute payment” under the rules set forth in Section 280G of the Code, then the
Company would have also paid Mr. Sillerman a gross-up payment such that after the imposition of Federal, State and
local income taxes, Mr. Sillerman would be entitled to retain the foregoing amount. On March 17, 2014, the
Company and Mr. Sillerman entered into an amendment to his employment agreement, which was effective as of May
1, 2014. The amended employment agreement provides that if the Company terminates Mr. Sillerman's employment
without cause, if Mr. Sillerman terminates his employment for good reason, or if there is a change of control and Mr.
Sillerman voluntarily terminates his employment for any reason within one year after the change of control, then Mr.
Sillerman would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) payment of one year's guaranteed amount, (b) all options to
purchase the Company's common stock issued to Mr. Sillerman will immediately vest, and (c) all restricted shares
issued to Mr. Sillerman would immediately vest. However, in the event that any amount payable to Mr. Sillerman
upon a "change of control" would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code,
then the payments to Mr. Sillerman will be reduced to an amount such that the payments to Mr. Sillerman would not
be subject to such excise tax.

The following disclosure is for our former President and Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Consiglio:

Mr. Consiglio's employment agreement, which was effective until April 30, 2014, provided that upon a termination by
the Company without “cause,” Mr. Consiglio would be entitled to receive the following benefits: (a) payments equal to
the cash equivalent of three months’ base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination (which payment shall
increase by one week for each year worked prior to termination, to a limit of six months), and (b) accelerated vesting
of any stock options, restricted stock or other equity-based instruments previously issued to him prior to his
termination. In addition, on April 4, 2013, the Company and Mr. Consiglio entered into an amendment to Mr.
Consiglio’s employment agreement providing that upon a “change of control” of the Company, all stock options
previously granted to Mr. Consiglio would vest, and all restricted shares issued to Mr. Consiglio pursuant to his
employment agreement would vest.

On March 17, 2014, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Consiglio, which was
effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended and restated employment agreement provides that if the Company
terminates Mr. Consiglio's employment without cause, if Mr. Consiglio terminates his employment for good reason, or
if there is a change of control and Mr. Consiglio voluntarily terminates his employment for any reason within one year
after the change of control, then Mr. Consiglio would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) payment of one year's
guaranteed amount, (b) all options to purchase the Company's common stock issued to Mr. Consiglio would
immediately vest, and (c) all restricted shares issued to Mr. Consiglio would immediately vest. However, in the event
that any amount payable to Mr. Consiglio upon a "change of control” would be subject to the excise tax imposed by
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, then the payments to Mr. Consiglio will be reduced to an amount such
that the payments to Mr. Consiglio would not be subject to such excise tax.
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Because Mr. Consiglio resigned from his position with the Company, the Company will not pay Mr. Consiglio any
amounts in respect of a termination without cause or a change in control.

The following disclosure is for our former Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Small.

Mr. Small's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided that upon a (i) termination by
the Company without “cause” or (ii) a “change of control”, Mr. Small would be entitled to receive the following benefits:
(a) payments equal to (x) the cash equivalent of three months’ base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination
and (y) a pro-rated annual cash bonus based on the annual cash bonus paid to Mr. Small for the immediately preceding
employment year, (b) accelerated vesting of any stock options granted pursuant to Mr. Small’s employment agreement
that are issued to Mr. Small at least one full year prior to his termination. However, in the event that any amount
payable to Mr. Small upon a "change of control" would be nondeductible by us under the rules set forth in Section
280G of the Code, then the amount payable to Mr. Small shall be reduced to the maximum amount that would be
payable but which would remain deductible under Section 280G of the IRC. In addition, on April 4, 2013, the
Company and Mr. Small entered into an amendment to Mr. Small’s employment agreement providing that upon a
“change of control” of the Company, all stock options previously granted to Mr. Small, and not just those options that
were granted pursuant to Mr. Small’s employment agreement, would vest.

On March 17, 2014, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Small, which was
effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended and restated employment agreement provides that if the Company
terminates Mr. Small's employment without cause, if Mr. Small terminates his employment for good reason, or if there
is a change of control and Mr. Small voluntarily terminates his employment for any reason within one year after the
change of control, then Mr. Small would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) payment of one year's guaranteed
amount, (b) all options to purchase the Company's common stock issued to Mr. Small would immediately vest, and (c)
all restricted shares issued to Mr. Small would immediately vest. However, in the event that any amount payable to
Mr. Small upon a "change of control" would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code, then the payments to Mr. Small will be reduced to an amount such that the payments to Mr. Small
would not be subject to such excise tax.

Because Mr. Small resigned from his position with the Company, the Company will not pay Mr. Small any amounts
in respect of a termination without cause or a change in control.

The following disclosure is for our former Chief Revenue Officer, Mr. Arrix.

Mr. Arrix's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided that upon a (i) termination by
the Company without “cause” or (ii) a “change of control”, Mr. Arrix would be entitled to receive the following benefits:
(a) payments equal to (x) the cash equivalent of three months’ base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination
(which amount would be increased by one week's salary for each additional year of employment after the first year)
and (y) a pro-rated annual cash bonus based on the annual cash bonus paid to Mr. Arrix for the immediately preceding
employment year, and (b) accelerated vesting of any stock options granted pursuant to Mr. Arrix's employment
agreement. However, in the event that any amount payable to Mr. Arrix upon a "change of control" would be
nondeductible by us under the rules set forth in Section 280G of the Code, then the amount payable to Mr. Arrix shall
be reduced to the maximum amount that would be payable but which would remain deductible under Section 280G of
the IRC. In addition, on April 4, 2013, the Company and Mr. Arrix entered into an amendment to Mr. Arrix’s
employment agreement providing that upon a “change of control” of the Company, all stock options previously granted
to Mr. Arrix, and not just those options that were granted pursuant to Mr. Arrix’s employment agreement, would vest.
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On March 17, 2014, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Arrix, which was
effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended and restated employment agreement provides that if the Company
terminates Mr. Arrix's employment without cause, if Mr. Arrix terminates his employment for good reason, or if there
is a change of control and Mr. Arrix voluntarily terminates his employment for any reason within one year after the
change of control, then Mr. Arrix would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) payment of one year's guaranteed
amount, (b) all options to purchase the Company's common stock issued to Mr. Arrix would immediately vest, and (c)
all restricted shares issued to Mr. Arrix would immediately vest. However, in the event that any amount payable to
Mr. Arrix upon a "change of control" would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code, then the payments to Mr. Arrix will be reduced to an amount such that the payments to Mr. Arrix
would not be subject to such excise tax.

Because Mr. Arrix resigned from his position with the Company, the Company will not pay Mr. Arrix any amounts in
respect of a termination without cause or a change in control.

The following disclosure is for our General Manager, Mr. Brink.

Mr. Brink’s employment agreement, as amended effective May 16, 2015, provided that upon a termination by the
Company without cause, Mr. Brink would be entitled to receive payments equal to the cash equivalent of three months’
base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination. Under the provisions of the Company’s employment
agreement with Mr. Brink, the Company will not pay Mr. Brink any amounts in respect of a termination without cause

or a change in control.

The Company’s employment agreement with our Principal Accounting Officer, Ms. Bashkatova, does not have any
provisions relating to termination without cause or on change of control.

Potential Payments upon Death or Disability (amounts in thousands)

Mr. Sillerman's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided for the following benefits
in the event of his death: (a) payments equal to (x) the cash equivalent of three years’ base salary at the rate in effect on
the date of termination (or immediately prior to a constructive termination due to salary reduction) and (y) three times
the average of all cash and equity bonuses paid during the three years prior to the termination, or if no annual bonuses
were paid, a payment in the amount of $100 per year for each year a cash bonus was not paid and $100 per year for
each year an equity grant was not made, (b) continued eligibility to participate in any benefit plans of our company for
one year, plus (c) accelerated vesting of any stock options, restricted stock or other equity based instruments
previously issued to him. On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to Mr. Sillerman's
employment agreement, which was effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended employment agreement provides that in
the event of Mr. Sillerman's death or permanent disability, then Mr. Sillerman would be entitled to the following
benefits: (a) a lump sum payment equal to $250 payable in cash (or at either the Company's compensation committee's
or Mr. Sillerman's option, in shares of the Company's common stock), (b) all options to purchase the Company's
common stock issued to Mr. Sillerman will immediately vest, and (c) all restricted shares issued to Mr. Sillerman
would immediately vest.

Mr. Consiglio's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided for the following benefits
in the event of his death: (a) payments equal to the cash equivalent of one year’s base salary at the rate in effect on the
date of termination, and (b) accelerated vesting of any stock options, restricted stock or other equity based instruments
previously issued to him.
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On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Consiglio,
which was effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended and restated employment agreement provides that in the event
of Mr. Consiglio's death or permanent disability, then Mr. Consiglio would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) a
lump sum payment equal to $250 payable in cash (or at either the Company's compensation committee's or Mr.
Consiglio's option, in shares of the Company's common stock), (b) all options to purchase the Company's common
stock issued to Mr. Consiglio will immediately vest, and (c) all restricted shares issued to Mr. Consiglio would
immediately vest.

Because Mr. Consiglio resigned from his positions with the Company, the Company will not pay Mr. Consiglio any
amounts upon his death or disability.

Mr. Small's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided for (a) payments equal to (x)
the cash equivalent of three months’ base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination and (y) a pro-rated
annual cash bonus paid to the executive officer for the immediately preceding employment year, continued eligibility
to participate in any benefit plans of our company for two months, plus (c) accelerated vesting of any stock options
previously issued to the executive officer more than one year prior to his death or disability.

On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Small,
which was effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended and restated employment agreement provides that in the event
of Mr. Small's death or permanent disability, then Mr. Small would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) a lump
sum payment equal to $250 payable in cash (or at either the Company's compensation committee's or Mr. Small's
option, in shares of the Company's common stock), (b) all options to purchase the Company's common stock issued to
Mr. Small will immediately vest, and (c) all restricted shares issued to Mr. Small would immediately vest.

Because Mr. Small resigned from his positions with the Company, the Company will not pay Mr. Small any amounts
upon his death or disability.

Mr. Arrix's employment agreement, which was in effect until April 30, 2014, provided for (a) payments equal to (x)
the cash equivalent of three months’ base salary at the rate in effect on the date of termination (which amount would
increase by one week of base salary for each year of employment after the first year) and (y) a pro-rated annual cash
bonus paid to the executive officer for the immediately preceding employment year, continued eligibility to participate
in any benefit plans of our company for two months, plus (c) accelerated vesting of any stock options previously
issued to the executive officer more than one year prior to his death or disability.

On March 17, 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Arrix,
which was effective as of May 1, 2014. The amended and restated employment agreement provides that in the event
of Mr. Arrix's death or permanent disability, then Mr. Arrix would be entitled to the following benefits: (a) a lump
sum payment equal to $250 payable in cash (or at either the Company's compensation committee's or Mr. Arrix's
option, in shares of the Company's common stock), (b) all options to purchase the Company's common stock issued to
Mr. Arrix will immediately vest, and (c) all restricted shares issued to Mr. Arrix would immediately vest.

Because Mr. Arrix resigned from his positions with the Company, the Company will not pay Mr. Arrix any amounts
upon his death or disability.

Mr. Brink’s employment agreement, as amended effective May 16, 2015, does not contain any specific provisions
relating to benefits in the event of Mr. Brink’s death or permanent disability.

Ms. Bashkatova’s employment agreement does not contain any specific provisions relating to benefits in the event of
her death or permanent disability.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The table below shows information with respect to our Executive Equity Incentive Plan as of June 30, 2015. A
description of our Executive Equity Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the period ending June 30, 2015.

(©)
Number of
(a) (b) Securities
Number of Weighted Remaining
Securities Average Available
to Exercise for Future
be Issued Price of Issuance Under
Upon Outstanding Equity
Exercise of Options, Compensation Plans
Outstanding Warrants (Excluding
Options, and Securities
Warrants Rights Reflected in
Plan Category and Rights (H(®2) Column (a)(3)
(#) %) (#)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 1,648,075 (1) 11.19 (2) 296,773

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —

(1) This includes 466,257 restricted stock units and options to purchase 1,181,818 shares. 1,794,841 restricted stock
units were granted to directors, officers, and employees during the fiscal year. 610,335 options were granted to
employees during the fiscal year at a range of $1.89 to $4.54.

(2) The weighted average exercise price of $11.19 reflects the weighted average exercise price of all options
outstanding as of June 30, 2015. The restricted stock units referred to in Footnote 1 above do not have an exercise
price and such units are not included in this weighted average.

(3) After the end of the fiscal year, an amendment to the Company's 2011 Executive Equity Incentive Plan became
effective, and thus an additional 2,500,000 shares are available for issuance under that plan.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock
as of the record date by:

ecach person or entity known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock;

o each of our named executive officers;
o each of our directors and nominees for director; and
. all of our directors and executive officers, named as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or
investment power with respect to the securities. Unless otherwise noted, each beneficial owner has sole voting and
investing power over the shares shown as beneficially owned except to the extent authority is shared by spouses under
applicable law. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of
that person, any shares of common stock subject to common stock purchase warrants or stock options held by that
person that are exercisable as of December 21, 2015, or will become exercisable within 60 days thereafter are deemed
to be outstanding, while such shares are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing percentage ownership of
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As of December 21, 2015, 2015, there were 33,891,030 shares of our common stock outstanding.

Common Stock Preferred Stock
Percentage Percentage
Shares of Shares of
Beneficially = Common  Beneficially Preferred
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1) Owned Stock Owned Stock
Beneficial Owners of 5% or More
Robert F.X. Sillerman (2)(3) 18,880,954 51.8 % 10,000 100.0 %
Wolverine Asset Management, LLC (4) 2,048,780 5.6 %
Directors and Named Executive Officers (not otherwise
included above):
Olga Bashkatova (5) 5,250 *
Kyle Brink (6) 40,875
Peter C. Horan (7) 258,170 *
Michael J. Meyer (8) 217,111 o
John D. Miller (9) 276,806 *
Mitchell J. Nelson (10) 32,442 o
Birame Sock (11) 108,065 *
All directors and named executive officers as a group (8
people) 21,771,253  59.7 % 10,000 100.0 %
Represents less than 1%.
€)) Except as otherwise set forth below, the business address and telephone number of each of the persons listed

above is c/o Viggle Inc., 902 Broadway, New York, New York 10010, telephone (212) 231-0092.

) Mr. Sillerman beneficially owns 18,880,954 shares of common stock, including: (i) directly 162,268 shares
of common stock owned by Mr. Sillerman (consisting of (A) 37,268 shares of common stock owned by Mr.
Sillerman; and (B) 125,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants held by Mr. Sillerman
which are exercisable at $80.00 per share); and (ii) indirectly 18,718,686 shares of common stock (consisting of (A)
62,500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants held by Sillerman Investment Company II LLC
(“SIC II”) that are exercisable at $55.20 per share, (B) 175,563 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
warrants held by SIC II which are exercisable at $80.00 per share; (C) 350,000 shares of common stock issuable upon
the exercise of warrants held by Sillerman Investment Company III LLC (“SIC III”) that are exercisable at $1.78 per
share, (D) 225,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants held by SIC III that are exercisable
at $3.51 per share, (E) 150,000 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of warrants held by SIC IIT
that are exercisable at $2.98 per share, (F) 775,000 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of
warrants held by SIC III that are exercisable at $3.63 per share, (G) 8,230,623 shares of common stock held by SIC IIT
and (H) 8,750,000 shares of common stock held by Sillerman Investment Company IV LLC.
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3) SIC III holds 10,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, which, if converted into common stock, would be
converted into 2,500,000 shares of common stock. Together with the amounts set forth in footnote 2 above, Mr.
Sillerman therefore beneficially owns a total of 21,380,954 shares of common stock.

4 Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed by Wolverine Asset Management Company, LLC as of June 29,
2015. Wolverine Asset Management Company, LLC ("WAM") owned 2,048,780 of the Company's common stock as
of June 29, 2015. The sole member and manager of WAM is Wolverine Holdings, L.P. ("Wolverine
Holdings"). Robert R. Bellick and Christopher L. Gust may be deemed to control Wolverine Trading Partners, Inc.,
which is the general partner of Wolverine Holdings. WAM's address is 175 West Jackson Blvd., Suite 340, Chicago,
Illinois 60604.

®)) Ms. Bashkatova beneficially owns 5,250 shares of common stock.

(6) Mr. Brink beneficially owns (i) 22,500 shares of common stock, (ii) 15,000 shares of common stock
exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December
21, 2015 at $4.54 per share and (iii) 3,375 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that
are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $67.20 per share.

(7 Mr. Horan beneficially owns (i) 1,563 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock
options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $400.00 per share; (ii) 630
shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable
within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $100.00 per share; (iii) 388 shares of common stock exercisable upon the
exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $60.00 per
share; (iv) 282 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be
exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $154.40 per share; (v) 625 shares of common stock exercisable
upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at
$98.40 per share, (vi) 430 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable
or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $48.80 per share, (vii) 404 shares of common stock
exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December
21, 2015 at $52.00 per share, (viii) 38,799 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that
are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $4.46 per share, (ix) 100,000 shares of
common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of
December 21, 2015 at $2.33 per share, (x) 56,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that
are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $0.46 per share and (xi) 59,049 shares
of common stock.

®) Mr. Meyer beneficially owns (i) 410 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options
that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $48.80 per share, (ii) 457 shares of
common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days
of December 21, 2015 at $52.00 per share, (iii) 43,880 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock
options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $4.46 per share, (iv) 50,000
shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable
within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $2.33 per share, (v) 63,333 shares of common stock exercisable upon the
exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $2.33 per
share and (vi) 59,031 shares of common stock.
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9) Mr. Miller beneficially owns (i) 67,624 shares of common stock, (ii) 1,563 shares of common stock
exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December
21, 2015 at $400.00 per share, (iii) 716 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are
exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $100.00 per share; (iv) 425 shares of
common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days
of December 21, 2015 at $60.00 per share; (v) 311 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock
options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $154.40 per share; (vi) 625
shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable
within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $98.40 per share, (vii) 163 shares of common stock exercisable upon the
exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $48.80 per
share, (viii) 423 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be
exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $52.00 per share, (ix) 42,956 shares of common stock exercisable
upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at
$4.46 per share, (x) 100,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or that will be
exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $2.33 per share, and (xi) 62,000 shares issuable upon the exercise
of stock options that are exercisable or that will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $0.46 per
share

(10) Mr. Nelson beneficially owns 32,442 shares of common stock.

(11) Ms. Sock beneficially owns (i) 371 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options
that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $60.00 per share; (ii) 625 shares of
common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days
of December 21, 2015 at $98.40 per share, (iii) 410 shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock
options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $48.80 per share, (iv) 385
shares of common stock exercisable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable
within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $52.00 per share, (v) 36,952 shares of common stock exercisable upon the
exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will be exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $4.46 per
share, (vi) 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or that are
exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at $2.33 per share, (vii) 54,000 shares of common stock issuable
upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or that are exercisable within 60 days of December 21, 2015 at
$0.46 per share, and (viii) 322 shares of common stock.

Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors and officers, and persons
who own more than 10% of our outstanding common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership on Form 3
reports and changes in ownership on Form 4 or Form 5 reports. Such individuals are also required to furnish us with
copies of all such ownership reports they file.

Mr. Arrix made one trade of 12,000 shares on June 5, 2015 which was reported on June 11, 2015. On March 16, SIC
IIT acquired shares of Series C Preferred Stock and warrants to acquire shares of common stock in a transaction
exempt from the provisions of Section 16(b) pursuant to Rule 16b-3 promulgated thereunder. Both Mr. Sillerman and
SIC I report that acquisition, but reported it one day late due to a technical issue with filing.
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ACTION 2 — SALE OF REWARDS BUSINESS

General Information

The Company’s Board of Directors proposes to transfer, sell and assign to Perk.com, Inc., an Ontario corporation (“Perk”
or “Buyer”), certain assets and liabilities of the Company relating to the Company’s consumer-based mobile rewards
program using audio recognition technology (the “Business”). The terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement and the
Credit Agreement relating to the sale of the Business are summarized below.

Background of the Asset Sale

The Company’s Board of Directors and senior management considered various ideas relating to the future of the
Company at a January 29, 2015 Board of Directors meeting. An internal review was initiated and at a Board meeting
on April 30, 2015, Mr. Sillerman opened a discussion about the Company’s future strategy and alternatives. Present at
the Board Meeting were all of the Company’s directors, as well as the Company’s President and Chief Operating
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Revenue Officer. At that meeting, Robert F.X. Sillerman, the Company’s
Chairman, reported on potential alternatives, ranging from the sale of various divisions to a sale of the entire
Company. In its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed in May 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors announced that
it intended to form a special committee of independent directors to explore strategic alternatives to enhance value,
stating that these alternatives could include, among others, possible joint ventures, strategic partnerships, marketing
alliances, sale of the Company, or other possible transactions.

As part of the Company’s review of strategic alternatives, the Company engaged in capital-raising activities during this
time. The Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3, which became effective on May 18, 2015. The
Company then conducted two public equity capital raises pursuant to this Form S-3, closing a capital raise of
approximately $9.1 million in May of 2015 and approximately $4.2 million in June of 2015.

In furtherance of the Company’s exploration of strategic alternatives, the Company’s officers had conversations with
various parties about strategic opportunities, including sales of all or a portion of the Company’s assets. Mr. Sillerman,
the Company’s Executive Chairman and Executive Officer had a conversation with Jordan Kupinsky, Chairman of
Perk’s Board of Directors, about a potential transaction with Perk.  As a result of the initial conversations between
Mr. Sillerman and Mr. Kupinsky , Ted Hastings, the Chief Executive Officer of Perk, visited Mr. Sillerman on May
28, 2015. Mr. Sillerman and Mr. Hastings explored the strategic fit and discussed ways that Perk and the Company
could work together and the potential basis for a strategic transaction. As a result of the positive conversations, the
Company entered into a Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement with Perk on June 4, 2015 in order to advance discussions
further. Conversations between Mr. Hastings and various representatives of the Company continued throughout June,
as the Company and Perk explored ways that they could work together and further explored the appropriateness of a
strategic transaction. Representatives of both companies believed that there was an appropriate fit and that the
synergies could benefit both parties.

Because discussions regarding various strategic alternatives with various parties were progressing, the Company’s
Board formed a Special Committee on June 26, 2015.

At a telephonic Board meeting on July 9, Mr. Sillerman was authorized to pursue a possible transaction with Perk and

on July 15, 2015, a telephonic meeting of the Company’s Board of Directors was held to discuss and approve the
signing of a non-binding term sheet with Perk reflecting ongoing negotiations that had been underway, which was the
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basis upon which due diligence by the parties was commenced. A revised term sheet was prepared on August 27,
2015, reflecting changes in the business deal as a result of discussions between Mr. Sillerman and Mr.
Hastings. Between September 2 and October 19, 2015, additional drafts of term sheets were exchanged, and a second
non-binding term sheet with respect to the transaction was entered into on October 22, 2015.

While conversations with Perk continued throughout September and October, as part of its review of strategic
alternatives, the Company explored and considered a transaction to acquire an interest in DraftDay Gaming Group,
Inc., which operates in the daily fantasy sports market, which representatives of the Company believed was a rapidly
growing market. The Company’s Board met to review an interest in DraftDay on September 3, 2015. The Board
approved the Company’s acquisition of its interest in DraftDay, while continuing to explore alternatives with respect to
the Viggle business, Wetpaint and Choose Digital. The Company’s acquisition of its interest in DraftDay closed on
September 8, 2015.

On November 2, 2015, Carolina Barnes Corporation was contacted and commenced its work in connection with
providing a fairness opinion, which work was concluded on or about December 12, 2015. During that period,
definitive documents were being drafted and due diligence proceeded. In the later stages of the negotiations, the
Company also negotiated a credit agreement with Perk pursuant to which Perk loaned the Company $1,000,000. The
loan was payable upon the closing of the Perk transaction or April 30, 2016. If the transaction closes, the Company
has the option of repaying the loan by reducing the number of initial shares of Perk common stock it receives in the
transaction by 130,000 shares. This essentially provides the Company with the option of taking a portion of the
purchase price in cash.

On December 13, 2015, a telephonic board meeting was held with all Board members present. In addition, the
principal of Carolina Barnes Corporation and legal counsel were also present. The meeting commenced with a
summary of the terms of the proposed transaction (the term sheet and draft Asset Purchase Agreement having
previously been distributed). Carolina Barnes Corporation delivered an oral fairness opinion at the Board meeting,
which was subsequently confirmed in writing. The Company’s legal counsel also discussed the Board’s fiduciary
duties in approving the transaction. Members of the Board asked questions to the financial and legal advisors. The
Company’s Board unanimously approved the Perk transaction at that meeting, passing the following resolution:
“Resolved, that the Board of Directors hereby unanimously determines, after consultation with its legal and financial
advisors, that the Perk Sale Agreements and the Perk Loan Agreements and the transactions contemplated by the Perk
Sale Agreements and the Perk Loan Agreements (the ‘“Transactions”) are fair to, and in the best interests of the Common
Stockholders and hereby approve and declare advisable the Perk Sale Agreements and Perk Loan Agreements and the
Transactions and hereby recommend that the common stockholders of the Company approve the Perk Sale
Agreements, the Perk Loan Agreements and the Transactions and hereby direct that the Perk Sale Agreements, the
Perk Loan Agreements and the Transactions be submitted to the common stockholders of the Company for their
approval.”

After attending to final details, the transaction documents were signed later that evening.
Asset Purchase Agreement

On December 13, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”)
with Perk. Perk’s shares are currently traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. In connection with the Asset Purchase
Agreement, the Company will sell to Perk certain assets relating to the Business. The consummation of the
transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement and the Other Agreements (as that term is defined in the
Asset Purchase Agreement) shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Asset Sale”. The Company will retain its interest in
DraftDay Gaming Group, Inc., Wetpaint.com, Inc., Choose Digital, Inc. and the assets relating to its MyGuy game.

The following description summarizes the material provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement and is not intended to
provide any other factual information about the Company or Buyer. In particular, the assertions embodied in the
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representations and warranties contained in the Asset Purchase Agreement were made only for purposes of such
agreement and as of specific dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to such agreement, and may be subject to
limitations agreed upon by the parties, including being qualified by certain disclosures not reflected in the text of the
Asset Purchase Agreement. The representations and warranties in the Asset Purchase Agreement may have been made
for the purpose of allocating contractual risk between the parties instead of establishing matters as facts, and may be
subject to standards of materiality applicable to the parties that differ from those applicable to investors.

Purchase Price and Adjustments
As consideration for the assets to be sold, the Company will receive the following consideration:

. 1,500,000 Perk common shares free and clear of all liens, less the number of Perk common shares applied to the
repayment of principal and interest of the credit facility described below (the “Initial Perk Shares”);

. 2,000,000 Perk common shares if Perk’s combined revenue, as calculated pursuant to the Asset Purchase
Agreement, is at least USD $130.0 million for the calendar year commencing on January 1, 2016 or January 1, 2017
(the “Earn-Out™);

. A warrant (“Warrant 17) entitling the Company to purchase 1,000,000 Perk common shares at a strike price of
CDN $6.25 per share in the event the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of Perk common shares is greater than
or equal to CDN $12.50 per share for 20 consecutive trading days in the two year period following the closing of the
Acquisition;

37

58



Edgar Filing: Viggle Inc. - Form DEF 14C

. A warrant (“Warrant 2”, and together with Warrant 1, the “Warrants”) entitling the Company to purchase 1,000,000
Perk common shares at a strike price of CDN $6.25 per share in the event that the VWAP of Perk common shares is
greater than or equal to CDN $18.75 per share for 20 consecutive trading days in the two year period following the
closing of the Acquisition; and

. Perk will also assume certain liabilities of the Company, including points liability. This liability was $8.7
million on the Company’s balance sheet as of September 30, 2015.

Closing

The closing of the Asset Sale (the “Closing”) will take place at the office of Greenberg Traurig, 200 Park Avenue, New
York, New York, no later than ten days after the satisfaction or waiver in writing of certain conditions set forth in the
Asset Purchase Agreement.

The consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement and the Other Agreements (as
defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement) was conditional upon the Company’s receipt of the written consent of the
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock, which is attached hereto as Annex A
(the “Written Consent”) or the “Stockholder Approval”). The Stockholder Approval was obtained by the Company on
December 13, 2015.

Escrow

At the Closing, 37.5% of the Initial Perk Shares will be issued and delivered to an escrow agent to be used exclusively
for the purpose of securing the indemnification obligations of the Company under the Asset Purchase Agreement. The
escrow agent will hold such shares for one year from the Closing of the Asset Sale and will hold them in accordance
with the terms of an escrow agreement.

Representations and Warranties

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of the Company and
Perk.

In Article III of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company makes representations and warranties that relate to,
among other things, the following:

. Due organization, valid existence and good standing of the Company;

Requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver the Asset Purchase Agreement and certain related
agreements and to consummate the Asset Sale;

. No violation of law;

. Requisite consents;

. Compliance with laws;

. Sufficiency of the disclosed assets;
. Suppliers and customers;
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. Intellectual property; and
. Seller board approval and stockholder approval.

In Article I'V of the Asset Purchase Agreement, Perk makes representations and warranties that relate to, among other
things, the following:

. Due organization, valid existence and good standing of Buyer;

Requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver the Asset Purchase Agreement and certain related
agreements and to consummate the Asset Sale;

. No violation of law; and
. Requisite consents.
Covenants

Articles V and VI of the Asset Purchase Agreement contain a number of covenants with respect to the period between
the execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement and the Closing, including, but not limited to, covenants relating to:

. the conduct of the Business, excluding certain business lines;

access to the Company and its subsidiaries’ offices, properties, personnel, books and records as well as confidentiality
for any information obtained through such access;

. updates to the Company’s disclosure schedules;

. notification of certain matters;

. efforts to consummate the Asset Purchase Agreement;

. the Company and Buyer’s press releases and public disclosure;

. the provision of a business acquisition report by the Company to Buyer;

. the provision by the Company to Buyer of any information required by the Toronto Stock Exchange;

obligations that neither Buyer nor the Company make any statements or proposals to the board of directors of the
other or make any public announcement, proposal or offer (including any “solicitation of proxies”) as such terms are
defined or used in Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

. exclusivity between the Company and Buyer; and

the preparation and filing by the Company of an Information Statement with the SEC on Schedule 14C describing the
Asset Sale and any related agreements.

Conditions to Closing
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Under Article VII of the Asset Purchase Agreement, Buyer’s and the Company’s obligation to complete the Asset Sale
is subject to the following conditions having been met:

* The Company will have obtained the Stockholder Approval, which condition was met on December 13, 2015;

Buyer will have obtained shareholder approval of the Asset Purchase Agreement and certain related agreements in
accordance with Toronto Stock Exchange requirements, which condition was met on December 13, 2015;

The Company will have filed its definitive Information Statement with the SEC on Schedule 14C with respect to the
Asset Sale and certain other related agreements to its stockholders at least 20 calendar days prior to the Closing; and

. No legal prohibition of or injunction against the Asset Sale will exist.
Conditions to Obligations of Buyer

Under Article VII of the Asset Purchase Agreement, Buyer’s obligation to consummate the Asset Sale is subject to
each of the following conditions:

. the representations and warranties of the Company are true and correct;
. the Company has performed and complied with respect to all of its covenants and agreements;

Robert F.X. Sillerman will have entered into a non-competition, non-disclosure and non-solicitation agreement with
Buyer;

the Assets will be free and clear of all Liens except for Permitted Liens (both as defined in the Asset Purchase
Agreement);

. the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries included in the business acquisition report at the
Closing will be substantially complete and to the full satisfaction of Buyer in its sole discretion;

. all required third-party and government consents will have been obtained;
. Buyer and the Company will have executed and delivered the Choose Digital Agreement;

the support agreements entered into with each member of the Company’s Board of Directors, including Robert F.X.
Sillerman, shall have been complied with and shall not have been terminated;

. the Company shall have paid all principal, interest and other amounts outstanding pursuant to the credit facility
documents, in accordance with the terms thereof and the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement; and

. Buyer has received, or waived receipt of, all closing deliverables.
Conditions to Obligations of the Company

Under Article VII of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company’s obligation to consummate the Asset Sale is
subject to each of the following conditions:
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. the representations and warranties of Buyer are true and correct;
. Buyer has performed and complied with respect to all of its covenants and agreements;
. the Company and Venus Acquisition Sub, Inc. shall have entered into a license agreement;

the Company and Buyer will have entered into a license agreement and a commercial agreement with Wetpaint.com,
Inc.; and

. the Company has received, or waived receipt of, all closing deliverables.
Post-Closing Covenants

Article IX of the Asset Purchase Agreement contains a number of covenants with respect to the period immediately
following the Closing, including, but not limited to, covenants relating to:

Buyer and the Company each paying 50% respectively of any transfer taxes as may be required by applicable tax law
and compliance on a forward-looking basis with applicable tax laws in general;

. access to books and records;

. steps to be taken to ensure that attorney-client privileges are maintained;

* various employment matters with respect to the transfer of certain employees from the Company to Buyer;
confidentiality and non-disclosure between the Company and Buyer on an ongoing basis with respect to any
confidential information obtained by one party about the other party during the course of the negotiations and
consummation of the Asset Sale subject to several exceptions;

the board of directors of Buyer containing at most nine members for a one-year period following the Closing and an
option in favor of the Buyer by which Robert F.X. Sillerman may be requested by Buyer to serve as chairman of

Buyer’s board of directors;

non-competition, non-interference and non-solicitation of the Company with respect to Buyer’s business for a
three-year period;

{ock-up and transfer restrictions for a period of four months following Closing with respect to 62.5% of the Initial
Perk Shares and 12 months following Closing with respect to the shares held back by the escrow agent as well as a
requirement that the Company not vote through those restricted shares during the relevant periods with respect to
certain actions;

. any regulatory filings required by the Toronto Stock Exchange or any applicable securities law;

. restrictions on distributions of any restricted securities received by the Companys;

the sale, transfer and assignment of any and all rights and goodwill in and to the name(s) “Viggle”, “Loyalize”,
“NextGuide”, “Miso” and the “Viggle”, “Loyalize”, NextGuide” and “Miso” trademark(s), along with any other trademark ow

or purported to be owned by the Company and/or its affiliates or any confusingly similar derivative or variation
thereof; and
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the provision of certain transition services by the Company to Buyer at its request during the six-month period
immediately following the Closing.
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Indemnification and Survival

Subject to the caps and thresholds described below, Buyer is indemnified by the Company, and likewise, the
Company by Buyer, against all liabilities, demands, claims, suits, actions, or causes of action, assessments, losses,
costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses arising from loss or damage due to
misrepresentation or breach of warranty, any violation of a covenant by the Company or Buyer, respectively; or any
claim or assertion for broker’s or finder’s fees. Additionally, Buyer is indemnified by the Company for any retained
liabilities and any pre-closing taxes.

Indemnification is limited, among other ways, in that losses for breaches of representations and warranties must be
limited to a cap of $2,000,000, and no liability for breaches of representations and warranties shall incur except for
individual losses that exceed $25,000, and then only after a $200,000 deductible has been met. Any claim for breaches
of representations and warranties for less than $25,000 will not be counted towards the $200,000 deductible.
Furthermore, the amount of any loss will be reduced by the insurance proceeds to be collected by the indemnified
party with respect to any loss.

All representations and warranties of the Company will survive the Closing for a 12-month period except for any
representations and warranties pertaining to: (i) taxes and brokers, both of which will survive until the expiration of
the applicable statute of limitations; and (ii) organization and qualification, authorization; enforceability, no violation
and seller board approval, all of which will survive the Closing indefinitely.

All representations and warranties of Buyer will survive the Closing for a 12-month period except for any
representations and warranties pertaining to: (i) brokers, which will survive until the expiration of the applicable
statute of limitations; and (ii) organization and qualification, authorization; enforceability and no violation, all of
which will survive the Closing indefinitely.

In the event of the assertion of a claim that might require the indemnification of any party, the indemnified party must
give the indemnifying party written notice of such claim within ten days’ time after learning of such claim, such that
the indemnifying party has the opportunity to respond to and defend against such claim.

If the indemnified party claims any loss not resulting from a third-party claim directly to the indemnifying party, the
indemnified party must provide written notice to the indemnifying party stating the nature and amount of the loss to
the extent ascertainable. The indemnifying party will have 30 days to respond to the claim, failure of which will result
in the indemnifying party being deemed to have accepted the claim. If the indemnifying party rejects the claim, the
indemnified party will be free to seek enforcement of its rights to indemnification under the Asset Purchase
Agreement.

Termination

Article XI of the Asset Purchase Agreement sets forth the rights of each party to terminate the Asset Purchase
Agreement prior to the Closing of the Asset Sale and provides that the Asset Purchase Agreement may be terminated
prior to Closing:

. by mutual written consent of Buyer and the Company;

by Buyer or the Company if the Closing has not occurred by March 30, 2016, provided that Buyer or the Company
may extend this termination date by 30 days;
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by Buyer if the conditions precedent to Buyer’s performance have not been satisfied or their satisfaction becomes
impossible and Buyer has not waived such condition;
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by the Company if the conditions precedent to the Company’s performance have not been satisfied or their satisfaction
becomes impossible and the Company has not waived such condition;

by Buyer or the Company in the event of a material breach of the Asset Purchase Agreement by the other party which
remains uncured for 30 days following receipt of written notice of such breach;

by Buyer in the event it is unable to obtain the Stockholder Approval within ten days of the execution of the Asset
Purchase Agreement (provided Buyer is not otherwise in material breach);

by the Company prior to receipt of Stockholder Approval in order to enter into a definitive agreement to consummate
a Superior Proposal (as determined in the Asset Purchase Agreement), subject to compliance with the non-solicitation
provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement; and

. by Buyer if the Company breaches its non-solicitation obligations under the Asset Purchase Agreement.
The Company will pay Buyer a termination fee in certain instances.
Security Interest in Existing Indebtedness

The Company currently has two outstanding lines of credit. The Company is party to a Line of Credit Promissory
Note dated as of October 24, 2014 made by the Company in favor of Sillerman Investment Company I, LLC (“SIC
II1”"), under which $20,000,000 in principal amount is outstanding (the “Promissory Note”). Mr. Sillerman is the sole
member and manager of SIC III. Pursuant to the Promissory Note, SIC III had certain rights to consent to certain
transactions involving the Company. In particular, pursuant to the Promissory Note, SIC III has a right to consent to
transactions involving the incurrence of indebtedness, changes in the nature of the Company’s business, transfers of
material technology or intellectual property assets and strategic relationships involving the payment of $1,000,000 or
more. Because the Asset Sale involved all of the foregoing, SIC III’s consent was required to enter into the Asset
Purchase Agreement. Failing to obtain SIC III’s consent prior to consummating any of the foregoing would constitute
an event of default under the Promissory Note. Prior to the Company’s entering the Asset Purchase Agreement, SIC
III consented to these transactions and waived its right to claim that the Asset Sale is an event of default under the
Promissory Note. In consideration of such consent, and in consideration of SIC III’s agreement to subordinate the
Promissory Note to amounts owing to Perk, the Company agreed to provide a subordinated security interest in all of
the Company’s assets to SIC III in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Promissory Note.

In addition, the Company is also party to a Line of Credit Grid Note dated as of June 11, 2015 made by the Company
in favor of Sillerman Investment Company IV, LLC (“SIC IV”) which provides for a line of credit of up to $10,000,000
(the “Grid Promissory Note”). Mr. Sillerman is the sole member and manager of SIC IV. Currently, there is
approximately $4,125,000 in principal amount outstanding under the Grid Promissory Note. The Grid Promissory
Note provides for certain events of default, including that there shall have been no material adverse change in the
business or prospects of the Company. While the Company does not believe that any such material adverse change
has occurred, the Company sought the confirmation of SIC IV that the Asset Sale did not cause an event of default
under the Grid Promissory Note. In consideration of such confirmation, and in consideration of SIC IV’s agreement to
subordinate the Grid Promissory Note to amounts owing to Perk, the Company agreed to provide a subordinated
security interest in all of the Company’s assets to SIC IV in respect of the amounts outstanding under the Grid
Promissory Note.
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Credit Agreement

On December 13, 2015, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Perk pursuant to which Perk will provide

a $1,000,000 line of credit to the Company (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides for three
drawdowns pursuant to which Perk is to make advances to the Company, not to exceed $1,000,000 in total. The first
advance was upon signing of the Asset Purchase Agreement. The second was on the business day after Stockholder
Approval was obtained from the holders of a majority of the Company’s voting shares. As Stockholder Approval was
obtained on December 13, 2015, the Company received the first two drawdowns, totaling $666,666.66, on December
14, 2015. The final drawdown will be made when this Information Statement is filed with the SEC. The Asset
Purchase Agreement requires that the Company file such Information Statement by December 23, 2015.

Amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement will bear interest at 12% per annum, with an additional 12% if the
Company is in default of its obligations under the Credit Agreement. Amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreement will become payable upon the closing of the Asset Sale or April 30, 2016, whichever comes first. If the
Asset Sale closes, the Company may elect to repay all amounts outstanding pursuant to the Credit Agreement by
reducing the number of the Initial Perk Shares payable upon closing of the Asset Sale by 130,000 shares, in which
case, Perk would deliver 1,370,000 shares of Perk common stock to the Company at closing of the Asset Sale.

In connection with the Credit Agreement, the Company also entered into a Security Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company will provide Perk with a security interest in its assets to secure repayment of amounts outstanding under the
Credit Agreement. Pursuant to a Subordination Agreement, SIC III agreed to subordinate payment of the Promissory
Note, and SIC IV agreed to subordinate payment of the Grid Promissory Note, to amounts owed to Perk under the
Credit Agreement.

Copies of the Asset Purchase Agreement and Credit Agreement were filed with the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated December 14, 2015 as Exhibits 2.1 and 2.2, respectively, and are incorporated herein by reference.

The foregoing description of the Asset Purchase Agreement and Credit Agreement are qualified in their entirety by

reference to the full text of the Asset Purchase Agreement and Credit Agreement filed with the Current Report on

Form 8-K dated December 14, 2015.

Regulatory Approvals
The Company does not need the approval of any regulatory or governmental authority to close the Asset Sale.
Opinion of Carolina Barnes Corporation

The Company retained Carolina Barnes Corporation to render its opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of
view, of the Asset Sale to the Company. At the December 13, 2015 meeting of the Board, the principal of Carolina
Barnes Corporation rendered the firm’s oral opinion, which was subsequently confirmed by delivery of a written
opinion to the Board, dated December 13, 2015. The full text of the written opinion of Carolina Barnes Corporation is
attached as Annex E to this Proxy Statement. Carolina Barnes Corporation provided its opinion for the information of
the Board (solely in its capacity as such) in connection with, and for purposes of, its consideration of the Asset Sale
and its opinion only addresses whether the consideration to be received by the Company in the Asset Sale pursuant to
the Asset Purchase Agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company. The opinion of Carolina
Barnes Corporation does not address any other term or aspect of the Asset Purchase Agreement or the Asset Sale.
Based on the assumptions and limitations described in the opinion, Carolina Barnes Corporation was of the opinion
that the consideration offered in the Asset Sale is fair from a financial point of view to the Company. See Action 2 —
Opinion of Carolina Barnes Corporation.
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Recommendation

Our Board of Directors believes that the Asset Sale is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its
stockholders for the following reasons:

. The challenges facing the Company given its lack of operating capital.
* The Company’s current and historical financial condition, results of operations, and anticipated future losses.

The purchase price proposed by Buyer, which represents the highest price that the Board believes it could receive,
from Buyer, or any other party, for the Assets.

Perk’s potential to further develop these Assets and ultimately value for our stockholders.

Under the DCGL and our Bylaws, the Written Consent is sufficient to approve the sale of the Company’s rewards
business to Perk.com, Inc. without the vote or consent of any of the other stockholders of the Company.

Accounting Treatment of the Asset Sale

The Asset Sale will be accounted for as a business combination pursuant to ASC805. At the closing of the Asset Sale,
any excess in the purchase price received by the Company, less transaction expenses, over the net book value of the
assets sold will be recognized as a gain by the Company.

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The Company intends the following discussion to provide only a general summary of certain U.S. federal income tax
consequences of the Asset Sale to the Company and its stockholders. Stockholders should consult their own tax
advisors as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences, as well as the effects of state, local and non-U.S. tax laws.
This summary does not address the treatment of stockholders under the laws of any state, local or foreign taxing
jurisdiction.

This discussion describes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Asset Sale. This discussion is based on
currently existing provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, existing and proposed Treasury
regulations thereunder and current administrative rulings and court decisions, all of which are subject to change. Any
such change, which may or may not be retroactive, could alter the tax consequences as described herein. This
discussion is limited to U.S. citizens or residents, U.S. corporations, and U.S. trusts and estates that hold their shares
as capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes (generally, assets held for investment). This discussion does not
address all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to a particular person or the tax consequences that may be
relevant to persons subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws (including, among others, foreign
persons, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or currencies, banks, insurance companies, financial
institutions or persons that hold their Company stock as part of a hedge, straddle, constructive sale or conversion
transaction, persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, persons that are, or hold their Company stock
through, partnerships or other pass-through entities, or persons who acquired their Company stock through the
exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation). In addition, this discussion does not address any
aspects of state, local, non-U.S. taxation or U.S. federal taxation other than income taxation. The following discussion
presents the opinion of the Company. No ruling has been requested from the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS")
with respect to the anticipated tax treatment of the Asset Sale, and no assurance can be given that the IRS would not
assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the tax consequences set forth below.
Furthermore, the Company will not seek an opinion of counsel with respect to the anticipated tax treatment of the
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Asset Sale. If any of the conclusions stated herein proves to be incorrect, the result could be increased taxation at the
Company and/or stockholder level.
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Consequences to the Company

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Company will recognize gain or loss on the disposition of each of the Assets
of the Company pursuant to the Asset Sale in an amount equal to the difference between the portion of the total
purchase price allocable to each such Asset and adjusted tax basis in each Asset. Any gain recognized by the
Company from the Asset Sale may be offset by other tax attributes of the Company such as consolidated net operating
loss carryforward and/or tax credits to the extent they are available and allowed by the U.S. federal tax laws. At June
30, 2015, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward of $164.5 million, which will begin to expire in 2030.
The Company has not fully evaluated the adjusted tax basis of the Assets and/or how the purchase price will be
allocated among the Assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, it is not able to fully analyze the tax
treatment of the transaction to determine how much gain or loss will be realized in the transaction or provide
additional disclosure in this report with respect to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Asset Sale to the
Company. The Company anticipates that the Company’s net operating loss carryforward will offset any gain on the
sale of the Assets; provided, however, that the Company could be subject to an alternative minimum tax.

Consequences to the Stockholders
The Asset Sale will not produce any separate and independent tax consequences to the Company's stockholders.
However, upon distributions of any amounts (whether in cash or in kind) to the Company's stockholders, the

stockholders may recognize income or gain and be subject to the payment of income tax at that time. No distributions
to stockholders are intended as a result of the consummation of the Asset Purchase or the Asset Sale.
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ASSET SALE
Why am I receiving this Information Statement?

This Information Statement describes, among other corporate actions, the transactions relating to the sale of the
rewards business, and the approval of the Asset Sale by holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of the
Company. Our Board of Directors is providing this Information Statement to you pursuant to Section 14(c) of the
Exchange Act solely to inform you of, and provide you with information about, the Asset Sale, the election of
directors, the corporate name change and the appointment of independent auditors.

Who is entitled to receive this Information Statement?

Stockholders of record as of the close of business on December 21, 2015 are entitled to receive this Information
Statement, which describes the actions that have been approved by the written consent of the holders of a majority of
the outstanding voting shares of the Company.

Am I being asked to vote on the Asset Sale?

No, we are not asking you to vote for approval of the Asset Sale or other matters, because your vote is not required for
approval. The Asset Purchase Agreement and the Other Agreements (as defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement)
have already been approved by the written consent of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of the
Company.

Will there be a meeting of stockholders to consider and approve the Asset Sale?

No. We will not hold a meeting of stockholders to consider and approve the Asset Sale or the other matters in this
Information Statement.

Does the Company expect to distribute any of the proceeds from the Asset Sale to Stockholders?

Unknown at this time. The Company may sell the Perk Shares at some time in the future and distribute the proceeds
therefrom, or following an appropriate holding period under applicable federal and state securities laws, may
distribute the Shares in-kind to our Stockholders on a pro-rata basis. For purposes of distribution, the Company will
assume the conversion of all instruments outstanding that would otherwise be convertible into common stock of the
Company. The Company will need to first satisfy its debts and have sufficient working capital before any distribution
would be made.

How was the consideration for the Asset Sale determined?

The consideration for the Asset Sale was determined in arm’s length negotiations between the Company and Perk. The
final consideration was determined as a result of these extensive negotiations. Carolina Barnes Corporation rendered
an opinion that the Asset Sale is fair to the Company.

Carolina Barnes Corporation previously worked as financial advisor to render fairness opinions for directors of
various companies controlled or affiliated with Robert Sillerman and SFX, most recently in 2014, and Frank Barnes,
principal of Carolina Barnes Corporation, has been a director of Sillerman controlled companies and is now a director
nominee for SFX. The Company believes he is independent for the purpose of rendering advice as to the fairness of
the transaction.
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Where can I find more information about Perk?

Please see the summary information provided below in the Section entitled Information about Perk.com, Inc., as well
as Perk’s website at http://www.perk.com.

When do you expect the Asset Sale to be consummated?
We intend to close the Asset Sale on such date as the parties may mutually determine, but not earlier than twenty (20)

days after the date this Information Statement and notice are first mailed to the stockholders. The Company currently
believes that the Asset Sale will close, and the Company will receive the Shares on or before February 14, 2016.
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What should I do now?
No action by you is required.
Who can help answer my questions?

If you would like additional copies, without charge, of this Information Statement, or if you have questions about the
Asset Sale, then you should contact us as follows:

Viggle Inc.
902 Broadway
11th Floor
New York, NY 10010
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UNAUDITED CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Information

The Company has prepared unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements (‘“unaudited pro forma
statements”) to assist readers in understanding the nature and effects of the Asset Sale. The unaudited pro forma
statements are based on the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements adjusted to give effect to the sale of
the Business to Perk. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three
months ended September 30, 2015, and for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 have been prepared
with the assumption that the Asset Sale was completed as of July 1, 2013. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2015 has been prepared with the assumption that the Asset Sale was
completed as of the balance sheet date.

The unaudited pro forma statements do not necessarily reflect what the Company’s financial condition or results of
operations would have been had the sale occurred on the dates indicated, or which may result in the future. The actual
financial position and results of operations may differ significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected herein due to
a variety of factors. The unaudited financial information set forth herein is preliminary and subject to adjustments and
modifications. The audited financial statements and related notes are to be included in our annual report on Form 10-K
for the year ending June 30, 2016. Adjustments and modifications to the financial statements may be identified during
the course of this audit work, which could result in significant differences from this preliminary unaudited financial
information.

The unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared by the Company based upon assumptions deemed
appropriate by the Company's management. An explanation of certain assumptions is set forth under the Notes to
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

The unaudited pro forma financial information should be read in conjunction with the Company’s historical
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto contained in the 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, as filed with the SEC, each of which is
included herein.

Included in Annex B hereto is the following information: (i) unaudited consolidated financial statements for the
Company as of and for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2015; and (ii) audited financial statements for the
Company for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.

Included in Annex C hereto is the following information (i) financial statements as of September 30, 2015 and June
30, 2015 and for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 for the “Viggle Business of Viggle Inc.,” which
is the business the Company is proposing to sell as part of the Asset Sale; and (ii) financial statements as of and for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 for the “Viggle Business of Viggle Inc.,” which is the business the Company
is proposing to sell as part of the Asset Sale.

Subsequent Events

On December 3, Sillerman Investment Company IV, LLC ("SIC IV"), an affiliate of Robert F.X. Sillerman, Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company entered into a transaction with the Company to acquire
additional shares of common stock from the Company. SIC IV agreed to provide a Line of Credit to the Company of
up to $10,000,000 (the “Line of Credit”). As of December 3, 2015, there was $8,675,000 in outstanding principal
amount under the Line of Credit. On December 3, 2015, the Company and SIC IV entered into a Subscription
Agreement pursuant to which SIC IV subscribed for 8,750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of
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$0.47 per share. Accordingly, the aggregate purchase price for such shares was $4,112,500.00. The Company and
SIC IV agreed that SIC IV would pay the purchase price for such shares by reducing the amounts outstanding under
the Line of Credit. Accordingly, the principal amount of the Line of Credit was reduced to $4,562,500.00. Because
this occurred after the date of the financial statements included herein, the unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated financial statements included herein do not reflect this transaction.
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VIGGLE INC.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

(in thousands, except per share data)

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial
statements.
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VIGGLE INC.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Year Ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands, except per share data)

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial
statements.
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VIGGLE INC.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

(in thousands, except per share data)

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial
statements.
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VIGGLE, INC.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of September 30, 2015

(in thousands)

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial
statements.

52

81



Edgar Filing: Viggle Inc. - Form DEF 14C

VIGGLE INC.
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements
1. PLANNED ASSET SALE TRANSACTION TO PERK.COM, INC.

On December 13, 2015, Viggle, Inc. (the “Company” or “we” or “our”), a Delaware corporation, entered into an Asset
Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) with Perk.com, Inc. (“Perk™), an Ontario corporation. Perk’s shares
are currently traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. In connection with the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company

will sell to Perk assets of the Company relating to the Company’s rewards business (the “Business”). Such transaction
shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Asset Sale”. The Company will retain its interest in DraftDay Gaming Group,
Inc., Wetpaint.com, Inc., Choose Digital, Inc. and the assets relating to its MyGuy game.

As consideration for the assets to be sold, the Company will receive the following consideration:
. 1,500,000 shares of Perk common stock (the “Initial Perk Shares”);

. 2,000,000 shares of Perk common stock if Perk’s total revenues exceed USD $130.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 or December 31, 2017 (the “Earn-Out”);

. A warrant (“Warrant 17) entitling the Company to purchase 1,000,000 shares of Perk common stock at a strike
price of CDN $6.25 per share in the event the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of shares of Perk common
stock is greater than or equal to CDN $12.50 for 20 consecutive trading days in the two year period following the
closing of the Acquisition;

. A warrant (“Warrant 2”, and together with Warrant 1, the “Warrants”) entitling the Company to purchase 1,000,000
shares of Perk common stock at a strike price of CDN $6.25 per share in the event that the VWAP of Perk common
stock is greater than or equal to CDN $18.75 for 20 consecutive trading days in the two year period following the
closing of the Asset Sale; and

. Perk will also assume certain liabilities of the Company, including points liability. This liability was $8.7
million on the Company’s balance sheet as of September 30, 2015.

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of the Company and
Perk.

The Asset Purchase Agreement provides that the closing of the Asset Sale requires the approval by written consent of
a majority of the Company’s stockholders. The holder of a majority of the Company’s common shares has provided
such written consent on December 13, 2015. The Asset Sale is subject to other customary closing conditions,
including the receipt of approval by Perk’s shareholders, and other closing conditions.
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2. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS (in thousands)

The following notes describe the basis for and/or assumptions regarding certain of the pro forma adjustments included
in the Company’s unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements:

(a) The amounts being eliminated represent the revenues, cost of revenues, operating and other expenses and income
tax expense that are attributable to the sale of the Business.

(b) Licensing revenue related to the Company's agreement with SFX-94 LLC (“SFX”) will remain with the Company, as
the Company has retained a license to the underlying technology as per the Asset Purchase Agreement and will
continue to provide the license to SFX.

(c) The income tax expense presented relates to the difference in book and tax treatment of goodwill related to the
acquisition of technology transferred to Perk. Due to the existence of significant net operating loss carryforwards, the
income tax expense resulting from the sale of the Business would be offset. Therefore, no pro forma adjustment for
income tax expense has been presented in connection with the Asset Sale.

(d) Recording of the disposition of the Business. The amounts include the assets and liabilities attributable to the
business being sold and/or specifically included in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

(e) Net book value of the Business:

Business assets to be sold $7,733
Points liability to be assumed (8,744 )
Net book value of the Business $(1,011 )

(f) Recording of the sale proceeds, net of estimated closing costs, for the sale of the assets and liabilities of the
Business:

Cash $1,000
Estimated fair value of Perk equity shares 5,271
Estimated fair value of the Warrants 1,477
Sales proceeds at closing $7,748
Transaction costs to be incurred at closing (legal, finance) (500 )
Net sales consideration $7,248

The Cash and cash equivalents line has been adjusted for the transaction costs estimated to be incurred in connection
with the Asset Sale. The Company is accounting for the Initial Perk Shares and the Warrants at fair market value. The
Earn-Out is excluded from the analysis of total consideration based on the ASC 815-10-15-59 scope exception. The
Company has elected to record the contingent consideration when it is determined to be realizable. The fair value of
the Initial Perk Shares is estimated using their trading price on the TSX Exchange and foreign exchange rate as of
December 17, 2015. The fair value of Warrants was estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation method. The
risk-free rate interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury issues with a term equal to the expected life of the warrants. The
expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the price of comparable companies’ stock.
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(g) Adjustments to the accumulated deficit are comprised of:

Net sales consideration (Note (f))

Write-off of deferred tax liability

Net adjustment to accumulated deficit

(h) The gain on sale of the Business to be recorded as adjustments to shareholders’ equity:
Net purchase consideration (Note (f))

Assets and liabilities included in Asset Sale (Note (e))
Gain on Asset Sale
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$7,248
561
$7,809

$7,248
1,011
$8,259
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INFORMATION ABOUT PERK.COM, INC.
Background and Description of Perk Business

Perk is traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Information and public filings on Perk can be found at
www.perk.com. Certain information from Perk’s public filings is set forth below. For more complete information, the
public filings should be consulted directly. The phone number of Perk’s headquarters is 519-827-1999

Perk provides a rewards platform targeting consumers primarily by providing cash and gift card rewards for people's
every day mobile and internet activities. Headquartered at 720 Brazos Street, Suite 110, Austin, Texas 78701, Perk
offers Perk Points, a digital currency, earned by members for a wide variety of activities where members interact with
third party consumer brands. Perk currently owns and operates 12 mobile applications allowing members to earn Perk
Points through activities such as shopping, watching videos, and playing social games. Perk also operates numerous
owned websites. In addition to offering Perk Points through its own mobile applications and websites, in 2015, Perk
launched its Appsaholic Software Development Kit (SDK) which allows mobile publishers to reward their users with
real world rewards (gift cards, consumer goods, etc.) for engaging with the publisher’s applications.

Principal Products and Services

Perk owns a suite of mobile applications and websites catering to the millennial, teenager and stay-at-home mom
audiences including PerkTV, Perk Unlock & Win, Perk Scratch & Win, Discoverfame.com, NewLifeOutlook.com
and Perk Pop Quiz. The mobile apps and websites include games, entertainment oriented content and videos where
consumers on the platform earn rewards (Perk Points) for their time and attention. Perk also extends its rewards and
loyalty platform to third party apps and websites through the Appsaholic brand. Perk’s owned and operated suite of
apps includes free to download apps for mobile devices using the iOS or Android operating systems that allow users

to earn Perk Points, exchangeable for digital gift cards and consumer goods. Perk’s apps are designed to reward people
for everyday mobile activities such as playing games, watching online video, and unlocking their phone.

Revenue
Perk generates revenue from its products as follows:

(a) Perk owned and operated mobile apps: Perk generates revenue by delivering advertising to its consumers.
Adpvertisers pay Perk an amount based on “impressions” that occur on Perk’s mobile apps. Perk contracts with
advertising networks that deliver advertisements to Perk’s consumers through Perk’s owned and operated apps. An
“impression” occurs when an online advertisement is delivered to a Perk mobile app and displayed to the consumer
using the app. The displaying of an advertisement is counted as an impression that has occurred on a Perk mobile app.

(b) Perk owned and operated websites: Similar to its mobile apps model, Perk generates revenue from its owned and
operated websites by delivering advertising to its consumers. Advertisers pay Perk an amount based on “impressions”
and clicks received on pay-per-click advertisements that occur on Perk’s websites. While payment for “impression”
(described above) advertisements only requires the display of such advertisement, pay-per-click advertisements, as the
name suggests, require the consumer to click on the advertisement in order for Perk to earn revenue from such
advertisement. Perk contracts predominantly with Yahoo! to deliver pay-per-click advertisements to its consumers
through Perk owned and operated websites.
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(c) Third Party mobile apps and website using Appsaholic: Similar to Perk owned and operated mobile apps and
websites, Perk generates its revenues from mobile apps and websites owned by third parties by delivering advertising
to consumers who use such third party apps and websites. Advertisers pay Perk an amount based on impressions that
occur on such third party mobile apps and websites and Perk pays a revenue share to the owner of the third party app
or website.

Market for Perk’s Stock

Perk’s common stock is traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol PER.TO. Perk began trading on the
Toronto Stock Exchange on July 15, 2015. Since it began trading, its highest reported trading price has been CDN
$6.00 and its lowest reporting trading price has been CDN $2.75.

The following chart shows the highest and lowest reported trading prices of Perk common stock since it began trading
on July 15, 2015.

Date High Price Low Price
July 15, 2015- September 30, 2015 CDN $6.00 CDN $3.95
October 1, 2015 — December 21, 2015 CDN $5.45 CDN $2.75

To date, Perk has not declared or made any dividend payments to its stockholders.

Perk currently has outstanding 19,716,777 shares of issued and outstanding common stock, and 2,158,474 restricted
voting shares. Based on a closing price of CDN $5.00 on December 21, 2015, Perk therefore has a market
capitalization of CDN $98,583,885.

Market Industry Overview

Perk’s business touches mainly two industries, the Loyalty industry and the Digital Advertising industry, which are
each described below.

Loyalty Industry

Longstanding companies who fall into the credit card, airline, branded retail, and hospitality industries have been the
typical market leaders in the loyalty market. In the sub-market of digital loyalty, a market leader has not yet emerged,
as significant market fragmentation still exists, typically consisting of niche mobile apps and websites as well as
point-solution platforms. Some of the companies involved in this industry include Session M and Swagbucks.

Digital Advertising

The Digital Advertising industry is experiencing a significant degree of consolidation. Some key trends that are
relevant for Perk’s business include the sustained projected growth of programmatic advertising, online video being the
fastest growing segment and the continuing growth of mobile advertising.

Financial Statements

Included in Annex D hereto is the following information: (i) unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial
statements of Perk as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 and (ii) consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31,

2014, 2013 and 2012 and the related Independent Auditors’ Report.
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ACTION 3 — CHANGE OF CORPORATE NAME

General Information

In connection with the consummation of the Asset Sale described in Proposal 2 above, the Company proposes to
amend its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the amendment to be filed in connection therewith, the
"Amendment") to change the name of the Company to DraftDay Fantasy Sports, Inc. The Company’s reasons for
doing so are as follows:

-The name “Viggle Inc.” is easily confused with the Viggle application. All operations relating to the Viggle
application are to be sold to Perk as part of the Asset Sale.

- Additionally, all domain names including the name “Viggle” are to be transferred to Perk as part of the Asset Sale.

-Finally, the Company believes that DraftDay Fantasy Sports, Inc. more accurately reflects the strategic focus of the
Company following the Asset Sale.

The Board of Directors of the Company believes that approval of the Amendment is in the best interest of the
company and its stockholders. Accordingly, on December 18, 2015, the board of directors unanimously approved the
adoption of the amendment.

The name change will not affect the validity or transferability of stock certificates presently outstanding or the trading
of any of the Company's securities.

Under the DCGL and our Bylaws, the Written Consent is sufficient to approve the change of corporate name from

Viggle Inc. to DraftDay Fantasy Sports, Inc. without the vote or consent of any of the other stockholders of the
Company.
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ACTION 4 — RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

General Information

BDO USA, LLP audited our consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2015. BDO USA, LLP has

served as our independent registered public accounting firm since February 2011. BDO USA, LLP’s work on our
audit for 2015 was performed by full time, permanent employees and partners of BDO USA, LLP. The Audit

Committee of the Board of Directors has appointed BDO USA, LLP to serve as our independent registered public

accounting firm for the year ending June 30, 2016.

While we are not required to submit the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm to a vote of
stockholders for ratification, our Board of Directors is doing so, based upon the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, as a matter of good corporate practice. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit Committee may, in its
discretion, direct the appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the
year if it determines that such a change would be advisable and in the best interests of the Company and our
stockholders.

Under the DCGL and our Bylaws, the Written Consent is sufficient to ratify the appointment of BDO USA, LLP to

serve as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for its fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 without
the vote or consent of any of the other stockholders of the Company.
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Services Provided by the Independent Public Accountant and Fees Paid

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees for services provided by BDO USA, LLP to the Company and its
subsidiaries with respect to the years ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 (fees are stated in dollars):

2015 2014
Audit Fees(1) $ 187,210 $ 453,215
Audit-Related Fees(2) --- $ 118,095
Tax Fees $ 18,685 $ 10,225
All Other Fees --- ---
Total $ 205,895 $ 581,535
) For 2015 and 2014, audit fees related to the 2015 and 2014 audits, the Form 10-Q filings, the Form 10-K
filings, the Form S-1 filing and audit services.
2) Audit-related fees in 2014 related to audits and reviews in connection with consummated acquisitions.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Services Provided by the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The audit committee of our Board of Directors maintains a pre-approval policy with respect to material audit and
non-audit services to be performed by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm in order to assure
that the provision of such services does not impair the accountant’s independence. Before engaging the independent
registered public accounting firm to render a service, the engagement must be either specifically approved by the audit
committee, or entered into pursuant to the pre-approval policy. Pre-approval authority may be delegated to one or
more members of the audit committee.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The following is the report of the Audit Committee with respect to the Company’s audited financial statements for its
fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be soliciting material
or to be filed with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.

The Audit Committee oversees our financial reporting process on behalf of our Board of Directors. Management has
the primary responsibility for the consolidated financial statements and the reporting process including the systems of
internal controls. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the
audited consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015
with management including a discussion of the quality, not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles, the
reasonableness of significant judgments, and the clarity of disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee also has reviewed and discussed with our independent registered public accounting firm BDO
USA, LLP, which is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those consolidated financial
statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, its judgments as to the quality, not just
the acceptability, of our accounting principles and such other matters as are required to be discussed with the
Committee by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 16, as amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1 AU
Section 380), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T. In addition, the Audit
Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from BDO USA, LLP required by the applicable
requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent accountant’s
communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed with BDO USA, LLP its
independence.

Based on the considerations and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board of
Directors (and our Board of Directors approved) that the audited consolidated financial statements for 2015 be
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the SEC. This report is
provided by the following independent directors, who comprise the Audit Committee:

Michael J. Meyer, Chairman

Peter Horan
John D. Miller
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Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

There are a number of conflicts of interest of which stockholders should be aware regarding our ownership and
operations.

On March 10, 2014, the Company entered into an audio recognition and related loyalty program software license and
services agreement with SFX Entertainment, Inc. (“SFX”). Pursuant to the terms of the license agreement, SFX paid the
Company $5,000,000 to license its audio recognition software and related loyalty platform for a term of 10 years. As
part of the Asset Sale, the Company is receiving back from Perk a license to the technology that is the subject of this
license, so that the Company can fulfill its obligations to SFX under the license agreement. Mr. Sillerman, the
Company’s Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is also Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
or SFX.

Board of Directors Decisions and Certain Conflicts of Interest

Past and future decisions by our board regarding our future growth, operations and major corporate decisions will be
subject to certain possible conflicts of interest. These conflicts may have caused, and in the future may cause, our
business to be adversely affected. Nevertheless, our board will be responsible for making decisions on our behalf. In
appropriate circumstances, we expect to submit transactions with any related party for approval or negotiation by our
independent directors or a special committee thereof.

Annual Report

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 is available on the internet at
www.viggle.com. A copy of the Form 10-K will be provided without charge to each stockholder to whom this
Information Statement is delivered upon our receipt of a written request from such stockholder. The exhibits to the
Form 10-K also will be provided upon request and payment of copying charges. Requests for the Annual Report on
Form 10-K should be directed to:

Tom McLean
General Counsel
Viggle Inc.

902 Broadway, 11th Floor
New York, NY 10010
(212) 231-0092

Stockholders’ Proposals

Any proposal that a stockholder of the Company wishes to have considered in connection with the 2017 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders must be submitted to the Company’s Corporate Secretary at its principal executive offices no
later than September 29, 2016, and in accordance with related provisions of the Company’s current Bylaws.

Delivery of Documents to Security Holders Sharing an Address
Only one Information Statement is being delivered to multiple security holders sharing an address unless the
Company received contrary instructions from one or more of the security holders. The Company shall deliver

promptly, upon written or oral request, a separate copy of the Information Statement to a security holder at a shared
address to which a single copy of the document was delivered. A security holder can notify the Company that the
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security holder wishes to receive a separate copy of the Information Statement by sending a written request to the
Company at 902 Broadway, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10010. A security holder may utilize the same address and
telephone number to request either separate copies or a single copy for a single address for all future information
statements, proxy statements and annual reports.
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PERK.COM INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ANNEX A

VIGGLE INC,,
a Delaware Corporation

WRITTEN CONSENT OF STOCKHOLDERS
December 21, 2015

The undersigned, being the record holders of more than a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock of
Viggle Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), as of December 21, 2015, hereby take the following actions and
adopt the following resolutions by written consent, as submitted by the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”) to the undersigned, pursuant to Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) without an
annual meeting of stockholders for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 by reason of having not less than the
minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such actions and adopt such resolutions at an
annual meeting of stockholders at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted, effective as of the
earliest date permitted after a definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C pursuant to the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended, is made available to the Company’s stockholders:

1. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

BE IT RESOLVED, that the following five (5) persons be, and they hereby are, re-elected as directors of the
Company to serve on the Board until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until their respective successors are
duly elected and qualified:

Robert F.X. Sillerman,
Peter Horan,

Michael J. Meyer,
Mitchell J. Nelson, and
Birame Sock

2. CONFIRMATION OF DECEMBER 13 WRITTEN CONSENT

BE IT RESOLVED, that the undersigned hereby reconfirms the Written Consent of Stockholders dated December 13,
2015 (attached hereto as Exhibit A) and reaffirms that the undersigned continues to own the same number of shares.

3.APPROVAL OF THE CHANGE OF THE COMPANY’S NAME FROM VIGGLE INC. TO DRAFTDAY
FANTASY SPORTS, INC.

BE IT RESOLVED, that the first paragraph of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company be, and hereby is,
amended to read as follows:

“FIRST: The name of the corporation is DraftDay Fantasy Sports, Inc. (the “Corporation”).”
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4.RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING
FIRM

BE IT RESOLVED, that the appointment of BDO USA, LLP to serve as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 be, and it hereby is, ratified;

5. GENERAL AUTHORITY

BE IT RESOLVED, that the proper officers of the Company be, and each of them hereby is, authorized and
empowered, jointly and severally, for and in the name and on behalf of the Company, to execute and deliver any and
all documents, and to do any and all things which they may deem necessary or advisable, in order to carry out the
intent and to accomplish the purposes of the foregoing resolutions, the taking of any such action, the execution of any
such documents or instruments and the doing of any such other things conclusively to evidence the due authorization
thereof by the undersigned; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that all actions heretofore taken by any officers, directors, employees and agents of the
Company in connection with the intent and purposes contemplated by the foregoing resolutions be, and they hereby
are, approved, ratified and confirmed in all respects as the acts and deeds of the Company as if such acts and deeds
had been presented to the undersigned for their approval prior to such acts and deeds being taken; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that delivery of an executed signature page of this Written Consent by PDF, facsimile
transmission or other electronic transmission, whether or not in counterparts, shall be as effective as delivery of a
manually-executed counterpart hereof; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Written Consent be filed in the Minute Book of the Company.

[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK; SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

A-2

96



Edgar Filing: Viggle Inc. - Form DEF 14C

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the undersigned, being the record holders of more than a majority of the outstanding
shares of common stock of Viggle Inc., have duly executed this Written Consent as of the 21st day of December,

2015.

NAME OF STOCKHOLDER

Sillerman Investment Company III, LLC

/s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman
Name: Robert F.X. Sillerman
Title: Manager

Sillerman Investment Company IV, LLC

/s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman
Name: Robert F.X. Sillerman
Title: Manager

/s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman
Robert F.X. Sillerman

Sillerman Investment Company III, LLC
/s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman

Name: Robert F.X. Sillerman
Title: Manager

A-3

NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON
STOCK OWNED OF RECORD AS AT
DECEMBER 21, 2015

8,230,623

8,750,000

37,268

10,000 Series C Preferred Shares

Total Shares Voted: 17,027,891
Percentage of Outstanding Shares: 50.21%%*

*17,027,891 of 33,901,030 shares of common
stock issued and outstanding as at December 21,
2015
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Exhibit A
Written Consent in Lieu of Meeting of the Holders of
the Majority of the Common Stock of
Viggle Inc.

The undersigned, being the holders (the “Common Stockholders™) of a majority of the outstanding shares of common
stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) of Viggle Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), in
accordance with Article II, Section I of the Corporation’s by-laws and Section 228 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, hereby adopts and approves the following resolutions with the same force and effect as if they had
been adopted at a duly convened meeting of the Common Stockholders:

WHEREAS, the Company has entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement and related ancillary agreements (the “Perk
Sale Agreements”) with Perk.com, Inc. (“Perk”) relating to the sale of the Viggle rewards business (but not the Choose
Digital, Wetpaint, MyGuy, and DraftDay businesses) and a related Credit Agreement, Subordination Agreement and
Security Agreement (the “Perk Loan Agreements”) , and the Company’s Board of Directors has unanimously
determined, after consultation with its legal and financial advisors, that the transactions contemplated by the Perk Sale
Agreements and the Perk Loan Agreements (the "Perk Agreements") are fair to, and in the best interests of the
Common Stockholders and have approved and declared advisable the Perk Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereby (the "Transactions") and have resolved to recommend approval of the Perk Agreements and the
Transactions to the Common Stockholders and directed that the Perk Agreements be submitted to the Common
Stockholders for their approval as and to the extent required pursuant to Section 271 of the Delaware General
Corporate Law; and

WHEREAS, the undersigned, as holders of a majority of the common stock of the Company, have reviewed the Perk
Agreements, are familiar with the terms of the sale of the Viggle rewards business to Perk, and have consulted with
Company management in connection with the review of the proposed transaction and wish to approve the Perk
Agreements and Transactions as recommended by the Board; and

WHEREAS, each of the undersigned, as shareholder, has agreed to and hereby does support the consummation of the
transaction set forth in the Perk Agreements and hereby consents thereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Company enter into, execute and deliver the Perk Agreements in

connection with the sale of the Viggle rewards business and perform the Company's obligations under the Perk
Agreements, including the consummation of the Transactions; and it is
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FURTHER RESOLVED, that any and all actions heretofore or hereafter taken by the Company’s Board of Directors
authorizing, entering into, executing, delivering and performing the obligations under the Perk Agreements, including
the consummation of the Transactions, are hereby ratified and confirmed; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that each of the undersigned hereby votes the number of shares set forth next to his or its
name (representing all of his or its shares of Common Stock) in favor of the entry into the Perk Agreements and the
consummation of the Transactions; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the consent provided by these resolutions constitutes the Consent required pursuant to
Section 271 of the Delaware General Corporate law, as and to the extent such consent is required in connection with
the Perk Agreements and/or the Transactions; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the each of the officers and directors of the Company are hereby authorized and

directed to execute and deliver any and all documents and to take such other action as he or she deems necessary,
advisable or appropriate to carry out the purposes and intent, but within the limitations of the foregoing resolutions.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, being the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock, has executed this Consent, effective as of December 13, 2015.

SILLERMAN INVESTMENT COMPANY III, LLC NUMBER OF SHARES
By: /s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman
Robert F.X. Sillerman, Manager 8,230,623

SILLERMAN INVESTMENT COMPANY IV, LLC

By: /s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman
Robert F.X. Sillerman, Manager 8,750,000
/s/ Robert F.X. Sillerman 37,268

Robert F.X. Sillerman
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ANNEX B

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)
September
30,

2015
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $1,521
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $95 at September 30,
2015 and June 30, 2015) 3,387
Prepaid expenses 2,455
Other receivables 700
Total current assets 8,003
Restricted cash 695
Property & equipment, net 2,305
Intangible assets, net 22,672
Goodwill 38,455
Other assets 1,781
Total assets $73,971
Liabilities, convertible redeemable preferred stock and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $15,365
Reward points payable 8,744
Contingent consideration liability 3,064
Common stock warrant liability 10
Deferred revenue 578
Current portion of loan payable —
Total current liabilities 27,761
Loans payable, less current portion 26,141
Deferred revenue 3,729
Other long-term liabilities 2,186
Total liabilities 59,817

Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, $1,000 stated value, authorized

100,000 shares, issued and outstanding -0- shares as of September 30, 2015 and June 30,

2015 —
Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, $1,000 stated value, authorized

100,000 shares, issued and outstanding of 10,000 shares as of September 30, 2015 and

June 30, 2015 12,047
Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity:

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $1,000 stated value, authorized 50,000 shares,
issued and outstanding -0- shares as of September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 —
Common stock, $0.001 par value: authorized 300,000,000 shares, issued and

outstanding 25,060,277 and 23,383,125 shares as of September 30, 2015 and June 30,

2015, respectively 25

June 30,
2015

$4,217

4,119
633
661
9,630
695
2,448
21,313
35,833
310
$70,229

$9,497
9,029
4,792
10
593
1,575
25,496
22,516
3,854
2,216
54,082

11,815

23
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Additional paid-in-capital 390,271 383,585
Treasury stock, 215,164 shares at September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 (11,916 ) (11,916 )
Accumulated deficit (380,604 ) (367,360 )
Non-controlling interest 4,331 —

Total stockholders' equity 2,107 4,332
Total liabilities, convertible redeemable preferred stock and stockholders' equity $73,971 $70,229

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

Revenues

Cost of watchpoints and engagement points

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Operating loss

Other (expense) income:

Other income, net

Interest expense, net

Total other expense

Net loss before provision for income taxes

Income tax expense

Net loss

Accretion of Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
Undeclared Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock Dividend
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Net loss attributable to Viggle Inc. common stockholders

Net loss per share attributable to Viggle Inc. common stockholders - basic and diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

Three
Months
Ended
September
30, 2015
$5,052
(2,022
(15,566
(12,536

(854
(854

(13,390
22
(13,412
74
(307
168

$(13,477

$(0.57

23,828,683

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

B-3

)

)

Three
Months
Ended
September
30, 2014
$6,476
(1,164 )
22,771 )
(17,459 )
5
(127 )
(122 )
(17,581 )
(22 )
(17,603 )
$(17,603 )
$(1.12 )
15,741,055
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(amounts in thousands)

Class B Additional
Common  Preferred Paid-In Treasury  Accumulated Non-controlling
Stock Stock Capital Stock Deficit Interest Total
Balance July 1,
2015 $23 $— $383,585 $(11,916 ) $ (367,360 ) $ — $4,332
Net loss (13,412 ) (13,412 )
Net loss
attributable to
non-controlling
interest 168 (168 ) —
Common shares
issued for
DraftDay
acquisition 2 1,755 1,024 2,781
Common shares
and warrants of
DraftDay issued
for management
service contracts 3,475 3,475
Accretion of
Series C
Convertible
Redeemable
Preferred Stock 74 74
Undeclared Series
C Preferred Stock
Dividend (307 ) (307 )
Restricted stock -
share based
compensation 4,991 4,991
Employee stock
options - share

based

compensation 173 173

Balance

September 30,

2015 (unaudited) $25 $— $390,271 $(11,916 ) $ (380,604 ) $ 4,331 $2,107
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Restricted stock - share based compensation

Employee stock options - share based compensation

Decrease in fair value of common stock warrants

Depreciation and amortization

Accretion of note discount

Interest income on notes receivable from shareholders and officer
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses

Other assets

Deferred revenue

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Reward points liability

Other liabilities

Other

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Investing activities:

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Purchase of property and equipment

Capitalized software costs

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Financing activities:

Proceeds from loans

Repayments on loans

Payments related to contingent consideration
Purchase of common shares from former officer
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

Supplemental cash flow Information:

Three
Months
Ended
September
30, 2015

$(13,412

4,991
173
1,196
50

732
106
(58

(140
3,082
(285
(30

92
(3,503

535

535

5,000
(3,000
(1,728

272
(2,696

4,217
$1,521

)

)

Three

Months

Ended

September
30,2014

$(17,603

5,680
1,882
S

1,800

¢!

486
(170
(98
5,006
(466
3,778
310
29

628

(112
(131
(243

(270
(270

115

$122

)
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Cash paid during the period for interest $— $104
Non-Cash investing activities:

Landlord lease incentive build-out allowance $— $449
Common stock and warrants issued for DraftDay acquisition $1,757 $—
Common stock and warrants issued for management service contracts $3,475 $—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Viggle Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

On May 31, 2012, the Company changed its name from Function(x) Inc. to Viggle Inc. It now conducts business
under the name Viggle Inc.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Viggle Inc., its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and
DraftDay Gaming Group, Inc.. The Company has nine wholly-owned subsidiaries, Function(x) Inc., Project Oda,
Inc., Sports Hero Inc., Loyalize Inc., Viggle Media Inc., VX Acquisition Corp., Viggle Merger Sub II Inc.,
Wetpaint.com, Inc., and Choose Digital Inc., each a Delaware corporation. These consolidated financial statements
also include the accounts of DraftDay Gaming Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation. Viggle Inc. owns approximately
49% of the issued and outstanding common stock of DraftDay Gaming Group, Inc., and also appoints a majority of
the members of its Board of Directors. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the Company's ability to

continue to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company is unlikely to

generate significant revenue or earnings in the immediate or foreseeable future. The continuation of the Company as a

going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support from its stockholders, the ability of the Company to

obtain necessary equity or debt financing to continue development of its business and to generate revenue.

Management intends to raise additional funds through equity and/or debt offerings until sustainable revenues are

developed. There is no assurance such equity and/or debt offerings will be successful and therefore there is

substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the financial
statements are issued. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from

the outcome of these uncertainties.

2. Line of Business
The Company's Line of Business

Viggle is a mobile and web-based entertainment marketing platform that uses incentives to make content consumption
and discovery more rewarding for media companies, brands and consumers. Viggle helps guide consumers towards
various forms of media consumption with television enhancement, music discovery, entertainment content publishing
and distributed viewing reminders. Viggle helps consumers decide what to watch and when, broadens the viewing
experience with real time games and additional content, and rewards viewers for being loyal to their favorite shows
throughout a season, allowing them to earn points. For brands, Viggle provides advertising clients with targeted
interactive ads to amplify their TV messaging to verified audiences. For media companies, Viggle delivers
promotional benefits by driving viewers to specific shows, engaging them in a richer content experience, and
increasing awareness of promoted shows through web, mobile and social channels.

The Company's content website, wetpaint.com, extends its promotional capabilities by reaching potential viewers
before a TV show is broadcast and by allowing viewers to continue the conversation with additional show coverage
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after the broadcast date. The Company also has technology that helps consumers search for media and set reminders
to watch their favorite TV shows and movies wherever they are offered. In addition, the Company recently launched
its music service, which allows consumers to check-in to songs on Viggle and also earn points. As a media company,
Viggle seeks to attract a significant and growing audience in order to sell advertising. The Company believes that
making entertainment more rewarding and engaging for consumers will drive them to use Viggle.

B-6
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U.S. consumers can become Viggle users through a free App that works on multiple types of mobile phones and
tablets and is distributed through the Apple App Store and the Google Play Store. After a consumer downloads the
App, he or she must create an account. Viggle then allows consumers to play along with TV shows, share comments
through social media, answer trivia questions or polls, chat with friends, play games, or discover more about the show,
all while watching TV. Users can also use the App to discover new music. The App can listen to a song and identify
it and allow users to build playlists and purchase the music. All of this activity earns users points they can redeem for
real rewards.

The Viggle user experience is simple. While watching TV or listening to music, a user taps the “check-in” button, which
activates the device’s microphone. Viggle collects an audio sample of the content the user can hear and uses
technology to convert that sample into a digital fingerprint. Within seconds, that digital fingerprint is matched against
applicable databases.

Through wetpaint.com, the Company reports original news stories and publishes information content covering top
television shows, music, celebrities, entertainment news and fashion. Wetpaint publishes more than 70 new articles,
videos and galleries each day. The Company generates revenues through wetpaint.com by displaying advertisements
to wetpaint.com users as they view its content.

The Company's wholly owned subsidiary, DraftDay Gaming Group, made a recent investment in the DraftDay.com
platform. Through DraftDay.com, users can draft a fantasy sports team within a salary cap, follow game action and
reap rewards. DraftDay.com will continue to offer high-quality entertainment to consumers as well as to businesses
desiring turnkey solutions to new revenue streams. See Note 4, Acquisitions, for further details on this acquisition.

The Company has purchased and will continue to source rewards from vendors that it will issue to users upon the
redemption of their points. The Company has not generated sufficient revenue to date to cover the cost of rewards and
its other costs of doing business, and there is no guarantee that it will be able to generate sufficient revenue in the
future to continue to purchase rewards from vendors or continue its business.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of
Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by generally accepted
accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of
normal, recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for
the three months ended September 30, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the
year ending June 30, 2016.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid securities purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates market value and primarily consists of money

market funds that are readily convertible into cash. Restricted cash comprises amounts held in deposit that were
required as collateral under leases of office space.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company's allowance for doubtful
accounts is based upon historical loss patterns, the number of days that the billings are past due and an evaluation of
the potential risk associated with delinquent accounts. The Company also considers any changes to the financial
condition of its customers and any other external market factors that could impact the collectability of its receivables
in the determination of its allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company's allowance for doubtful accounts as of
September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 was $95.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash
and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with domestic
financial institutions of high credit quality. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing
of all of such institutions.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers to assess the probability of accounts receivable
collection based on a number of factors, including past transaction experience with the customer, evaluation of their
credit history, and review of the invoicing terms of the contract. The Company generally does not require collateral.
The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses on customer accounts when deemed necessary. Actual
credit losses during the three months ended September 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014 were not significant.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other
receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term
maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying amount of loans payable approximates fair value as current
borrowing rates for the same, or similar issues, are the same as those that were given to the Company at the issuance
of these loans.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment (consisting primarily of computers, software, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold
improvements) is recorded at historical cost and is depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives. The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure they are consistent with the
anticipated pattern of future economic benefits. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred, while betterments are capitalized. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the results of
operations. The estimated useful lives of the Company's property and equipment is as follows: computer equipment
and software: 3 years; furniture and fixtures: 4 years; and leasehold improvements: the lesser of the lease term or
life of the asset.

Goodwill and Certain Other Long-Lived Assets

As required by ASC 350, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company tests goodwill for impairment during
the fourth quarter of its fiscal year. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level at least annually and more frequently upon occurrence of certain events. The Company has one reporting
unit. The annual goodwill impairment test is a two step process. First, the Company determines if the carrying value
of its reporting unit exceeds fair value, which would indicate that goodwill may be impaired. If the Company then
determines that goodwill may be impaired, it compares the implied fair value of the goodwill to its carry amount to
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determine if there is an impairment loss.

There were no impairments of goodwill during the three months ended September 30, 2015 as the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount.
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The Company accounts for the impairment of long-lived assets other than goodwill in accordance with ASC 360,
“Property, Plant, and Equipment”, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of
long-lived assets. ASC 360 requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived assets used in operations when
indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are
less than the assets' carrying amounts. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying
amount exceeds the fair value of the long-lived assets. Loss on long-lived assets to be disposed of is determined in a
similar manner, except that fair values are reduced for the cost of disposal.

At June 30, 2015, the Company determined that certain intangible assets related to the acquisition of Choose Digital
(see Note 4, Acquisitions for further detail regarding the Choose Digital acquisition) were impaired. Due to a shift in
the Company's business operations and utilization of its resources, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, the
Company determined that intangible assets related to customer relationships and trade name no longer had
value. Therefore, such assets were written off as of June 30, 2015. The total amount of the write off was
$2,086. There were no additional impairments of long-lived assets during the three months ended September 30,
2015.

Capitalized Software

The Company records amortization of acquired software on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
software.

In addition, the Company records and capitalizes internally generated computer software and, appropriately, certain
internal costs have been capitalized in the amounts of $5,006 as of September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015, in
accordance with ASC 350-40 "Internal-use Software". At the time software is placed into service, the Company
records amortization on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software.

Deferred Rent

The Company is party to a lease for office space for its corporate office, and as part of the agreement the landlord
provided a rent abatement for the first 10 months of the lease. In 2014, the Company entered into two lease
agreements for its satellite offices which provided for tenant improvement work sponsored by the landlords. The
abatement and landlord sponsored improvements have been accounted for as a reduction of rental expense over the
life of the lease. The Company accounts for rental expense on a straight line basis over the entire term of the
lease. Deferred rent is equal to the cumulative timing difference between actual rent payments and recognized rental
expense.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence exists of an arrangement with the customer
reflecting the terms and conditions under which products or services will be provided; (2) delivery has occurred or
services have been provided; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (4) collection is reasonably assured. For all
revenue transactions, the Company considers a signed agreement, a binding insertion order or other similar
documentation to be persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

Advertising Revenue: the Company generates advertising revenue primarily from display and video advertising,
which is typically sold on a cost-per-thousand impressions, or CPM basis, and completed engagements on a cost per
engagement, or CPE basis. Advertising campaigns typically range from 1 to 12 months, and advertisers generally pay
the Company based on a minimum of delivered impressions or the satisfaction of other criteria, such as
click-throughs.
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Deferred Revenue: deferred revenue consists principally of both prepaid but unrecognized revenue and advertising
fees received or billed in advance of the delivery or completion of the delivery of services. Deferred revenue is
recognized as revenue when the services are provided and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Barter Revenue: barter transactions represent the exchange of advertising or programming for advertising,
merchandise or services. Barter transactions which exchange advertising for advertising are accounted for in
accordance with EITF Issue No. 99-17 "Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions" (ASC Topic
605-20-25). Such transactions are recorded at the fair value of the advertising provided based on the Company's own
historical practice of receiving cash for similar advertising from buyers unrelated to the counter party in the barter
transactions. Barter transactions which exchange advertising or programming for merchandise or services are
recorded at the monetary value of the revenue expected to be realized from the ultimate disposition of merchandise or
services.

The Company recognized barter revenue and barter expense in the amount of $2,609 and $3,010 for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014, respectively.

Watchpoints and Engagement Points

The Company issues points to its users as an incentive to utilize the App and its features, and to consume content
provided on wetpaint.com. Users can redeem these points for rewards. The Company records the cost of these points
based on the weighted average cost of redemptions during the period. Points earned but not redeemed are classified
as a liability.

Users earn points for various activities within the Company's App and the wetpaint.com site. The Company reports
points earned for checking into shows and points earned for engaging in advertiser sponsored content as a separate
line in its Statements of Operations ("Cost of watchpoints and engagement points"). All other points earned by users
are reflected as a marketing expense in selling, general and administrative expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock
Compensation. Under the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718, stock-based compensation cost is measured
at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service
period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options and
warrants issued. Stock-based awards issued to date are comprised of both restricted stock awards (RSUs) and
employee stock options.

Marketing

Marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Marketing expense for the Company for the three months ended September
30, 2015 and September 30, 2014 was $3,321 and $4,116, respectively, including barter expense.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under
the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement
and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis
differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is unlikely that the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. We assess our income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon
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our evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting date. In accordance with ASC
740-10, for those tax positions where there is a greater than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, our
policy will be to record the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income tax positions
where there is less than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit will be recognized in the
financial statements.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include, among others, fair value of financial assets
and liabilities, net realizable values on long-lived assets, certain accrued expense accounts, and estimates related to
stock-based compensation. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update No. 2015-16, Business Combinations - Simplifying
the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments ("ASU 2015-16"). This standard requires that an acquirer
retrospectively adjust provisional amounts recognized in a business combination, during the measurement period. To
simplify the accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts, the amendments in the ASU 2015-16 require
that the acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in
the reporting period in which the adjustment amount is determined. The acquirer is required to also record, in the
same period’s financial statements, the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income
effects, if any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed
at the acquisition date. In addition an entity is required to present separately on the face of the income statement or
disclose in the notes to the financial statements the portion of the amount recorded in current-period earnings by line
item that would have been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had
been recognized as of the acquisition date. ASU 2015-16 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2016, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 (July 1, 2017 for the Company). The
Company does not believe that the adoption of ASU 2015-16 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
("ASU 2014-09"). The standard provides companies with a single model for use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers and supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific
revenue guidance. The core principle of the model is to recognize revenue when control of the goods or services
transfers to the customer, as opposed to recognizing revenue when the risks and rewards transfer to the customer
under the existing revenue guidance. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15,2017 (July 1, 2018 for the Company). Early adoption is not permitted. The guidance permits companies to either
apply the requirements retrospectively to all prior periods presented, or apply the requirements in the year of adoption,
through a cumulative adjustment. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the
impact of adoption on its consolidated financial statements.

4. Acquisitions
Acquisition of Choose Digital
On June 24, 2014, the Company acquired Choose Digital Inc. ("Choose Digital"), a Miami, Florida based, digital

marketplace platform that allows companies to incorporate digital content into existing rewards and loyalty programs
in support of marketing and sales initiatives.
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In connection with the Company's acquisition of Choose Digital, the Company was required to make a contingent
payment, which was due within five business days after June 24, 2015, of $4,792. Such amount was accrued in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2015. On July 31, 2015, the Company entered into a
Forbearance Agreement with AmossyKlein Family Holdings, LLP ("AmossyKlein"), as representative of the former
shareholders of Choose Digital Inc. (the “Stockholders”). The Forbearance Agreement provides that the Company will
make monthly installment payments to the Stockholders, beginning on July 31, 2015 and ending on January 29, 2016.
Specifically, the Company agreed to pay $668 on July 31, 2015; $532 on August 31, 2015; $528 on September 30,
2015; $524 on October 31, 2015; $521 on November 30, 2015; $517 on December 31, 2015; and $1,754 on January
29, 2016. The scheduled payments include $252 of interest. The Company agreed to deliver an affidavit of
confession of judgment to be held in escrow by AmossyKlein’s counsel in the event the Company does not make such
installment payments. The balance of the contingent payment at September 30, 2015 was $3,064.

Acquisition of DraftDay.com

On September 8, 2015, the Company and its newly created subsidiary DraftDay Gaming Group, Inc. (“DDGG”) entered
into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) with MGT Capital Investments, Inc. (“MGT
Capital”) and MGT Sports, Inc. (“MGT Sports™), pursuant to which the Company acquired all of the assets of the
DraftDay.com business (the “DraftDay Business”) from MGT Capital and MGT Sports. In exchange for the acquisition
of the DraftDay Business, the Company paid MGT Sports the following: (a) 1,269,342 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Common Stock”), (b) a promissory note in the amount of $234 due
September 29, 2015, (c) a promissory note in the amount of $1,875 due March 8, 2016, and (d) 2,550,000 shares of
common stock of DDGG. In addition, in exchange for providing certain transitional services, DDGG will issue to
MGT Sports a warrant to purchase 1,500,000 shares of DDGG common stock at an exercise price of $0.40 per share.

In addition, in exchange for the release of various liens and encumbrances, the Company also agreed to issue to third
parties: (a) 84,633 shares of its Common Stock, (b) a promissory note in the amount of $16 due September 29, 2015
and (c) a promissory note in the amount of $125 due March 8, 2016, and DDGG issued: (i) 150,000 shares of its
common stock and (ii) a warrant to purchase 350,000 shares of DDGG common stock at $0.40 per share.

Accordingly, the Company issued a total of 1,353,975 shares of Common Stock in connection with the acquisition of
the DraftDay Business.

The Company contributed the assets of the DraftDay Business to DDGG, such that the Company now owns a total of
11,250,000 shares of DDGG common stock.

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of MGT Capital and
MGT Sports. In addition, on September 8, 2015, DDGG entered into an agreement with Sportech Racing, LLC
(“Sportech™) pursuant to which Sportech agreed to provide certain management services to DDGG in exchange for
9,000,000 shares of DDGG common stock.

As a result of the transactions described above, the Company owns a total of 11,250,000 shares of DDGG common
stock, Sportech Inc., an affiliate of Sportech, owns 9,000,000 shares of DDGG common stock, MGT Sports owns
2,550,000 shares of DDGG common stock and an additional third party owns 150,000 shares of DDGG common
stock. On September 8, 2015, the various stockholders of DDGG entered into a Stockholders Agreement (the
“Stockholders Agreement”). The Stockholders Agreement provides that all stockholders will vote their shares of
DDGG common stock for a Board comprised of three members, two of which will be designated by the Company and
one of which will be designated by Sportech. As such, the operations of the DraftDay business will be consolidated
with the Company's operations from the acquisition date of September 8, 2015 (see Note 9, Stockholders' Equity, for a
discussion on non-controlling interest related to the portion of the DraftDay Business that the Company does not
own). Mr. Sillerman will serve as the Chairman of DDGG. The Stockholders Agreement also provides customary
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rights of first refusal for the various stockholders, as well as customary co-sale, drag along and preemptive rights.
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In the aggregate, as a result of the transactions described herein, the Company issued promissory notes in the principal
amount of $250 due and paid on September 29, 2015 and in the aggregate principal amount of $2,000 due March 8,
2016 (such amount is included in Accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets). All such notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum.

This acquisition has been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805,
Business Combinations. Under the acquisition method, the consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
closing date. The assets of the DraftDay Business have been measured based on various preliminary estimates using
assumptions that the Company’s management believes are reasonable utilizing information currently available. Use of
different estimates and judgments could yield different results. The Company has performed a preliminary allocation
of the purchase price to the underlying net assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values
as of the acquisition date, with any excess of the purchase price allocated to goodwill. The Company has not
completed the analysis of certain acquired assets and assumed liabilities, including, but not limited to, other
identifiable intangible assets such as customer lists and technology. However, the Company is continuing its review
of these items during the measurement period, and further changes to the preliminary allocation will be recognized as
the valuations are finalized. Such valuations are being conducted by a third party valuation expert using Level 3
inputs as described in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, that are generally unobservable and
typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

The operations of this acquisition are not material, and thus, pro forma disclosure are not presented. Goodwill related
to the acquisition is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

5. Property and Equipment
Property and Equipment consists of the following:

September June 30,

30, 2015 2015

Leasehold Improvements $2,893 $2,893
Furniture and Fixtures 588 588
Computer Equipment 468 458
Software 164 163

Total 4,113 4,102
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization (1,808 ) (1,654 )
Property and Equipment, net $2,305 $2,448

Depreciation and amortization charged to selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $159 and $176, respectively.
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6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

September 30, 2015 June 30, 2015

Amortization Accumulated  Carrying Accumulated  Carrying
Description Period Amount Amortization Value Amount  Amortization Value
Wetpaint
technology 84 months $ 10,600 $ (2,713) $ 7,887 $ 10,600 $ (2,336) $ 8,264
Wetpaint
trademarks 360 months 5,800 (345) 5,455 5,800 (296) 5,504
Wetpaint
customer
relationships 60 months 2,000 (717) 1,283 2,000 (617) 1,383
Wetpaint
non-compete
agreements 36 months 609 (364) 245 609 (313) 296
Choose Digital
licenses 60 months 1,740 (442) 1,298 1,740 (355) 1,385
Choose Digital
software 60 months 550 (140) 410 550 (112) 438
Dijit
technology 84 months 1,820 (433) 1,387 1,820 (368) 1,452
DraftDay
technology 84 months 2,396 (10) 2,386 — — —
Internally
generated
capitalized
software 36 months 5,006 (3,000) 2,006 5,006 (2,733) 2,273
Other various 326 (1) 315 326 (8) 318
Total $ 30,847 $ (8,175 $ 22,672 $ 28451 $ (7,138) $ 21,313

Amortization of intangible assets included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $1,037 and $1,624, respectively. Future annual amortization expense
expected is as follows:

Years ending June 30,

2016 $3,435
2017 $4,437
2018 $3,404
2019 $2,941
2020 $2,309

Goodwill consists of the following:

Description Amount
Balance at June 30, 2015 $35,833
DraftDay preliminary purchase price allocation 2,622
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7. Loans Payable
Outstanding Balances
Maturity ~ Total Facility September 30,
Facility Name Date Amount 2015 June 30, 2015

Line of Credit Promissory Note (the

"Note") 10/24/17 20,000 19,566 19,516
On

Unsecured Demand Loans (the "Loans") Demand — — 1,575

Line of Credit Grid Note (the "Grid Note")  12/31/16 10,000 6,575 3,000

Total Loans Payable $ 26,141 $ 24,091

Line of Credit Promissory Note

On October 24, 2014, the Company and SIC III, a company affiliated with Mr. Sillerman entered into a Securities
Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") pursuant to which SIC III agreed to purchase certain
securities issued by the Company for a total of $30,000. Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company
issued a Line of Credit Promissory Note (the “Note”), which provides for a $20,000 line of credit to the Company (see
Note 9, Stockholders' Equity, for a discussion of the remaining $10,000 of the Securities Purchase Agreement). The
Company also agreed to issue to SIC III warrants to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
Company issued warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for every $1,000 advanced
under the Note. The warrants will be issued in proportion to the amounts the Company draws under the Note. The
exercise price of the warrants will be 10% above the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date prior to the
issuance of the warrants. Exercise of the warrants was subject to approval of the Company’s stockholders, which
occurred on January 13, 2015.

The Note provides a right for the Company to request advances under the Note from time to time. The Note bears
interest at a rate of 12% per annum, payable in cash on a quarterly basis. The Note matures on October 24, 2017. On
October 24, 2014, SIC III made an initial advance under the Note in the principal amount of $4,500. On December
15, 2014, SIC TIT made an additional advance in the principal amount of $15,500 pursuant to the terms of the Note
(the proceeds of which were used to repay amounts outstanding under the DB Line, as discussed above). As of
September 30, 2015, the total outstanding principal amount of the Note was $20,000. The Note provides for a 3%
discount, such that the amount advanced by SIC III was 3% less than the associated principal amount of the
advances. Therefore, the net amount actually outstanding under the Note at September 30, 2015, was $19,566, which
includes accretion of the discount of $166 (the 3% discount of $600 is being accreted to the principal balance over the
life of the Note). From and after the occurrence and during the continuance of any event of default under the Note, the
interest rate is automatically increased to 17% per annum.

In connection with the first drawdown of $4,500 under the Note, the Company issued SIC III warrants to purchase
225,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. These warrants have an exercise price of $3.51, representing a price
equal to 10% above the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the day prior to issuance. In connection with
the additional drawdown of $15,500 under the Note, the Company issued SIC III warrants to purchase 775,000 shares
of the Company's common stock. These warrants have an exercise price of $3.63, representing a price equal to 10%
above the closing price of the Companys common stock on the day prior to issuance. The Warrants are exercisable
for a period of five years from issuance. Stock compensation expense related to the issuances of warrants to SIC III
was $2,049 during the year ended June 30, 2015.
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The Note is not convertible into equity securities of the Company.

The Note also contains certain covenants and restrictions, including, among others, that, for so long as the Note is
outstanding, the Company will not, without the consent of the holder of the Note, (i) make any loan or advance in
excess of $500 to any officer, director, employee of affiliate of the Company (except advances and similar
expenditures : (a) under the terms of employee stock or option plans approved by the Board of Directors, (b) in the
ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice or (c) to its subsidiaries), (ii) incur any indebtedness that
exceeds $1,000 in the aggregate other than indebtedness outstanding under the Note, (iii) guaranty any indebtedness
of any unaffiliated third party, (iv) change the principal business of the Company or exit the Company's current
business, provided that the foregoing is subject to the Board's compliance with its fiduciary duties, (v) sell, assign, or
license material technology or intellectual property of the Company except (a) in the ordinary course of business,
consistent with past practice, (b) sales and assignments thereof in any 12 month period that do not have a fair market
value in excess of $500 or (c) in connection with a change of control transaction, (vi) enter into any corporate strategic
relationship involving the payment, contribution or assignment by the Company of its assets that have a fair market
value in excess of $1,000 or (vii) liquidate or dissolve the Company or wind up the business of the Company, except
in connection with changes of control or merger, acquisition or similar transactions or as approved by the Company’s
Board in compliance with their fiduciary duties.
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Interest expense on the Note was $613 for the three months ended September 30, 2015.
Unsecured Demand Loans

During the year ended June 30, 2015, Mr. Sillerman made the following demand loans (the "Loans") to the Company:

Date Amount
12/19/2014 $2,000
1/14/2015 2,000
1/30/2015 2,000
2/13/2015 750
2/26/2015 1,000
3/2/2015 1,000
3/16/2015 3,000
4/20/2015 1,000
5/5/2015 500
5/14/2015 325
Total $13,575

Each of the Loans bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum. Principal and interest due under the Loans shall be due
and payable upon demand. The principal amount of the Loans may be prepaid at any time and from time to time, in
whole or in part, without premium or penalty. The Company used the proceeds from the Loans to fund working
capital requirements and for general corporate purposes.

As discussed in Note 9, Stockholders' Equity, on March 16, 2015, SIC III purchased 7,000 shares of Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, for a purchase price of $7,000. The
Company used the $7,000 proceeds from the sale of 7,000 shares of Series C Convertible Stock to repay $7,000 in
principal amount of the Loans. In addition, the Company used $798 of the proceeds of the Loan on March 16, 2015 to
pay all accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans. On June 1, 2015, the Company repaid an additional $5,000 in
principal amount of the Loans. On July 1, 2015, the Company repaid the remaining $1,575 in principal amount of the
Loans. Accordingly, after the transactions described herein, the total outstanding principal amount of the Loans at
September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 was $0 and $1,575, respectively.

Interest expense on the Loans was $1 for the three months ended September 30, 2015.
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Line of Credit Grid Note

On June 11, 2015, the Company and Sillerman Investment Company IV, LLC ("SIC IV") entered into a Line of Credit
Grid Note (the "Grid Note"). The Grid Note provides a right for the Company to request advances under the Grid
Note from time to time in an aggregate amount of up to $10,000. The Grid Note bears interest at a rate of 12% per
annum, payable in cash on the maturity of the Grid Note. From and after the occurrence and during the continuance
of any event of default under the Grid Note, the interest rate is automatically increased to 14% per annum.

The Grid Note is not convertible into equity securities of the Company.

In order for the Company to make requests for advances under the Grid Note, the Company must have an interest
coverage ratio equal to or greater than 1, unless SIC IV waives this requirement. The interest coverage ratio is
calculated by dividing: (a) the Company’s net income for the measurement period, plus the Company’s interest expense
for the measurement period, plus the Company’s tax expense for the measurement period, by (b) the Company’s interest
expense for the measurement period, plus the amount of interest expense that would be payable on the amount of the
requested draw for the twelve months following the request for the advance. The measurement period is the twelve
months ended as of the last day of the last completed fiscal quarter prior to the request for the advance. The Company
currently does not have an interest coverage ratio equal to or greater than 1, so advances would require the SIC IV to
waive this requirement. In addition, in order to make requests for advances under the Grid Note, there can be no event
of default under the Note at the time of the request for an advance, including that there has been no material adverse
change in the business plan or prospects of the Company in the reasonable opinion of SIC IV.

The Company made requests for advances under the Grid Note, and SIC IV made advances to the Company as
follows:

Date Amount
6/11/2015 $1,000
6/24/2015 2,000
7/31/2015 1,000
8/31/2015 2,000
9/15/2015 1,000
9/29/2015 1,000
Total $8,000

On July 1, 2015, the Company repaid $1,425 of the Grid Note. Therefore, the outstanding balance of the Grid Note at
September 30, 2015 was $6,575. See Note 14, Subsequent Events, for details of borrowings on the Grid Note
subsequent to September 30, 2015.

The Grid Note matures on the first to occur of: (a) 12/31/2016 or (b) upon a “Change of Control Transaction.” A
“Change of Control Transaction” includes (i) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or (ii) the
issuance by the Company of common stock that results in any “person” or “group” becoming the “beneficial owner” of a
majority of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock
(other than as a result of, or in connection with, any merger, acquisition, consolidation or other business combination

in which the Company is the surviving entity following the consummation thereof), excluding transactions with
affiliates of the Company.
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If an event of default occurs under the Grid Note, SIC IV has the right to require the Company to repay all or any
portion of the Grid Note. An event of default is deemed to have occurred on: (i) the non-payment of any of the
amounts due under the Grid Note within five (5) Business Days after the date such payment is due and payable; (ii)
dissolution or liquidation, as applicable, of the Company; (iii) various bankruptcy or insolvency events shall have
occurred, (iv) the inaccuracy in any material respect of any warranty, representation, statement, report or certificate
the Company makes to Lender under the Note hereto; (v) the Company contests, disputes or challenges in any
manner, whether in a judicial proceeding or otherwise, the validity or enforceability of any material provision in
the Grid Note; or (vi) a material adverse change in the business plan or prospects of the Company in the reasonable
opinion of SIC IV.
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Interest expense on the Grid Note for the three months ended September 30, 2015 was $96.
Related Approvals

Because each of the transactions (other than the DB Line) referred to in the foregoing sections involved Mr.
Sillerman, or an affiliate of his, the transactions were subject to certain rules regarding "affiliate" transactions. As
such, each was approved by a Special Committee of the Board of Directors and a majority of the independent
members of the Board of Directors of the Company.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

On May 4, 2015, the Company was served with a lawsuit initiated by Andy Mule, on behalf of himself and others
similarly situated, in the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The lawsuit, which names the Company and each
of our directors as defendants, claims a breach of fiduciary duty relating to a proposal by Mr. Sillerman to acquire a
portion of Wetpaint from the Company. The lawsuit seeks to enjoin the transaction as well as unspecified
damages. The Company believes that the lawsuit is without merit.

The Company is subject to litigation and other claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. While the ultimate
result of our outstanding legal matters cannot presently be determined, the Company does not expect that the ultimate
disposition will have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition. However, legal
matters are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. As
such, there can be no assurance that the final outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's
financial condition and results of operations.

9. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

As of September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015, there were 300,000,000 shares of authorized common stock, and
25,060,277 and 23,383,125 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively. Except as otherwise
provided by Delaware law, the holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all
matters to be voted upon by the stockholders.

Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized three series of preferred stock, including classes of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B

Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. At this time, there is no Series A or Series B preferred stock
outstanding. Only Series C Preferred Stock is outstanding, as described below.
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Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

Prior to September 16, 2013, the Company had authorized a class of series A preferred shares, but none of those
shares were issued or outstanding. On September 16, 2013, the Company eliminated the prior class of series A
preferred shares and created a new class of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series A
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock™). The Company authorized the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of the
Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock. The designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of
Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are
summarized as follows:

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock have an initial stated value of 1,000 per share (the
"Stated Value").

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock are entitled to receive quarterly cumulative
dividends at a rate equal to 7% per annum of the Stated Value whenever funds are legally available and when and as
declared by the Company's board of directors. If the Company declares a dividend or the distribution of its assets,
the holders of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall be entitled to participate in the distribution to
the same extent as if they had converted each share of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock held into
Company common stock.

Each share of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is convertible, at the option of the holders, into
shares of Company common stock at a conversion price of $1.15.

The Company may redeem any or all of the outstanding Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock at any
time at the then current Stated Value, subject to a redemption premium of (i) 8% if redeemed prior to the one year
anniversary of the initial issuance date; (ii) 6% if redeemed on or after the one year anniversary of the initial issuance
date and prior to the two year anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iii) 4% if redeemed on or after the two year
anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the three year anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iv) 2% if
redeemed on or after the three year anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the 42 months anniversary of
the initial issuance date; and (v) 0% if redeemed on or after the 42 months anniversary of the initial issuance
date. However, no premium shall be due on the use of up to 33% of proceeds of a public offering of common shares
at a price of $1.00 or more per share.

The Company is required to redeem the Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock on the fifth anniversary of
its issuance.

Upon a change of control of the Company, the holders of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to a change of control premium of (i) 8% if redeemed prior to the one year anniversary of the initial issuance
date; (ii) 6% if redeemed on or after the one year anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the two year
anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iii) 4% if redeemed on or after the two year anniversary of the initial
issuance date and prior to the three year anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iv) 2% if redeemed on or after the
three year anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the 42 months anniversary of the initial issuance date;
and (v) 0% if redeemed on or after the 42 months anniversary of the initial issuance date.

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock are senior in liquidation preference to the shares of
Company common stock.

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights except as required by
law.
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The consent of the holders of 51% of the outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
shall be necessary for the Company to: (i) create or issue any Company capital stock (or any securities convertible
into any Company capital stock) having rights, preferences or privileges senior to or on parity with the Series A
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock; or (ii) amend the Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.
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Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

On September 16, 2013, the Company created 50,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock™). The designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are summarized as follows:

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock have an initial stated value of $1,000 per share.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are convertible, at the option of the holders, into shares of
Company common stock at a conversion price of $1.15. The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock may
only be converted from and after the earlier of either of: (x) the first trading day immediately following (i) the
closing sale price of the Company's common stock being equal to or greater than $1.67 per share (as adjusted for
stock dividends, stock splits, stock combinations and other similar transactions occurring with respect to the
Company's common stock from and after the initial issuance date) for a period of five consecutive trading days
following the initial issuance date and (ii) the average daily trading volume of the Company's common stock (as
reported on Bloomberg) on the principal securities exchange or trading market where the Company's common stock
is listed or traded during the measuring period equaling or exceeding 25,000 shares of Company's common stock per
trading day (the conditions set forth in the immediately preceding clauses (i) and (ii) are referred to herein as the
“Trading Price Conditions”) or (y) immediately prior to the consummation of a “fundamental transaction”, regardless of
whether the Trading Price Conditions have been satisfied prior to such time. A “fundamental transaction” is defined as
(i) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, (ii) a sale of at least 90% of the shares of capital
stock of the Company or (iii) a merger, consolidation or other business combination as a result of which the holders
of capital stock of the Company prior to such merger, consolidation or other business combination (as the case may
be) hold in the aggregate less than 50% of the Voting Stock of the surviving entity immediately following the
consummation of such merger, consolidation or other business combination (as the case may be), in each case of
clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), the Board has determined that the aggregate implied value of the Company's capital stock in
such transaction is equal to or greater than 125,000.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are not redeemable by either the Company or the holders thereof.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are on parity in dividends and liquidation preference with the
shares of Company common stock, which shall be payable only if then convertible into common stock.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights except as required by law.

The consent of the holders of 51% of the outstanding shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall be
necessary for the Company to alter, amend or change any of the terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock.

At September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015, there were no shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding.
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Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

On October 24, 2014, the Company created a new class of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock (the
“Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock™). The Company authorized the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of
the Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock. The rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the shares
of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are summarized as
follows:

The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock have a stated value of $1,000 per share.

Each holder of a share of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends
(“Dividends”) on such share equal to twelve percent (12%) per annum (the “Dividend Rate”) of the Stated Value before
any Dividends shall be declared, set apart for or paid upon any junior stock or parity stock. Dividends on a share of
Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall accrue daily at the Dividend Rate, commence accruing on
the issuance date thereof, compound annually, be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve
30-day months and be convertible into common stock in connection with the conversion of such share of Series C
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.

Each share of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is convertible, at the option of the holders, on the
basis of its stated value and accrued, but unpaid dividends, into shares of Company common stock at a conversion
price of $4.00 per common share.

The Company may redeem any or all of the outstanding Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock at any
time at the then current Stated Value plus accrued Dividends thereon plus a redemption premium equal to the Stated
Value multiplied by 6%. However, no premium shall be due on the use of up to 33% of proceeds of a public
offering of common shares at a price of $5.00 or more per share.

The Company is required to redeem each Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock on the tenth business
day immediately following the fifth anniversary of its issuance. However, the Company shall have no obligation to
mandatorily redeem any shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock at any time that (x) the
Company does not have surplus under Section 154 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) or funds
legally available to redeem all shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, (y) the Company's capital
is impaired under Section 160 of the DGCL or (z) the redemption of any shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Stock would result in an impairment of the Company's capital under Section 160 of the DGCL; provided,
that if the Company is prohibited from redeeming the shares due to those limitations, the Company will redeem the
Shares as soon as possible after such restrictions are no longer applicable.

Upon a change of control of the Company, each holder of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to require the Company to redeem from such holder all of such holder's shares of Series C Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock so long as such holder requests such redemption in writing at least one business day
prior to the consummation of such change of control. The redemption amount per share equals the Stated Value
thereof plus accrued Dividends plus a change of control premium equal to the stated value multiplied 6%.

The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock are senior in liquidation preference to all shares of
capital stock of the Company unless otherwise consented to by a majority of the holders of shares of Series C
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.

The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights except as required by
law.
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The consent of the holders of a majority of the shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is
necessary for the Company to amend the Series C certificate of designation.
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The Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is not classified as a component of stockholders' equity in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Likewise, the undeclared dividends related to Series C Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock have been recorded as an addition within the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock
account in the amount of $307 for the three months ended September 30, 2015.

Securities Purchase Agreement

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement discussed in Note 7, Loans Payable, SIC III acquired a total of 10,000
Shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock for $10,000. The Company also agreed to issue to SIC IIT
warrants to purchase a total of 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company issued warrants to
purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for every $1,000 of purchase price paid for the shares. The
exercise price of the warrants was 10% above the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date prior to the
issuance of the warrants. Exercise of the warrants was subject to approval of the Company’s stockholders, which
occurred on January 13, 2015.

On November 25, 2014, SIC III purchased 3,000 shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock for
$3,000. The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at its fair value as of the date of the purchase of November 25, 2014. In addition, in
accordance with the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company also issued SIC III warrants to purchase 150,000
shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $2.98, which was 10% above the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date prior to issuance.

On March 16, 2015, SIC III purchased 7,000 additional shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
for $7,000. The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at its fair value as of the date of the purchase of March 16, 2015. In addition, in
accordance with the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company also issued SIC III warrants to purchase 350,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.78, which was 10% above the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date prior to issuance.

In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company recorded total stock compensation expense based
on the fair value of the Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock and warrants of $2,091 during the year
ended June 30, 2015.

Non-controlling Interest

As discussed in Note 4, Acquisitions, on September 8, 2015, the Company acquired the assets of the DraftDay
Business and its operations have been consolidated with the Company's operations as of that date. The Company has
recorded non-controlling interest in its Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Operations for
the portion of the DraftDay Business that the Company does not own.

10. Share-Based Payments

Equity Incentive Plan

The 2011 Executive Incentive Plan (the "Plan") of the Company was approved on February 21, 2011 by the written
consent of the holder of a majority of the Company's outstanding common stock. The Plan provides the Company the
ability to grant to any officer, director, employee, consultant or other person who provides services to the Company or

any related entity, options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, dividend equivalents and other
stock-based awards and performance awards, provided that only employees are entitled to receive incentive stock
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options in accordance with IRS guidelines. The Company reserved 6,250,000 shares of common stock for delivery
under the Plan. Pursuant to the Executive Incentive Plan and the employment agreements, between February 15, 2011
and September 30, 2015, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors authorized the grants of
restricted stock and stock options described below.
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Restricted Stock

The per share fair value of RSUs granted with service conditions was determined on the date of grant using the fair
market value of the shares on that date and is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Shares Value
Nonvested at July 1, 2015 466,257 $41.00
Granted 271,427 1.63
Vested (323,177 ) 1.70
Forfeited and canceled (115,947 ) 2.05
Nonvested at September 30, 2015 298,560 $62.17

Compensation expense related to restricted stock was $4,991 and $5,508 for the three months ended September 30,
2015 and 2014, respectively. As of September 30, 2015, there was $7,980 in total unrecognized share-based
compensation costs related to restricted stock.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity for three months ended September 30, 2015:

Weighted
average
Number of exercise
Options price

Outstanding at June 30, 2015 1,181,818 $11.19
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Forfeited and canceled (148,896 ) 7.02
Outstanding at September 30, 2015 1,032,922 $11.78
Exercisable at September 30, 2015 763,565 $14.27

The Company is accounting for these options at fair market value of the options on the date of grant, with the value
being recognized over the requisite service period. The fair value of each option award is estimated using a
Black-Scholes option valuation model. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the price of
comparable companies' stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury issues with a term equal to the
expected life of the option. The Company uses historical data to estimate expected dividend yield, expected life and
forfeiture rates. Options generally have an expiration of 10 years and vest over a period of 3 or 4 years. There were
no options granted during the three months ended September 30, 2015. The fair value of the options granted during
the three months ended September 30, 2014 were estimated based on the following weighted average assumptions:
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Three
Months
Ended
September
30,2014
Expected volatility 80 %
Risk-free interest rate 2.10 %
Expected dividend yield —
Expected life (in years) 6.50
Estimated fair value per option granted $3.18

Compensation expense related to stock options of $173 and $1,882 is included in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations in selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30,
2015 and 2014, respectively. As of September 30, 2015, there was approximately $710 of total unrecognized
stock-based compensation cost which will generally be recognized over a four year period.

11. Income Taxes

For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company did not record an income tax benefit because
it has incurred taxable losses and has no history of generating taxable income and therefore the Company cannot
presently anticipate the realization of a tax benefit on its Net Operating Loss carryforward. At September 30, 2015 the
Company has a Net Operating Loss carryforward of approximately $169,190, which will begin to expire in 2030. The
Company has established a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2015 and June
30, 2015. The deferred tax liability, net is included in other long term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. Income tax expense for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 was $22 and $22,
respectively.

The Company has evaluated its income tax positions and has determined that it does not have any uncertain tax
positions. The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to any uncertain tax positions through its income
tax expense.

The Company may in the future become subject to federal, state and local income taxation though it has not been
since its inception. The Company is not presently subject to any income tax audit in any taxing jurisdiction.

12. Related Party Transactions
Shared Services Agreements

In an effort to economize on costs and be efficient in its use of resources, the Company entered into a shared services
agreement with Circle Entertainment Inc. (“Circle”) as of February 15, 2011, pursuant to which it shares costs for legal
and administrative services in support of Mitchell J. Nelson, its then-General Counsel and General Counsel to Circle.
The shared services agreement provides, in general, for sharing of the applicable support provided by either company
to Mr. Nelson in connection with his capacity as General Counsel. The Company is responsible for advancing the
salary to legal and administrative personnel supporting Mr. Nelson for both companies and will be reimbursed by
Circle for such salary and benefits (but not for any bonus, option or restricted share grant made by either company,
which will be the responsibility of the company making such bonus, option or restricted share grant). The agreement
provides for the Chief Executive Officer or President of each Company to meet periodically to assess whether the
services have been satisfactorily performed and to discuss whether the allocation has been fair. The Audit Committee
of each company's Board of Directors will then review and, if appropriate, approve the allocations made and whether
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payments need to be adjusted or reimbursed, depending on the circumstances. Because this transaction is subject to
certain rules regarding “affiliate” transactions, the Audit Committee and a majority of the independent members of the
Company's Board of Directors have approved the shared services agreement. This is deemed to be an affiliate
transaction because Mr. Sillerman is the former Chairman, a Board member, and a greater than 10% stockholder of
Circle and Mr. Nelson is Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Circle. For the three months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company billed Circle $7 and $7, respectively. Such billings primarily relate to
support consisting of legal and administrative services. These services are to be reviewed and, if appropriate, approved
by Circle's Audit Committee and the Company's Audit Committee. The balance due from Circle as of September 30,
2015 and June 30, 2015 was $118 and $113, respectively. The Company is in the process of terminating the shared
services agreement with Circle.
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The Company also entered into a shared services agreement with SFX, pursuant to which it shares costs for services
provided by several of the Company's and/or SFX's employees. Such employees will continue to be paid by their
current employers, and SFX will reimburse the Company directly for its portion of such salary and benefits and
Company will reimburse SFX directly for its portion of such salary and benefits (but not for any bonus, option or
restricted share grant made by either company, which will be the responsibility of the company making such bonus,
option or restricted share grant). The Audit Committee of each company's Board of Directors reviews and, if
appropriate, approves the allocations made and whether payments need to be adjusted or reimbursed, depending on
the circumstances. The Company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the shared services agreement on
January 22, 2015, pursuant to which the Company may provide additional services to SFX, and SFX may provide
certain services to the Company. In particular, the shared services agreement provides that, in addition to services
already provided, certain employees of the Company may provide human resources, content and programming, and
facilities services to SFX, subject to reimbursement based on salary and benefits for the employees providing the
services, plus 20% for miscellaneous overhead, based on a reasonable estimate of time spent. In addition, the
Amendment provides that SFX may provide certain tax services to the Company, subject to reimbursement based on
salary and benefits for the employees providing the services, plus 20% for miscellaneous overhead, based on a
reasonable estimate of time spent.

For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company billed SFX $199 and $168, net of amounts
billed by SFX to the Company, respectively. The net balance due from SFX, including amounts related to the Sales
Agency Agreement, discussed below, as of September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 was $199 and $146, respectively.

Sales Agency Agreement

On January 22, 2015, the Company entered into a sales agency agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with SFX-94 LLC
(“SFX-94"), a subsidiary of SFX, pursuant to which the Company appoints SFX-94 as its exclusive sales agent for the
sale of advertising and sponsorships. Pursuant to the Sales Agreement, the Company consented to SFX-94’s hiring of
25 members of the Company’s sales team, and SFX-94 agreed that it will sell advertising and sponsorships on behalf
of the Company during the term of the Sales Agreement. SFX-94 also agreed that it will maintain adequate staffing
levels, generally consistent with staffing levels currently maintained by the Company, for the Company’s sale of
advertising and sponsorships. The Company will pay SFX-94 a 25% commission on sales made by SFX-94. For
barter transactions, the Company will reimburse SFX-94 for any out of pocket and direct costs incurred by SFX-94
with respect to such barter sales (rather than the commission set forth above), and third party ad networks will be
excluded from the Sales Agreement. For the three months ended September 30, 2015, the Company was billed $96 in
connection with the Sales Agreement. On September 22, 2015, the parties agreed to terminate the Sales Agreement,
and the Company subsequently hired 8 members of the SFX sales team as of that date.

License Agreement

On March 10, 2014, the Company entered into an audio recognition and related loyalty program software license and
services agreement with SFX. Pursuant to the terms of the license agreement, SFX paid the Company $5,000 to
license its audio recognition software and related loyalty platform for a term of 10 years. The amount was deferred
and is being amortized over the ten year period. For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the
Company recognized $125 and $125, respectively, of revenue related to this agreement.
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Lines of Credit

See Note 7, Loans Payable, for a description of certain loans which have been provided by related parties. In
addition, see Note 14, Subsequent Events, for additional discussion of certain related party transactions.

Related Approvals

Because the above transactions were subject to certain rules regarding “affiliate” transactions, the Company's Audit
Committee and a majority of the independent members of the Company's Board of Directors approved each of these
transactions.

13. Fair Value Measurement

The Company values its assets and liabilities using the methods of fair value as described in ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures. ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs
used in measuring fair value. The three levels of fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable
in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3 — Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible, and considers counter-party credit risk in its

assessment of fair value. Observable or market inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while

unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions based on the best information available. The Company has
certain liabilities that are required to be recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States, as described below.

The Company issued 21,364 warrants in connection with the May 10, 2012 PIPE. Each warrant has a sale price of
$440 and is exercisable into 1 share of common stock at a price of $640 over a term of three years. Further, the
exercise price of the warrants is subject to "down round" protection, whereby any issuance of shares at a price below
the current price resets the exercise price equal to a the price of newly issued shares (the "Warrants"). In connection
with the PIPE Exchanges on September 16, 2013, the exercise price of the Warrants was reset to $92. The fair value
of such warrants has been determined utilizing the Binomial Lattice Model in accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair
Value Measurements. The fair value of the warrants when issued was $5,281. On September 16, 2013, 6,818
warrants were exchanged in connection with the PIPE Exchanges. The remaining 14,545 warrants were marked to
market as of September 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014 to a fair value of $10 and $10. The Company recorded
gains of $0 and $5 to other income, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The fair value of the warrant is classified as a current liability on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2015, due to the Company's intention to retire a significant portion of
these warrants in its next round of financing. The Company's warrants were classified as a Level 3 input within the
fair value hierarchy because they were valued using unobservable inputs and management's judgment due to the
absence of quoted market prices and inherent lack of liquidity.
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The Company estimated the fair value of contingent consideration for the acquisition of Choose Digital to be $4,792
as of June 30, 2015. The fair value of the contingent consideration was classified as Level 3 within the fair value
hierarchy because it was valued using unobservable inputs and management's judgment. See Note 4, Acquisitions, for
details related to payments made on the contingent consideration during the three months ended September 30, 2015.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of items measured at fair value on a recurring basis using unobservable
inputs (level 3):

(in
thousands)
Balance at June 30, 2015 $4,802
Additions to Level 3 —
Unrealized (gains) losses for the period included in other income (expense), net —
Payments (1,728 )
Balance at September 30, 2015 $3,074

14. Subsequent Events

Line of Credit Draws

As discussed in Note 7, Loans Payable, on June 11, 2015, SIC IV agreed to provide a Line of Credit Grid Note to the
Company of up to $10,000 (the “Grid Note”). On October 14, 2015 and October 30, 2015, the Company borrowed

additional amounts of $500 and $600, respectively, under the Grid Note. As of the filing of this Form 10-Q, the
balance of the Grid Note is $7,675.

B-27

142



Edgar Filing: Viggle Inc. - Form DEF 14C

Viggle Inc.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Viggle Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Viggle Inc. (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2015 and
2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for the years
then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to, nor
were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall consolidated financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Viggle Inc. at June 30, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as
a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring
losses from operations and at June 30, 2015 has a deficiency in working capital that raise substantial doubt about its
ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

/s BDO USA, LLP

New York, NY
September 21, 2015
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands, except share data)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $95 at June 30, 2015 and
2014)

Prepaid expenses

Other receivables
Restricted cash

Total current assets
Restricted cash

Property & equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities, convertible redeemable preferred stock and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Reward points payable

Contingent consideration liability

Common stock warrant liability

Deferred revenue

Current portion of loans payable

Total current liabilities

Loans payable, less current portion

Deferred revenue

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, $1,000 stated value, authorized
100,000 shares, issued and outstanding -0- shares as of June 30, 2015 and 2014

Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, $1,000 stated value, authorized
100,000 shares, issued and outstanding of 10,000 and -0- shares as of June 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively

Commitments and contingencies - see note 8

Stockholders' equity:

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $1,000 stated value, authorized 50,000 shares,
issued and outstanding -0- shares as of June 30, 2015 and 2014

Common stock, $0.001 par value: authorized 300,000,000 shares, issued and
outstanding 23,383,125 and 15,743,541 shares as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital

Treasury stock, 215,164 and 211,414 shares at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively
Accumulated deficit

June 30,
2015

$4,217

4,119
633
661
9,630
695
2,448
21,313
35,833
310
$70,229

$9,497
9,029
4,792
10
593
1,575
25,496
22,516
3,854
2,216
54,082

11,815

23
383,585
(11,916
(367,360

June 30,
2014

$7

3,962
949

80
5,000
9,998
700
2,613
28,810
36,627
351

$79,099

$7,810

4,927
4,792
15

911
15,000
33,455

4,354
1,488
39,297

16

340,163
(11,556 )
(288,821 )
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Total stockholders' equity 4,332 39,802
Total liabilities, convertible redeemable preferred stock and stockholders' equity $70,229 $79,099

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended  Year Ended

June 30, June 30,

2015 2014
Revenues $25,526 $17,985
Cost of watchpoints and engagement points (9,574 ) (2,310 )
Selling, general and administrative expenses (92,360 ) (81,534 )
Operating loss (76,408 ) (65,859 )
Other expense:
Other income, net 6 320
Interest expense, net (2,050 ) (2,805 )
Total other expense (2,044 ) (2,485 )
Net loss before provision for income taxes (78,452 ) (68,344 )
Income tax expense (87 ) (92 )
Net loss (78,539 ) (68,436 )
Accretion of Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock 135 352
Undeclared Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock Dividend (468 ) —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(78,872 ) $(68,084 )
Net loss per common share attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted $4.71 ) $(21.02 )
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted 16,741,855 3,239,598

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Balance June 30,
2013

Net loss
Compensation
charge for

warrants issued in

connection with
borrowings on
line of credit
Preferred stock
issued in
exchange for
$20M 8% Note
and common
shares
Preferred stock
issued in
exchange for
common shares
and warrants
Rescission of
shares in
exchange for
warrants

Stock
compensation
expense in
connection with
issuance of

preferred stock in

exchange for
convertible note,
common shares
and warrants

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(amounts in thousands)

Common
Stock

$1

Extinguishment of

embedded
derivative within
convertible debt

Extinguishment of

a portion of
common stock
warrant liability
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Viggle Inc.

Class B Additional

Preferred Paid-In Treasury
Stock Capital Stock
$— $186,567 $—

3,810

2,793 2,580 (5,736

1,204 (13,843 ) (1,905
3,450 (3,450
6,259
3,854
92

Due from
Executive
Officer

$(3,561

Accumulated

Deficit

) $(220,385 ) $(37,378

(68,436

)

Total

)

(68,436 )

3,810

(363

)

(14,544 )

6,259

3,854

92
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Common shares
issued for
wetpaint
acquisition
Common shares
issued for Dijit
acquisition
Common shares
issued for Choose
Digital acquisition
Exchange of Class
A and Class B
Preferred Stock
for common stock
Common stock
offering

Common stock
issued in
connection with
anti-dilution
provisions for
Wetpaint and Dijit
acquisitions
Purchase of
common shares
from former
officer
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(3,997

)

31,553

2,809

8,048

41,628

31,808

4,561

(465

)

31,554

2,809

8,050

37,638

31,812

4,562

(465
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Interest income on
note receivable
from Executive
Officer

Payment of note
receivable from
Officer

Interest income on
note receivable
from shareholders
Accretion of
Series A
Convertible
Redeemable
Preferred Stock
Employee stock
options-share
based
compensation
Restricted
stock-share based
compensation
Balance June 30,
2014 $16 $—
Net loss

Purchase of
common shares
from former
officer

Accretion of
Series C
Convertible
Redeemable
Preferred Stock
Undeclared Series
C Preferred Stock
Dividend
Common stock
offerings 6
Common stock
issued for services
Common stock
issued in
settlement

of Blue Spike
litigation

Share based
compensation in
connection with

(85

3,646

a )

352

7,014

19,622

$340,163  $(11,556 ) $—

(360 )

135

(468 )
12,453

208

139
2,657

(85

3,646

(1

352

7,014

19,622

$(288,821 ) $39,802

(78,539

)

(78,539

(360

135

(468
12,459

208

139
2,657

)

)

)
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Securities
Purchase
Agreement
Restricted stock -
share based
compensation
Employee stock
options share
based
compensation
Balance June 30,
2015
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24,648

3,650
$— $383,585  $(11,916 ) $—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

24,649

3,650

$(367,360 ) $4,332
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Viggle Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)

Operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Restricted stock based compensation

Employee stock options - share based compensation

Share based compensation in connection with securities purchase agreement
Write-off of certain intangible assets related to Choose Digital
Stock issued for services

Stock issued in settlement of litigation

Stock compensation in connection with line of credit borrowing
Compensation charge in connection with issuance of preferred stock in exchange for
$20M 8% Note, common shares and warrants

Interest expense related to November 25, 2013 PIPE Exchange
Decrease in fair value of convertible debt embedded derivative
Decrease in fair value of common stock warrants

Increase (decrease) in fair value of contingent consideration related to acquisitions
Accretion of note discount

Depreciation and amortization

Interest income on notes receivable from shareholders and officer
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses

Restricted cash

Other assets

Deferred revenue

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Reward points payable

Other

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities:

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Purchase of property and equipment

Capitalized software costs

Repayment of Recapitalization Note from Executive Officer

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Financing activities:

Issuance of common stock and warrants for cash

Proceeds from loans

Repayments on loans

Sale of Class C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
Purchase of common shares from former officer

Year Ended
June 30,
2015

$(78,539

24,649
3,650
4,140
2,086
208
139

5
2,222
115
6,040

(157
(581
316

41
(818
1,737
4,102
40
(30,695

(113
(1,051

(1,164

12,459
35,975
(27,000
10,000
(360

Year Ended
June 30,
2014

) $(68,436 )
19,622
7,014
3,810
6,259
1,231
(16 )

) (428 )
(2,064 )
5,914
(86 )

) (385 )

) 156

138

(194 )

) 4,865
(8,179 )
(3,009 )

) 225

) (33,563 )
(1,433 )

) (225 )

) (1,124 )
3,646

) 864
31,812
27,500

) (22,500 )

) (465 )
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Restricted cash

Term loan agreement security interest

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash

Cash at beginning of period

Cash at end of period

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for interest
Non-Cash investing activities:

Landlord lease incentive build-out allowance

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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4,995

36,069
4,210

$4,217
$999

$449

(5,000

31,347

(1,352

1,359
$7

$526
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Viggle Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Viggle Inc., and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
Company has 9 wholly-owned subsidiaries, Function(x) Inc., Project Oda, Inc., Sports Hero Inc., Loyalize Inc.,
Viggle Media Inc., VX Acquisition Corp., Viggle Merger Sub II Inc., Wetpaint.com, Inc., and Choose Digital Inc.,
each a Delaware corporation. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

On March 19, 2014, the Company effectuated a 1-for-80 reverse stock split (the “1-for-80 Reverse Split”). Under the
terms of the 1-for-80 Reverse Split, each share of common stock, issued and outstanding as of such effective date, was
automatically reclassified and changed into one-eightieth of one share of common stock, without any action by the
stockholder. Fractional shares were cashed out. All share and per share amounts have been restated to reflect the
1-for-80 Reverse Split.

Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the Company's ability to

continue to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company is unlikely to

generate significant revenue or earnings in the immediate or foreseeable future. The continuation of the Company as a

going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support from its stockholders, the ability of the Company to

obtain necessary equity or debt financing to continue development of its business and to generate revenue.

Management intends to raise additional funds through equity and/or debt offerings until sustainable revenues are

developed. There is no assurance such equity and/or debt offerings will be successful and therefore there is

substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the financial
statements are issued. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from

the outcome of these uncertainties.

2. Line of Business
The Company's Line of Business

Viggle is a mobile and web-based entertainment marketing platform that uses incentives to make content consumption
and discovery more rewarding for media companies, brands and consumers. Viggle helps guide consumers towards
various forms of media consumption with television enhancement, music discovery, entertainment content publishing
and distributed viewing reminders. Viggle helps consumers decide what to watch and when, broadens the viewing
experience with real time games and additional content, and rewards viewers for being loyal to their favorite shows
throughout a season, allowing them to earn points. For brands, Viggle provides advertising clients with targeted
interactive ads to amplify their TV messaging to verified audiences. For media companies, Viggle delivers
promotional benefits by driving viewers to specific shows, engaging them in a richer content experience, and
increasing awareness of promoted shows through web, mobile and social channels.

The Company's content website, wetpaint.com, extends its promotional capabilities by reaching potential viewers

before a TV show is broadcast and by allowing viewers to continue the conversation with additional show coverage
after the broadcast date. The Company also has technology that helps consumers search for media and set reminders
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to watch their favorite TV shows and movies wherever they are offered. In addition, the Company recently launched
its music service, which allows consumers to check-in to songs on Viggle and also earn points. As a media company,
Viggle seeks to attract a significant and growing audience in order to sell advertising. The Company believes that
making entertainment more rewarding and engaging for consumers will drive them to use Viggle.
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U.S. consumers can become Viggle users through a free App that works on multiple types of mobile phones and
tablets and is distributed through the Apple App Store and the Google Play Store. After a consumer downloads the
App, he or she must create an account. Viggle then allows consumers to play along with TV shows, share comments
through social media, answer trivia questions or polls, chat with friends, play games, or discover more about the show,
all while watching TV. Users can also use the App to discover new music. The App can listen to a song and identify
it and allow users to build playlists and purchase the music. All of this activity earns users points they can redeem for
real rewards.

The Viggle user experience is simple. While watching TV or listening to music, a user taps the “check-in” button, which
activates the device’s microphone. Viggle collects an audio sample of the content the user can hear and uses
technology to convert that sample into a digital fingerprint. Within seconds, that digital fingerprint is matched against
applicable databases.

Through wetpaint.com, the Company reports original news stories and publishes information content covering top
television shows, music, celebrities, entertainment news and fashion. Wetpaint publishes more than 70 new articles,
videos and galleries each day. The Company generates revenues through wetpaint.com by displaying advertisements
to wetpaint.com users as they view its content.

The Company has purchased and will continue to source rewards from vendors that it will issue to users upon the
redemption of their points. The Company has not generated sufficient revenue to date to cover the cost of rewards and
its other costs of doing business, and there is no guarantee that it will be able to generate sufficient revenue in the
future to continue to purchase rewards from vendors or continue its business.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid securities purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates market value and primarily consists of money
market funds that are readily convertible into cash. Restricted cash comprises amounts held in deposit that were
required as collateral under the lease of office space and security interest held by Deutsche Bank Trust Company
Americas in connection with the Company's Term Loan Agreement.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company's allowance for doubtful
accounts is based upon historical loss patterns, the number of days that the billings are past due and an evaluation of
the potential risk associated with delinquent accounts. The Company also considers any changes to the financial
condition of its customers and any other external market factors that could impact the collectability of its receivables
in the determination of its allowance for doubtful accounts.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash
and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with domestic

financial institutions of high credit quality. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing
of all of such institutions.
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The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers to assess the probability of accounts receivable
collection based on a number of factors, including past transaction experience with the customer, evaluation of their
credit history, and review of the invoicing terms of the contract. The Company generally does not require collateral.
The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses on customer accounts when deemed necessary. Actual
credit losses during the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were not significant.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other
receivables and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these
financial instruments. The carrying amount of loans payable approximates fair value as current borrowing rates for
the same, or similar loans, are the same as those that were recently issued to the Company.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment (consisting primarily of computers, software, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold
improvements) is recorded at historical cost and is depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives. The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure they are consistent with the
anticipated pattern of future economic benefits. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred, while betterments are capitalized. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the results of
operations. The estimated useful lives of the Company's property and equipment is as follows: computer equipment
and software: 3 years; furniture and fixtures: 4 years; and leasehold improvements: the lesser of the lease term or
life of the asset.

Goodwill and Certain Other Long-Lived Assets

As required by ASC 350, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company tests goodwill for impairment during
the fourth quarter of its fiscal year. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level at least annually and more frequently upon occurrence of certain events. The Company has one reporting
unit. The annual goodwill impairment test is a two step process. First, the Company determines if the carrying value
of its reporting unit exceeds fair value, which would indicate that goodwill may be impaired. If the Company then
determines that goodwill may be impaired, it compares the implied fair value of the goodwill to its carrying amount to
determine if there is an impairment loss.

There were no impairments of goodwill during the year ended June 30, 2015 or 2014 as the fair value of the reporting
unit exceeded its carrying amount.

The Company accounts for the impairment of long-lived assets other than goodwill in accordance with ASC 360,
“Property, Plant, and Equipment”, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of
long-lived assets. ASC 360 requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived assets used in operations when
indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are
less than the assets' carrying amounts. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying
amount exceeds the fair value of the long-lived assets. Loss on long-lived assets to be disposed of is determined in a
similar manner, except that fair values are reduced for the cost of disposal.

At June 30, 2015, the Company determined that certain intangible assets related to the acquisition of Choose Digital
(see Note 4, Acquisitions for further detail regarding the Choose Digital acquisition) were impaired. Due to a shift in
the Company's business operations and utilization of its resources, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, the
Company determined that intangible assets related to customer relationships and trade name no longer had
value. Therefore, such assets were written off as of June 30, 2015. The total amount of the write off was $2,086 and
is included in Selling, general and administrative costs in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations. There were no other impairments of long-lived assets during the year ended June 30, 2015 or 2014.

Capitalized Software
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The Company records amortization of acquired software on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
software.
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In addition, the Company records and capitalizes internally generated computer software and, appropriately, certain
internal costs have been capitalized in the amounts of $5,006 and $5,244 as of June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014,
respectively, in accordance with ASC 350-40 "Internal-use Software". At the time software is placed into service, the
Company records amortization on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software.

Deferred Rent

The Company is party to a lease for office space for its corporate office, and as part of the agreement the landlord
provided a rent abatement for the first 10 months of the lease. In 2014, the Company entered into two lease
agreements for its satellite offices which provided for tenant improvement work sponsored by the landlords. The
abatement and landlord sponsored improvements have been accounted for as a reduction of rental expense over the
life of the lease. The Company accounts for rental expense on a straight line basis over the entire term of the
lease. Deferred rent is equal to the cumulative timing difference between actual rent payments and recognized rental
expense.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence exists of an arrangement with the customer
reflecting the terms and conditions under which products or services will be provided; (2) delivery has occurred or
services have been provided; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (4) collection is reasonably assured. For all
revenue transactions, the Company considers a signed agreement, a binding insertion order or other similar
documentation to be persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

Advertising Revenue: the Company generates advertising revenue primarily from display and video advertising,
which is typically sold on a cost-per-thousand impressions, or CPM basis, and completed engagements on a cost per
engagement, or CPE basis. Advertising campaigns typically range from 1 to 12 months, and advertisers generally pay
the Company based on a minimum of delivered impressions or the satisfaction of other criteria, such as
click-throughs.

Deferred Revenue: deferred revenue consists principally of both prepaid but unrecognized revenue and advertising
fees received or billed in advance of the delivery or completion of the delivery of services. Deferred revenue is
recognized as revenue when the services are provided and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Barter Revenue: barter transactions represent the exchange of advertising or programming for advertising,
merchandise or services. Barter transactions which exchange advertising for advertising are accounted for in
accordance with EITF Issue No. 99-17 "Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions" (ASC Topic
605-20-25). Such transactions are recorded at the fair value of the advertising provided based on the Company's own
historical practice of receiving cash for similar advertising from buyers unrelated to the counter party in the barter
transactions. Barter transactions which exchange advertising or programming for merchandise or services are
recorded at the monetary value of the revenue expected to be realized from the ultimate disposition of merchandise or
services.

The Company recognized barter revenue and barter expense for the year ended June 30, 2015 of $12,512 and $12,512,
respectively. The Company recognized barter revenue and barter expense for the year ended June 30, 2014 of $4,640
and $4,640, respectively.

License Revenue: in addition to generating revenue from display and video advertising, from time to time the

Company may also generate revenue from licensing its proprietary audio recognition software and related loyalty
platform. Generally, revenue from such agreements is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement.

159



Edgar Filing: Viggle Inc. - Form DEF 14C

Watchpoints and Engagement Points

The Company issues points to its users as an incentive to utilize the App and its features. Users can redeem these
points for rewards. The Company records the cost of these points based on the weighted average cost of redemptions
during the period. Points earned but not redeemed are classified as a liability.
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Users earn points for various activities within the Company's App. The Company reports points earned for
checking-in to shows and points earned for engaging in advertiser sponsored content as a separate line in its
Consolidated Statements of Operations ("Cost of watchpoints and engagement points"). All other points earned by
users are reflected as a marketing expense in Selling, general and administrative expense.

During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Company recorded an adjustment reducing its point liability by
approximately $2,304 related to the Company's estimate of "breakage". Breakage relates to the amount of points the
Company estimates will never be redeemed by users. During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Company determined
that it had sufficient history and experience in order to properly estimate breakage. During the year ended June 30,
2014, the Company also recorded an adjustment reducing its point liability by approximately $2,400 related to a
change in estimate of the average cost per point earned for users of the Viggle App. There were no such adjustments
recorded during the year ended June 30, 2015.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock
Compensation. Under the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718, stock-based compensation cost is measured
at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service
period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options and
warrants issued. Stock-based awards issued to date are comprised of both restricted stock awards (RSUs) and
employee stock options.

Marketing

Marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Marketing expense for the years ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014
was $19,049 and $8,651, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under
the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement
and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis
differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is unlikely that the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. We assess our income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon
our evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting date. In accordance with ASC
740-10, for those tax positions where there is a greater than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, our
policy will be to record the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income tax positions
where there is less than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit will be recognized in the
financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include, among others, fair value of financial assets
and liabilities, net realizable values on long-lived assets, certain accrued expense accounts, and estimates related to
stock-based compensation. The Company tested the percentage of users in the 90-day inactive that eventually reach
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the 1-year inactive by selecting the period from February 1, 2013 to May 2, 2013 and determined that 86% of those
that were inactive for 90 days during that period eventually reached the 1 year of inactivity and their points expired.
This rewards breakage percentage is consistent with the Company’s expectation and the overall behavior of the user
base. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

On August 27, 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial
Statements - Going Concern ("ASU 2014-15"). The standard provides guidance on determining when and how to
disclose going-concern uncertainties in the financial statements. The new standard requires management to perform
interim and annual assessments of an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year of the date the
financial statements are issued. An entity must provide certain disclosures if “conditions or events raise substantial
doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.” The ASU applies to all entities and is effective for
annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and interim periods thereafter (July 1, 2016 for the Company), with
early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2014-05 and it has been disclosed within the consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
("ASU 2014-09"). The standard provides companies with a single model for use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers and supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific
revenue guidance. The core principle of the model is to recognize revenue when control of the goods or services
transfers to the customer, as opposed to recognizing revenue when the risks and rewards transfer to the customer
under the existing revenue guidance. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15,2017 (July 1, 2018 for the Company). Early adoption is not permitted. The guidance permits companies to either
apply the requirements retrospectively to all prior periods presented, or apply the requirements in the year of adoption,
through a cumulative adjustment. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the
impact of adoption on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810) -
Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis (“ASU 2015-02”). ASU 2015-02 improves certain areas of consolidation
guidance for reporting organizations (i.e., public, private, and not-for-profit) that are required to evaluate whether to
consolidate certain legal entities such as limited partnerships, limited liability corporations, and securitization
structures (e.g., collateralized debt/loan obligations). ASU 2015-02 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim
period. The Company believes the adoption of ASU 2015-02 will not have a material effect on its consolidated
financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-05, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other -
Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40) ("ASU 2015-05"). ASU 2015-05 provides guidance to customers about
whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a
software license, then the customer should account for the software license element of the arrangement consistent with
the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the
customer should account for the arrangement as a service contract. ASU 2015-05 is effective for annual periods,
including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company believes the adoption of ASU 2015-02 will not have a material effect on its consolidated
financial statements.

4. Acquisitions

Acquisition of Dijit

On January 29, 2014, the Company acquired Dijit Media, a San Francisco based maker of technology that helps
consumers search for, find, and set reminders for their favorite TV shows and movies wherever and whenever they are

offered. The operations of this acquisition are not material, and thus, pro forma disclosures are not
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presented. Goodwill related to the acquisition is non-deductible for income tax purposes.
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Acquisition of Wetpaint

On December 16, 2013, the Company and Viggle Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned
subsidiary of Viggle (“Merger Sub”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with
Wetpaint.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Wetpaint”), certain stockholders of Wetpaint and Shareholder
Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (solely in its capacity as the Stockholders’ Agent)
("the Acquisition"). On December 16, 2013, Merger Sub merged with and into Wetpaint, with Wetpaint continuing as

the surviving corporation and the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary. The Acquisition is intended to qualify as a
tax-free reorganization under Section 368(a) of the Code.

Wetpaint is a Seattle, Washington-based Internet company, founded in 2005, that publishes the website Wetpaint.com,
focused on entertainment news, and develops a proprietary technology platform, the Social Distribution System, that
is used to provide analytics for its own website as well as other online publishers.

In connection with the Acquisition, all outstanding shares of Wetpaint capital stock were converted into the right to
receive an aggregate amount of cash and shares of Viggle common stock (the “Stock Consideration”) payable as
described below. At the completion of the Acquisition, (i) $1,634 in cash (subject to certain adjustments for payment
of certain transaction expenses by Viggle and bonus and premium payments to certain Wetpaint employees and
stockholders), $22,923 in shares of Viggle common stock (subject to certain adjustments as described below) and
$3,860 in restricted stock units were delivered to the holders of Wetpaint Capital Stock in accordance with the
allocation set forth in the Merger Agreement, and (ii) $4,771 in shares of Viggle common stock (the “Escrow Shares”)
were delivered to an escrow agent to satisfy potential indemnification claims. There are no known indemnification
claims, and the escrow was established to cover claims in the event that any indemnification claims arise or are
discovered. The shares will be held in escrow for a period of twelve months after closing to satisfy any
indemnification claims that might arise during that twelve month period, and if no claims arise, these shares will be
distributed to the former shareholders of Wetpaint. In addition, in February of 2014, Viggle paid an aggregate amount
of approximately $3,367 in cash (subject to certain adjustments for changes in Wetpaint’s net working capital, payment
of certain transaction expenses by Viggle and bonus and premium payments to certain Wetpaint employees and
stockholders) to the holders of Wetpaint capital stock in accordance with the allocation set forth in the acquisition
agreement. The values of shares of Viggle common stock and restricted stock units noted above were based on the
average closing market price of the Company's common stock during the 10 days prior to completion of the
Acquisition, in accordance with the Acquisition Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement, if we completed a recapitalization on or before December 31,
2015, the stock consideration paid in the Acquisition would be adjusted such that (i) if upon giving effect to a
recapitalization, the shares constituting such stock consideration collectively represented less than 13.17% of the total
outstanding shares of our common stock on a fully diluted basis (subject to certain adjustments set forth in the merger
agreement), we would issue to our stockholders that are former stockholders of Wetpaint (the “Wetpaint/Viggle
Holders”) the additional number of shares of our common stock as is necessary such that the shares constituting the
stock consideration, as so adjusted, represented 13.17% of the total outstanding shares of our common stock on a
fully-diluted basis (subject to certain adjustments set forth in the merger agreement) as of such time, and (ii) if upon
giving effect to a recapitalization, the shares constituting the stock consideration collectively represented greater than
17.55% of the total outstanding shares of our common stock on a fully-diluted basis (subject to certain adjustments set
forth in the merger agreement), then we will cancel such number of shares of our common stock constituting the stock
consideration as is necessary such that the stock consideration , as so adjusted, valued at $6,100, collectively
represented 17.55% of the total outstanding shares of our common stock on a fully-diluted basis (subject to certain
adjustments set forth in the merger agreement) as of such time. In connection with the public offering and a
recapitalization described below, on April 30, 2014, the Company issued approximately 700,000 shares of common
stock and approximately 98,000 restricted stock units to the former shareholders of Wetpaint.
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The Acquisition has been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805,
Business Combinations. Under the acquisition method, the consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
closing date. The assets of Wetpaint have been measured at their estimated fair values.
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A summary of the fair value of consideration transferred for the Acquisition and the fair value of the assets and
liabilities at the date of acquisition is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Consideration transferred: Amount
Shares of Viggle common stock and restricted stock units based on closing market price at issuance $31,554
Cash paid to sellers 1,619
Contingent consideration 6,100
Total consideration transferred 39,273

Final allocation:

Goodwill 23,788
Intangible assets 19,009
Other assets 1,659
Total liabilities, including acquired accrued expenses (5,183 )
$39,273

The results of operations of Wetpaint were combined with the Company's consolidated results from the date of
acquisition of December 16, 2013. Such results, including revenue and net loss, are not material to the consolidated
results of operations. The amortization period of intangible assets acquired is as follows: technology-7 years,
trademarks-30 years, customer relationships-5 years, and non-compete agreements-3 years. See Note 6, Intangible
Assets and Goodwill for further detail related to the intangible assets acquired. The goodwill recorded in connection
with this acquisition reflects the strategic fit and revenue and earnings growth potential of this
business. Goodwill related to the acquisition is non-deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisition of Choose Digital

On June 24, 2014, the Company acquired Choose Digital Inc. ("Choose Digital"), a Miami, Florida based, digital
marketplace platform that allows companies to incorporate digital content into existing rewards and loyalty programs
in support of marketing and sales initiatives. With the acquisition, the Choose Digital platform will power digital
media rewards for the Viggle platform, including music, audio books, TV and movies, enabling Viggle members to
get free entertainment content just for enjoying their favorite TV shows and music.

In connection with the acquisition, all outstanding shares of Choose Digital capital stock, along with certain
promissory notes payable by Choose Digital, were converted into the right to receive in the aggregate (A)
approximately 1,963,309 shares of Viggle common stock (the “Stock Consideration”), (B) approximately 205,761
restricted stock units, plus (C) a contingent payment, to be made within five business days after the first anniversary of
the closing date, in an aggregate amount up to $4,792, depending on the trading price of Viggle common stock at that
time.

This acquisition has been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805,
Business Combinations. Under the acquisition method, the consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
closing date. The assets of Choose Digital have been measured based on various preliminary estimates using
assumptions that the Company’s management believes are reasonable utilizing information currently available. Use of
different estimates and judgments could yield different results. The Company has performed an allocation of the
purchase price to the underlying net assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of
the acquisition date, with any excess of the purchase price allocated to goodwill.
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A summary of the fair value of consideration transferred for this acquisition and the estimated fair value of the assets
and liabilities at the date of acquisition is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Consideration transferred: Amount
Shares of Viggle common stock and restricted stock units based on closing market price at issuance $8,893
Cash paid at closing 782
Contingent consideration 2,570
Total consideration transferred 12,245

Final allocation:

Goodwill 6,921
Intangible assets 4,660
Other assets 1,033
Total liabilities, including acquired accrued expenses (369 )
$12,245

On June 24, 2015, the Company determined that the maximum amount of contingent consideration of $4,792 should
be recorded. As such, the Company adjusted the original estimate of contingent consideration of $2,570 to
$4,792. The increase of $2,222 is recorded as an expense and included in Selling, general and administrative
expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended June 30, 2015. In addition,
at June 30, 2015, due to a shift in business operations and utilization of resources during the fourth quarter of 2015,
the Company determined that certain intangible assets related to the acquisition of Choose Digital no longer had value
(see Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for further detail).

The results of operations of Choose Digital were combined with the Company's consolidated results from the date of
acquisition of June 24, 2014. Such results, including revenue and net loss, are not material to the consolidated results
of operations. See Note 6, Intangible Assets and Goodwill for further details on intangible assets acquired. The
goodwill recorded in connection with this acquisition reflects the strategic fit and revenue and earnings growth
potential of this business. Goodwill related to the acquisition is non-deductible for income tax purposes.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and Equipment consists of the following:

June 30, June 30,

Description 2015 2014
Leasehold Improvements $2,893 $2.460
Furniture and Fixtures 588 592
Computer Equipment 458 726
Software 163 168

Total 4,102 3,946
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization (1,654 (1,333 )
Property and Equipment, net $2,448 $2,613

Depreciation and amortization charges included in Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $716 and $695, respectively.
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6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consist of the following:

Description
Wetpaint
technology
Wetpaint
trademarks
Wetpaint
customer
relationships
Wetpaint
non-compete
agreements
Watchpoints
technology
Dijit
technology
Choose Digital
intangible
assets

Choose Digital
licenses
Choose Digital
software
Internally
generated
capitalized
software

Other

Total

Amortization

Period

84 months

360 months

60 months

36 months

36 months

84 months

84 months

60 months

60 months

36 months
various

June 30, 2015

Amount

$ 10,600

5,800

2,000

609

1,820

1,740

550

5,006
326

$ 28,451

Accumulated Carrying
Amortization Value

$ (2,336 )
(29 )
617 )
313 )
(368 )
(355 )
a1z )
(2,733 )
@8 )
$ (7,138 )

$ 8,264

5,504

1,383

296

1,452

1,385

438

2,273
318

$ 21,313

June 30, 2014

Amount

$ 10,600

5,800

2,000

609
4,209

1,820

5,797

5,244
333

$ 36,412

Accumulated Carrying
Amortization Value

$ (820 )
(103 )
217 )
(110 )
(3,859 )
(108 )
(14 )
(2,364 )
(7 )
$ (7,602 )

$ 9,780

5,697

1,783

499
350

1,712

5,783

2,880
326

$ 28,810

See Note 4, Acquisitions, for a discussion of intangible assets related to the Wetpaint and Choose Digital acquisitions.
The change in the gross amount of intangibles related to the Choose Digital acquisition is a result of the finalization of
the purchase price valuation during the year ended June 30, 2015.

Amortization of intangible assets included in Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 amounted to $5,324 and $5,198, respectively. Future annual amortization expense expected is as

follows:

Years Ending June 30

2016
2017
2018
2019

Amount

$4,806
3,631
2,925
2,597
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The activity in the goodwill balance consists of the following:

Description Amount
Balance at June 30, 2014 $36,627
Dijit final purchase price adjustment 303
Choose Digital final purchase price adjustment (1,160 )
Other 63

Balance at June 30, 2015 $35,833

7. Loans Payable

Total Outstanding Balances
Maturity  Facility
Facility Name Date Amount June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014
Term Loan Agreement ("DB Line") Retired $ 15,000 S — $ 15,000
Line of Credit Promissory Note (the
"Note") 10/24/17 20,000 19,516 —
On
Unsecured Demand Loans (the "Loans") Demand 1,575 1,575 —
Line of Credit Grid Note (the "Grid Note") 12/31/16 10,000 3,000 —
Total Loans Payable $ 24,091 $ 15,000

Term Loan Agreement

On March 11, 2013, Viggle entered into a Term Loan Agreement (the “DB Line”) with Deutsche Bank Trust Company
Americas (“Deutsche Bank™), under which Deutsche Bank agreed to loan the Company up to $10,000. The Company
may, from time to time, request advances (the “Advances”) from the DB Line in amounts of no less than $1,000.

On December 13, 2013, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the DB Line. Pursuant to the
Amendment, the line of credit was increased to $30,000, and the maturity date was extended from December 16, 2013
to April 30, 2014.

The interest rate on the outstanding balance was lowered as a result of the Amendment. Previously, the interest rate
on the outstanding balance was, at the Company’s election, a per annum rate equal to the LIBOR Rate plus 4.00% or
(ii) the Prime Rate plus 1.75%. Pursuant to the Amendment, the interest rate on the outstanding balance was lowered
to a per annum rate, at the Company’s option, of the LIBOR Rate plus 2.50%, or the Prime Rate plus 0.25%%. Interest
is payable monthly in arrears.

The Company may make prepayments, in whole or in part, under the DB Line at any time, as long as all accrued and
unpaid interest thereon is paid through the prepayment date.

On December 13, 2013, the Company made a draw under the DB Line of $16,951, bringing the total draws to
$26,951. The proceeds of this draw were used to repay amounts outstanding under the Company's previous Amended
and Restated $25,000 Line of Credit. On December 19, 2013, the Company drew the remaining amount available
under the DB Line of $3,049. The Company used the proceeds from the final draw on the DB Line to fund working
capital requirements and for general corporate purposes.
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On February 13, 2014, the Company entered into a further amendment (the "February Amendment") to the DB Line.
Pursuant to the February Amendment, the maturity date of the DB Line was extended to December 31, 2014, and the
mandatory prepayment provision was amended to provide that only the first $10,000 in net cash proceeds from an
equity offering shall be required to be used to prepay amounts outstanding under the DB Line.

On March 11, 2014, the Company entered into a further amendment (the "March Amendment") to the DB
Line. Pursuant to the March Amendment, the line of credit was increased from $30,000 to $35,000, providing the
Company with an additional $5,000 for working capital purposes. Concurrent with the March Amendment, on March
11, 2014, the Company entered into a Pledge and Security Agreement with Deutsche Bank pursuant to which it agreed
to provide Deutsche Bank a security interest in $5,000 in cash, as well as a pledge to secure the prompt and timely
payment of all obligations under the DB Line. The Pledge and Security Agreement will remain in place as long as
there are any obligations outstanding under the DB Line. The $5,000 is classified as short term restricted cash in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2014.

On April 30, 2014, the Company repaid $10,000 of the DB Line in accordance with the February Amendment
discussed above. On June 13, 2014, the Company repaid an additional $10,000 of the DB Line. Each repayment
reduced the amount available on the DB Line.

On December 15, 2014, the Company repaid the remaining $15,000 outstanding under the DB Line from the proceeds
of the Line of Credit Promissory Note (see description below). After this repayment, the DB Line was retired.

The DB Line did not contain any financial covenants.

Repayment of the DB Line was guaranteed by Mr. Sillerman. In consideration for the guarantee, Mr. Sillerman's
designee, Sillerman Investment Company II LLC ("SIC II"), which was the lender under the Amended and Restated
$25,000 Line of Credit described below, received a warrant for 125,000 shares of common stock of Viggle, which
may be exercised at any time within 60 months of the issuance date at $80.00 a share, (subject to adjustment in the
event of stock splits and combination, reclassification, merger or consolidation)(the “Guarantee Warrant”). The
Guarantee Warrant contains a piggyback registration right with respect to the underlying common shares which may
be issued if it is exercised. The Guarantee Warrant was issued in a transaction exempt from registration under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) thereunder and Rule 506 of Regulation D
promulgated thereunder. The Company recorded compensation expense during the year ended June 30, 2013 of
$5,559 related to the Guarantee Warrant issued to SIC II, as Mr. Sillerman's designee.

The Company used the proceeds from the DB Line to fund working capital requirements and for general corporate
purposes.

Interest expense on the DB Line for the year ended June 30, 2015 was $185.
Line of Credit Promissory Note

On October 24, 2014, the Company and Sillerman Investment Company III LLC ("SIC III"), a company affiliated
with Mr. Sillerman entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") pursuant to
which SIC III agreed to purchase certain securities issued by the Company for a total of $30,000. Pursuant to the
Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company issued a Line of Credit Promissory Note (the “Note’), which provides for
a $20,000 line of credit to the Company (see Note 9, Stockholders' Equity, for a discussion of the remaining $10,000
of the Securities Purchase Agreement). The Company also agreed to issue to SIC III warrants to purchase 1,000,000
shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company issued warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock for every $1,000 advanced under the Note. The warrants will be issued in proportion to the amounts
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the Company draws under the Note. The exercise price of the warrants will be 10% above the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date prior to the issuance of the warrants. Exercise of the warrants was subject to approval of
the Company’s stockholders, which occurred on January 13, 2015.

The Note provides a right for the Company to request advances under the Note from time to time. The Note bears
interest at a rate of 12% per annum, payable in cash on a quarterly basis. The Note matures on October 24, 2017. On
October 24, 2014, SIC III made an initial advance under the Note in the principal amount of $4,500. On December
15, 2014, SIC TIT made an additional advance in the principal amount of $15,500 pursuant to the terms of the Note
(the proceeds of which were used to repay amounts outstanding under the DB Line, as discussed above). As of June
30, 2015, the total outstanding principal amount of the Note was $20,000. The Note provides for a 3% discount, such
that the amount advanced by SIC III was 3% less than the associated principal amount of the advances. Therefore, the
net amount actually outstanding under the Note at June 30, 2015, was $19,516, which includes accretion of the
discount of $116 (the 3% discount of $600 is being accreted to the principal balance over the life of the Note). From
and after the occurrence and during the continuance of any event of default under the Note, the interest rate is
automatically increased to 17% per annum.
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In connection with the first drawdown of $4,500 under the Note, the Company issued SIC III warrants to purchase
225,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. These warrants have an exercise price of $3.51, representing a price
equal to 10% above the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the day prior to issuance. In connection with
the additional drawdown of $15,500 under the Note, the Company issued SIC IIT warrants to purchase 775,000 shares
of the Company's common stock. These warrants have an exercise price of $3.63, representing a price equal to 10%
above the closing price of the Companys common stock on the day prior to issuance. The Warrants are exercisable
for a period of five years from issuance. Stock compensation expense related to the issuances of warrants to SIC III
was $2,049 during the year ended June 30, 2015.

The Note is not convertible into equity securities of the Company.

The Note also contains certain covenants and restrictions, including, among others, that, for so long as the Note is
outstanding, the Company will not, without the consent of the holder of the Note, (i) make any loan or advance in
excess of $500 to any officer, director, employee of affiliate of the Company (except advances and similar
expenditures : (a) under the terms of employee stock or option plans approved by the Board of Directors, (b) in the
ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice or (c) to its subsidiaries), (ii) incur any indebtedness that
exceeds $1,000 in the aggregate other than indebtedness outstanding under the Note, (iii) guaranty any indebtedness
of any unaffiliated third party, (iv) change the principal business of the Company or exit the Company's current
business, provided that the foregoing is subject to the Board's compliance with its fiduciary duties, (v) sell, assign, or
license material technology or intellectual property of the Company except (a) in the ordinary course of business,
consistent with past practice, (b) sales and assignments thereof in any 12 month period that do not have a fair market
value in excess of $500 or (c) in connection with a change of control transaction, (vi) enter into any corporate strategic
relationship involving the payment, contribution or assignment by the Company of its assets that have a fair market
value in excess of $1,000 or (vii) liquidate or dissolve the Company or wind up the business of the Company, except
in connection with changes of control or merger, acquisition or similar transactions or as approved by the Company’s
Board in compliance with their fiduciary duties.

Interest expense on the Note was $1,391 for the year ended June 30, 2015.
Unsecured Demand Loans

During the year ended June 30, 2015, Mr. Sillerman made the following demand loans (the "Loans") to the Company:
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Date Amount
December 19, 2014 $2,000
January 14, 2015 2,000
January 30, 2015 2,000
February 13, 2015 750
February 26, 2015 1,000
March 2, 2015 1,000
March 16, 2015 3,000
April 20, 2015 1,000
May 5, 2015 500
May 14, 2015 325
Total $13,575

Each of the Loans bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum. Principal and interest due under the Loans shall be due
and payable upon demand. The principal amount of the Loans may be prepaid at any time and from time to time, in
whole or in part, without premium or penalty. The Company used the proceeds from the Loans to fund working
capital requirements and for general corporate purposes.

As discussed in Note 9, Stockholders' Equity, on March 16, 2015, SIC III purchased 7,000 shares of Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, for a purchase price of $7,000. The
Company used the $7,000 proceeds from the sale of 7,000 shares of Series C Convertible Stock to repay $7,000 in
principal amount of the Loans. In addition, the Company used $798 of the proceeds of the Loan on March 16, 2015 to
pay all accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans. On June 1, 2015, the Company repaid an additional $5,000 in
principal amount of the Loans. Accordingly, after the transactions described herein, the total outstanding principal
amount of the Loans at June 30, 2015 is $1,575.

Interest expense on the Loans was $306 for the year ended June 30, 2015.
Line of Credit Grid Note

On June 11, 2015, the Company and SIC IV entered into a Line of Credit Grid Note (the "Grid Note"). The Grid Note
provides a right for the Company to request advances under the Grid Note from time to time in an aggregate amount
of up to $10,000. The Grid Note bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum, payable in cash on the maturity of the Grid
Note. From and after the occurrence and during the continuance of any event of default under the Grid Note, the
interest rate is automatically increased to 14% per annum.

The Grid Note is not convertible into equity securities of the Company.

In order for the Company to make requests for advances under the Grid Note, the Company must have an interest
coverage ratio equal to or greater than 1, unless SIC IV waives this requirement. The interest coverage ratio is
calculated by dividing: (a) the Company’s net income for the measurement period, plus the Company’s interest expense
for the measurement period, plus the Company’s tax expense for the measurement period, by (b) the Company’s interest
expense for the measurement period, plus the amount of interest expense that would be payable on the amount of the
requested draw for the twelve months following the request for the advance. The measurement period is the twelve
months ended as of the last day of the last completed fiscal quarter prior to the request for the advance. The Company
currently does not have an interest coverage ratio equal to or greater than 1, so advances would require the SIC IV to
waive this requirement. In addition, in order to make requests for advances under the Grid Note, there can be no event
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of default under the Note at the time of the request for an advance, including that there has been no material adverse
change in the business plan or prospects of the Company in the reasonable opinion of SIC IV.
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On June 11, 2015 and June 24, 2015, the Company made requests for advances under the Grid Note, and SIC IV made
advances to the Company in the amounts of $1,000 and $2,000, respectively.

The Grid Note matures on the first to occur of: (a) 12/31/2016 or (b) upon a “Change of Control Transaction.” A
“Change of Control Transaction” includes (i) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or (ii) the
issuance by the Company of common stock that results in any “person” or “group” becoming the “beneficial owner” of a
majority of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock
(other than as a result of, or in connection with, any merger, acquisition, consolidation or other business combination

in which the Company is the surviving entity following the consummation thereof), excluding transactions with
affiliates of the Company.

If an event of default occurs under the Grid Note, SIC IV has the right to require the Company to repay all or any
portion of the Grid Note. An event of default is deemed to have occurred on: (i) the non-payment of any of the
amounts due under the Grid Note within five (5) Business Days after the date such payment is due and payable; (ii)
dissolution or liquidation, as applicable, of the Company; (iii) various bankruptcy or insolvency events shall have
occurred, (iv) the inaccuracy in any material respect of any warranty, representation, statement, report or certificate
the Company makes to Lender under the Note hereto; (v) the Company contests, disputes or challenges in any
manner, whether in a judicial proceeding or otherwise, the validity or enforceability of any material provision in
the Grid Note; or (vi) a material adverse change in the business plan or prospects of the Company in the reasonable
opinion of SIC IV.

Interest expense on the Grid Note for the year ended June 30, 2015 was $10.
Related Approvals

Because each of the transactions (other than the DB Line) referred to in the foregoing sections involved Mr.
Sillerman, or an affiliate of his, the transactions were subject to certain rules regarding "affiliate" transactions. As
such, each was approved by a Special Committee of the Board of Directors and a majority of the independent
members of the Board of Directors of the Company.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company maintains operating leases for its corporate office and several satellite offices. There are no capital

leases. Rent expense for operating leases, which may include free rent or fixed escalation amounts in addition to

minimum lease payments, is recognized on a straight-line basis over the duration of each lease term. Total rent

expense, net of sublease income, for the Company under operating leases recorded for the years ended June 30, 2015

and 2014 was $858 and $911, respectively. The Company’s future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable
operating leases are as follows (amounts are shown net of contractual sublease income):

Years Ending June 30, Amount
2016 $894
2017 877
2018 887
2019 709
2020 729
Thereafter 1,389
Total $5,485
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Litigation

On August 17, 2012, the Company was served with a patent infringement lawsuit filed on August 13, 2012 by Blue
Spike, LLC ("Blue Spike") in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Tyler Division (Civil
Action No. 6:12-CV-526). The lawsuit claims patent infringement under U.S. Patent numbers 7,346,472, 7,660,700,
7,949,494, and 8,214,715 in connection with the Company's audio recognition technology. Blue Spike has
commenced suits against numerous other companies involving the same patent family. The Company settled the
lawsuit with Blue Spike on April 22, 2015, and issued 50,000 shares of common stock to Blue Spike in connection
with the settlement, and based on a closing price of $2.77 on that date, such shares had a fair value of $139.

On May 4, 2015, the Company was served with a lawsuit initiated by Andy Mule, on behalf of himself and others
similarly situated, in the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The lawsuit, which names the Company and each
of our directors as defendants, claims a breach of fiduciary duty relating to a proposal by Mr. Sillerman to acquire a
portion of Wetpaint from the Company. The lawsuit seeks to enjoin the transaction as well as unspecified
damages. The Company believes that the lawsuit is without merit.

The Company is subject to litigation and other claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. While the ultimate
result of our outstanding legal matters cannot presently be determined, the Company does not expect that the ultimate
disposition will have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition. However, legal
matters are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. As
such, there can be no assurance that the final outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's
financial condition and results of operations.

9. Stockholders’ Equity
Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

Prior to September 16, 2013, the Company had authorized a class of series A preferred shares, but none of those
shares were issued or outstanding. On September 16, 2013, the Company eliminated the prior class of series A
preferred shares and created a new class of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series A
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock™). The Company authorized the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of the
Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock. The designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of
Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are
summarized as follows:

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock had an initial stated value of $1,000 per share (the
"Stated Value").

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were entitled to receive quarterly cumulative
dividends at a rate equal to 7% per annum of the Stated Value whenever funds are legally available and when and as
declared by the Company's board of directors. If the Company declared a dividend or the distribution of its assets,
the holders of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were entitled to participate in the distribution to the
same extent as if they had converted each share of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock held into
Company common stock.

Each share of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock was convertible, at the option of the holders, into
shares of Company common stock at a conversion price of $92.00.
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The Company could redeem any or all of the outstanding Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock at any
time at the then current Stated Value, subject to a redemption premium of (i) 8% if redeemed prior to the one year
anniversary of the initial issuance date; (ii) 6% if redeemed on or after the one year anniversary of the initial issuance
date and prior to the two year anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iii) 4% if redeemed on or after the two year
anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the three year anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iv) 2% if
redeemed on or after the three year anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the 42 months anniversary of
the initial issuance date; and (v) 0% if redeemed on or after the 42 months anniversary of the initial issuance
date. However, no premium was due on the use of up to 33% of proceeds of a public offering of common shares at
a price of $80.00 or more per share.
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The Company was required to redeem the Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock on the fifth anniversary
of its issuance.

Upon a change of control of the Company, the holders of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were
entitled to a change of control premium of (i) 8% if redeemed prior to the one year anniversary of the initial issuance
date; (ii) 6% if redeemed on or after the one year anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the two year
anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iii) 4% if redeemed on or after the two year anniversary of the initial
issuance date and prior to the three year anniversary of the initial issuance date; (iv) 2% if redeemed on or after the
three year anniversary of the initial issuance date and prior to the 42 months anniversary of the initial issuance date;
and (v) 0% if redeemed on or after the 42 months anniversary of the initial issuance date.

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were senior in liquidation preference to the shares
of Company common stock.

The shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock had no voting rights except as required by law.

The consent of the holders of 51% of the outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
was necessary for the Company to: (i) create or issue any Company capital stock (or any securities convertible into
any Company capital stock) having rights, preferences or privileges senior to or on parity with the Series A
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock; or (ii) amend the Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.

At June 30, 2015 and 2014, there were no shares of Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock and Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

On September 16, 2013, the Company created 50,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock™). The designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are summarized as follows:

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock had an initial stated value of $1,000 per share.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were convertible, at the option of the holders, into shares of
Company common stock at a conversion price of $92.00. The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock could
only be converted from and after the earlier of either of: (x) the first trading day immediately following (i) the
closing sale price of the Company's common stock being equal to or greater than $133.60 per share (as adjusted for
stock dividends, stock splits, stock combinations and other similar transactions occurring with respect to the
Company's common stock from and after the initial issuance date) for a period of five consecutive trading days
following the initial issuance date and (ii) the average daily trading volume of the Company's common stock (as
reported on Bloomberg) on the principal securities exchange or trading market where the Company's common stock
is listed or traded during the measuring period equaling or exceeding 25,000 shares of Company's common stock per
trading day (the conditions set forth in the immediately preceding clauses (i) and (ii) are referred to herein as the
“Trading Price Conditions”) or (y) immediately prior to the consummation of a “fundamental transaction”, regardless of
whether the Trading Price Conditions have been satisfied prior to such time. A “fundamental transaction” is defined as
(i) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, (ii) a sale of at least 90%of the shares of capital
stock of the Company or (iii) a merger, consolidation or other business combination as a result of which the holders
of capital stock of the Company prior to such merger, consolidation or other business combination (as the case may
be) hold in the aggregate less than 50% of the Voting Stock of the surviving entity immediately following the
consummation of such merger, consolidation or other business combination (as the case may be), in each case of
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clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), the Board determined that the aggregate implied value of the Company's capital stock in
such transaction was equal to or greater than $125,000.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were not redeemable by either the Company or the holders
thereof.
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The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were on parity in dividends and liquidation preference with the
shares of Company common stock, which were payable only if then convertible into common stock.

The shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock had no voting rights except as required by law.

The consent of the holders of 51% of the outstanding shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock was necessary
for the Company to alter, amend or change any of the terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock.

Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

On October 24, 2014, the Company created a new class of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock (the
“Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock™). The Company authorized the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of
the Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock. The rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the shares
of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are summarized as
follows:

The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock have a stated value of $1,000 per share.

Each holder of a share of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends
(“Dividends”) on such share equal to twelve percent (12%) per annum (the “Dividend Rate”) of the Stated Value before
any Dividends shall be declared, set apart for or paid upon any junior stock or parity stock. Dividends on a share of
Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall accrue daily at the Dividend Rate, commence accruing on
the issuance date thereof, compound annually, be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve
30-day months and be convertible into common stock in connection with the conversion of such share of Series C
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.

Each share of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is convertible, at the option of the holders, on the
basis of its stated value and accrued, but unpaid dividends, into shares of Company common stock at a conversion
price of $4.00 per common share.

The Company may redeem any or all of the outstanding Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock at any
time at the then current Stated Value plus accrued Dividends thereon plus a redemption premium equal to the Stated
Value multiplied by 6%. However, no premium shall be due on the use of up to 33% of proceeds of a public
offering of common shares at a price of $5.00 or more per share.

The Company is required to redeem each Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock on the tenth business
day immediately following the fifth anniversary of its issuance. However, the Company shall have no obligation to
mandatorily redeem any shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock at any time that (x) the
Company does not have surplus under Section 154 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) or funds
legally available to redeem all shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, (y) the Company's capital
is impaired under Section 160 of the DGCL or (z) the redemption of any shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Stock would result in an impairment of the Company's capital under Section 160 of the DGCL; provided,
that if the Company is prohibited from redeeming the shares due to those limitations, the Company will redeem the
Shares as soon as possible after such restrictions are no longer applicable.

Upon a change of control of the Company, each holder of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall be
entitled to require the Company to redeem from such holder all of such holder's shares of Series C Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Stock so long as such holder requests such redemption in writing at least one business day
prior to the consummation of such change of control. The redemption amount per share equals the Stated Value
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thereof plus accrued Dividends plus a change of control premium equal to the stated value multiplied 6%.
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The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock are senior in liquidation preference to all shares of
capital stock of the Company unless otherwise consented to by a majority of the holders of shares of Series C
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock.

The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights except as required by
law.

The consent of the holders of a majority of the shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is
necessary for the Company to amend the Series C certificate of designation.

Securities Purchase Agreement

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement discussed in Note 7, Loans Payable, SIC III acquired a total of 10,000
Shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock for $10,000 as described below. The Company also
agreed to issue to SIC III warrants to purchase a total of 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
Company issued warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for every $1,000 of purchase
price paid for the shares. The exercise price of the warrants was 10% above the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date prior to the issuance of the warrants. Exercise of the warrants was subject to approval of the Company’s
stockholders, which occurred on January 13, 2015.

On November 25, 2014, SIC III purchased 3,000 shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock for
$3,000. The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at its fair value as of the date of the purchase of November 25, 2014. In addition, in
accordance with the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company also issued SIC III warrants to purchase 150,000
shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $2.98, which was 10% above the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date prior to issuance.

On March 16, 2015, SIC III purchased 7,000 additional shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
for $7,000. The shares of Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at its fair value as of the date of the purchase of March 16, 2015. In addition, in
accordance with the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company also issued SIC III warrants to purchase 350,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.78, which was 10% above the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date prior to issuance.

In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company recorded total stock compensation expense based
on the fair value of the Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock and warrants of $2,091 during the year
ended June 30, 2015.

In addition, the Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock is not classified as a component of stockholders'
equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Likewise, the undeclared dividends related to Series C
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock have been recorded as an addition within the Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock account in the amount of $468 for the year ended June 30, 2015.

Public Offerings of Common Stock

On April 30, 2014, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 4,375,000 shares of its common stock at a
price of $8.00 per share, resulting in approximately $31,800 of net proceeds. The offering was made pursuant to a
registration statement previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission which became effective on April

24,2014.
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On May 28, 2015, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 3,626,179 shares of its common stock at a
price of $2.50 per share, resulting in approximately $8,442 of net proceeds. The offering was made pursuant to a
registration statement previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission which became effective on May
12, 2015.
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On June 30, 2015, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 2,048,780 shares of its common stock at a
price of $2.05 per share, resulting in approximately $3,878 of net proceeds. The offering was made pursuant to a
registration statement previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission which became effective on May
12, 2015.

10. Share-Based Payments
Equity Incentive Plan

The 2011 Executive Incentive Plan (the "Plan") of the Company was approved on February 21, 2011 by the written
consent of the holder of a majority of the Company's outstanding common stock. The Plan provides the Company the
ability to grant to any officer, director, employee, consultant or other person who provides services to the Company or
any related entity, options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, dividend equivalents and other
stock-based awards and performance awards, provided that only employees are entitled to receive incentive stock
options in accordance with IRS guidelines. The Company reserved 3,750,000 shares of common stock for delivery
under the Plan. Pursuant to the Executive Incentive Plan and the employment agreements, between February 15, 2011
and June 30, 2015, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors authorized the grants of
restricted stock and stock options described below.

Restricted Stock

The per share fair value of RSUs granted with service conditions was determined on the date of grant using the fair
market value of the shares on that date and is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period. This
information does not include RSUs granted as part of the acquisitions of Wetpaint and Choose Digital described in
Note 4.

Weighted

Average Grant
Description Shares Date Fair Value
Nonvested at June 30, 2014 396,370 $ 95.57
Granted 1,794,841 3.20
Vested (1,512,496) 17.10
Forfeited and canceled (212,458) 3.20
Nonvested at June 30, 2015 466,257 $ 41.00

Compensation expense related to restricted stock was $24,649 and $19,622 for the years ended June 30, 2015 and
2014, respectively. As of June 30, 2015, there was $12,967 in unrecognized share-based compensation costs related
to restricted stock.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity for year ended June 30, 2015:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining  Aggregate
Number of  exercise contractual  intrinsic
Description Options price life (years)  value
Outstanding at June 30, 2014 989,066 $30.09 9.44 $—
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610,335 2.97
(35,000 ) 2.33
(382,583 ) 47.75
1,181,818 11.19
818,097 $13.59

8.97
8.97

27

15
$—

191



Edgar Filing: Viggle Inc. - Form DEF 14C

The Company accounts for stock options based on the fair market value on the date of grant, with the resulting
expense recognized over the requisite service period. The fair value of each option award is estimated using the
Black-Scholes option valuation model. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the price of the
Company's stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury Notes with a term equal to the expected life of
the option. The Company uses historical data to estimate expected dividend yield, expected life and forfeiture
rates. Options generally have an expiration of 10 years and vest over a period of 3 or 4 years. The fair value of
options granted during the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were estimated based on the following weighted
average assumptions:

Year Ended  Year Ended

June 30, June 30,
Description 2015 2014
Expected volatility 80 % 80 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.82 % 1.92 %
Expected dividend yield — —
Expected life (in years) 6.50 6.49
Estimated fair value per option granted $2.11 $3.73

Compensation expense related to stock options of $3,650 and $7,014 is included in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations in Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. As of June 30 2015, there was approximately $1,173 of unrecognized stock-based compensation cost
related to stock options, which will generally be recognized over a four year period.

11. Income Taxes

For the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company did not record an income tax benefit because it has
incurred taxable losses and has no history of generating taxable income and therefore the Company cannot presently
anticipate the realization of a tax benefit on its Net Operating Loss carryforward. At June 30, 2015 the Company has
a Net Operating Loss carryforward of $164.5 million, which will begin to expire in 2030. The Company has
established a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2015 and 2014. Income tax
expense for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $87 and $92, respectively.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal tax rate and our effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Year

Ended June Ended June
Description 30, 2015 30, 2014
Statutory U.S. federal tax rate 35.00 % 35.00 %
State and local income taxes - net of federal benefit 10.37 % 10.37 %
Valuation allowance (45.37 Y% (4537 )%
Effective tax rate — % — %
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The components of deferred taxes as of June 30, 2015, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Share based compensation
Start-up expenditures

Other

Operating loss carryforward
Depreciation and amortization
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
Valuation allowance

Deferred tax liability, net

The components of deferred taxes as of June 30, 2014, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Share based compensation
Start-up expenditures

Other

Operating loss carryforward
Depreciation and amortization
Total deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
Valuation allowance

Deferred tax liability, net

$86,546
5,236
1,881
71,616
1,780
167,059

(8,805 )
(158,509 )
$(255 )

(in

thousands)

$71,848
5,674
1,816
40,679
1,625
121,642

(668 )
(121,136 )
$(162 )

The deferred tax liability, net is included in other long term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets.

The Company has evaluated its income tax positions and has determined that it does not have any uncertain tax
positions. The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to any uncertain tax positions through its income

tax expense.

The Company may in the future become subject to federal, state and local income taxation though it has not been
since its inception. The Company is not presently subject to any income tax audit in any taxing jurisdiction.

12. Related Party Transactions

Shared Services Agreements

In an effort to economize on costs and be efficient in its use of resources, the Company entered into a shared services
agreement with Circle Entertainment Inc. (“Circle”) as of February 15, 2011, pursuant to which it shares costs for legal
and administrative services in support of Mitchell J. Nelson, its then-General Counsel and General Counsel to Circle.
The shared services agreement provides, in general, for sharing of the applicable support provided by either company
to Mr. Nelson in connection with his capacity as General Counsel, and an allocation generally based on the services
provided by Mr. Nelson, which were initially estimated to be divided evenly between the companies. The Company is
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responsible for advancing the salary to Mr. Nelson for both companies and will be reimbursed by Circle for such
salary and benefits (but not for any bonus, option or restricted share grant made by either company, which will be the
responsibility of the company making such bonus, option or restricted share grant). The agreement provides for the
Chief Executive Officer or President of each Company to meet periodically to assess whether the services have been
satisfactorily performed and to discuss whether the allocation has been fair. The Audit Committee of each company's
Board of Directors will then review and, if appropriate, approve the allocations made and whether payments need to
be adjusted or reimbursed, depending on the circumstances. Because this transaction is subject to certain rules
regarding “affiliate” transactions, the Audit Committee and a majority of the independent members of the Company's
Board of Directors have approved the shared services agreement. This is deemed to be an affiliate transaction because
Mr. Sillerman is the former Chairman, a Board member, and a greater than 10% stockholder of Circle and Mr. Nelson
is Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Circle. For the years ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, the
Company billed Circle $27 and $73, respectively. Such billings primarily relate to support consisting of legal and
administrative services. These services are to be reviewed and, if appropriate, approved by Circle's Audit Committee
and the Company's Audit Committee. The balance due from Circle as of June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 was $113
and $86, respectively.
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The Company also entered into a shared services agreement with SFX, pursuant to which it shares costs for services
provided by several of the Company's and/or SFX's employees. Such employees will continue to be paid by their
current employers, and SFX will reimburse the Company directly for its portion of such salary and benefits and
Company will reimburse SFX directly for its portion of such salary and benefits (but not for any bonus, option or
restricted share grant made by either company, which will be the responsibility of the company making such bonus,
option or restricted share grant). The agreement provides for the Chief Executive Officer or President of each
company to meet periodically to assess whether the services have been satisfactorily performed and to discuss whether
the allocation has been fair. The Audit Committee of each company's Board of Directors will then review and, if
appropriate, approve the allocations made and whether payments need to be adjusted or reimbursed, depending on the
circumstances. The Company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the shared services agreement on
January 22, 2015, pursuant to which the Company may provide additional services to SFX, and SFX may provide
certain services to the Company. In particular, the shared services agreement provides that, in addition to services
already provided, certain employees of the Company may provide human resources, content and programming, and
facilities services to SFX, subject to reimbursement based on salary and benefits for the employees providing the
services, plus 20% for miscellaneous overhead, based on a reasonable estimate of time spent. In addition, the
Amendment provides that SFX may provide certain tax services to the Company, subject to reimbursement based on
salary and benefits for the employees providing the services, plus 20% for miscellaneous overhead, based on a
reasonable estimate of time spent.

For the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company billed SFX $978 and $398, net of amounts billed by SFX
to the Company, respectively. The net balance due from SFX, including amounts related to the Sales Agency
Agreement, discussed below, as of June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 was $146 and $0, respectively.

Certain Company accounting personnel provided personal accounting services to Mr. Sillerman. To the extent that
such services were rendered, Mr. Sillerman reimbursed the Company. For the year ended June 30, 2014, the
Company billed Mr. Sillerman $7. The balance due from Mr. Sillerman as of June 30, 2014 was $6. No such services
were provided during the year ended June 30, 2015.

Sales Agency Agreement

On January 22, 2015, the Company entered into a sales agency agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with SFX-94 LLC
(“SFX-94"), a subsidiary of SFX, pursuant to which the Company appoints SFX-94 as its exclusive sales agent for the
sale of advertising and sponsorships. Pursuant to the Sales Agreement, the Company consented to SFX-94’s hiring of
25 members of the Company’s sales team, and SFX-94 agreed that it will sell advertising and sponsorships on behalf
of the Company during the term of the Sales Agreement. SFX-94 also agreed that it will maintain adequate staffing
levels, generally consistent with staffing levels currently maintained by the Company, for the Company’s sale of
advertising and sponsorships. The Company will pay SFX-94 a 25% commission on sales made by SFX-94. For
barter transactions, the Company will reimburse SFX-94 for any out of pocket and direct costs incurred by SFX-94
with respect to such barter sales (rather than the commission set forth above), and third party ad networks will be
excluded from the Sales Agreement. For the year ended June 30, 2015, the Company was billed $471 in connection
with the Sales Agreement.

The Sales Agreement has a three-year term, and can be terminated by the Company on 90 days’ notice.
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Advertising Revenue

During the year ended June 30, 2015, the Company provided certain advertising and related services to SFX and its
subsidiaries. The total amount of net revenue was $487 and such amount was due from SFX at June 30, 2015.

Marketing Expense

During the year ended June 30, 2015, SFX, and certain subsidiaries of SFX, provided certain marketing and related
services to the Company. The total amount of marketing expense was $490 and such amount was due to SFX at June
30, 2015.

License Agreement

On March 10, 2014, the Company entered into an audio recognition and related loyalty program software license and
services agreement with SFX. Pursuant to the terms of the license agreement, SFX paid the Company $5,000 to
license its audio recognition software and related loyalty platform for a term of ten years. The amount was deferred
and is being amortized over the ten year period. For the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company
recognized $500 and $146, respectively, of revenue related to this agreement.

Loans Payable and Stockholders' Equity Transactions

See Note 7, Loans Payable, and Note 9, Stockholders' Equity for a description of certain loans and equity transactions
with related parties.

Recapitalization Note

In Fiscal 2011, Mr. Sillerman (and his spouse and entities controlled by him), executed a promissory note in
accordance with his subscription agreement for the payment of the purchase price of certain shares of common stock,
in the amount of $3,242. The note was an unsecured five-year note with interest accruing at the annual rate equal to
the long-term Applicable Federal Rate in effect as of the date of the Recapitalization Agreement (which was 4.15%
per annum). Interest income recorded on this note for the year ended June 30, 2014 was $85. The Recapitalization
Note was repaid by Mr. Sillerman on February 16, 2014.

Related Approvals

Because the above transactions were subject to certain rules regarding “affiliate” transactions, the Company's Audit
Committee and a majority of the independent members of the Company's Board of Directors approved each of these
transactions.

13. Fair Value Measurement

The Company values its assets and liabilities using the methods of fair value as described in ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures. ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs
used in measuring fair value. The three levels of fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable
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in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3 — Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
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In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible, and considers counter-party credit risk in its

assessment of fair value. Observable or market inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while

unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions based on the best information available. The Company has
certain liabilities that are required to be recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States, as described below.

The Company issued 21,364 warrants in connection with the May 10, 2012 PIPE. Each warrant has a sale price of
$440.00 and is exercisable into 1 share of common stock at a price of $640.00 over a term of three years. Further, the
exercise price of the warrants is subject to "down round" protection, whereby any issuance of shares at a price below
the current price resets the exercise price equal to a the price of newly issued shares (the "Warrants"). In connection
with the PIPE Exchanges described in Note 9, Stockholders' Equity, the exercise price of the Warrants was reset to
$92.00 on September 16, 2013. The fair value of such warrants has been determined utilizing the Binomial Lattice
Model in accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements. The fair value of the warrants when issued was
$5,281 and was $443 as of June 30, 2013. As described in Note 7, Loans Payable, 6,818 warrants were exchanged on
September 16, 2013. The remaining 14,545 warrants were marked to market as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 to a fair
value of $10 and $15, respectively. The Company recorded gains of $5 and $305 to other income, net in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, respectively. The fair
value of the warrant is classified as a current liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2015, due to
the Company's intention to retire a significant portion of these warrants in a future round of financing. The
Company's warrants were classified as a Level 3 input within the fair value hierarchy because they were valued using
unobservable inputs and management's judgment due to the absence of quoted market prices and inherent lack of
liquidity.

The Company estimated the fair value of contingent consideration for the acquisition of Choose Digital to be
$2,570. As of June 30, 2015, the fair value of such contingent consideration was estimated to be $4,792. Therefore,
the Company recorded an expense of $2,222 to Selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended June 30, 2015. The fair value of the contingent
consideration was classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy because it was valued using unobservable
inputs and management's judgment.

The following table presents a reconciliation of items measured at fair value on a recurring basis using unobservable

inputs

(level 3):

Description Amount
Balance at June 30, 2013 $4,313
Additions to Level 3 9,196
Gains for the period (2,508 )
Extinguishments (8,416 )
Balance at June 30, 2014 2,585
Additions to Level 3 —
Expense for the period 2,222
Gains for the period (5 )
Balance at June 30, 2015 $4,802
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14. Subsequent Events
DraftDay.com

On September 8, 2015, the Company and its newly created subsidiary DraftDay Gaming Group, Inc. (“DDGG”) entered
into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) with MGT Capital Investments, Inc. (“MGT
Capital”) and MGT Sports, Inc. (“MGT Sports™), pursuant to which the Company acquired all of the assets of the
DraftDay.com business (the “DraftDay Business”) from MGT Capital and MGT Sports. In exchange for the acquisition
of the DraftDay Business, the Company paid MGT Sports the following: (a) 1,269,342 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Common Stock”), (b) a promissory note in the amount of $234, which will
be due September 29, 2015, (c) a promissory note in the amount of $1,875 due March 8, 2016, and (d) 2,550,000
shares of common stock of DDGG. In addition, in exchange for providing certain transitional services, DDGG will
issue to MGT Sports a warrant to purchase 1,500,000 shares of DDGG common stock at an exercise price of $0.40 per
share.

In addition, in exchange for the release of various liens and encumbrances, the Company also agreed to issue to third
parties: (a) 84,633 shares of its Common Stock, (b) a promissory note in the amount of $15,625 due September 29,
2015 and (c) a promissory note in the amount of $125 due March 8, 2016, and DDGG issued: (i) 150,000 shares of its
common stock and (ii) a warrant to purchase 350,000 shares of DDGG common stock at $0.40 per share.

Accordingly, the Company issued a total of 1,353,975 shares of Common Stock in connection with the acquisition of
the DraftDay Business.

The Company contributed the assets of the DraftDay Business to DDGG, such that the Company now owns a total of
11,250,000 shares of DDGG common stock.

The Asset Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of MGT Capital and
MGT Sports. In addition, on September 8, 2015, DDGG entered into an agreement with Sportech Racing, LLC
(“Sportech™) pursuant to which Sportech agreed to provide certain management services to DDGG in exchange for
9,000,000 shares of DDGG common stock.

As a result of the transactions described above, the Company owns a total of 11,250,000 shares of DDGG common
stock, Sportech Inc., an affiliate of Sportech, owns 9,000,000 shares of DDGG common stock, MGT Sports owns
2,550,000 shares of DDGG common stock and an additional third party owns 150,000 shares of DDGG common
stock. In addition, MGT Sports holds a warrant to purchase 1,500,000 shares of DDGG common stock at an exercise
price of $0.40 and an additional third party holds a warrant to purchase 350,000 shares of DDGG common stock at
$0.40 per share. On September 8, 2015, the various stockholders of DDGG entered into a Stockholders Agreement
(the “Stockholders Agreement”). The Stockholders Agreement provides that all stockholders will vote their shares of
DDGG common stock for a Board comprised of three members, two of which will be designated by the Company and
one of which will be designated by Sportech. Mr. Sillerman will serve as the Chairman of DDGG. The Stockholders
Agreement also provides customary rights of first refusal for the various stockholders, as well as customary
co-sale, drag along and preemptive rights.

As a result of the transactions described herein, the Company has issued promissory notes in the aggregate principal
amount of $250 due September 29, 2015 and in the aggregate principal amount of $2,000 due September 8, 2015. All
such notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum.
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Sales Agency Agreement

On January 22, 2015, Viggle Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a sales agency agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with
SFX-94 LLC (“SFX”), a subsidiary of SFX Entertainment, Inc., pursuant to which the Company appointed SFX as its
exclusive sales agent for the sale of advertising and sponsorships. Pursuant to the Sales Agreement, the Company
consented to SFX’s hiring of 25 members of the Company’s sales team, and SFX agreed that it would sell advertising
and sponsorships on behalf of Viggle during the term of the Sales Agreement. The parties have agreed to terminate the
Sales Agreement effective as of September 22, 2015, and the Company plans to hire eight members of the SFX sales
team as of that date.

Forbearance Agreement

In connection with the Company's acquisition of Choose Digital, the Company was required to make a contingent
payment, which was due within five business days after June 24, 2015, of $4,792. Such amount is accrued in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2015. On July 31, 2015, the Company entered into a
Forbearance Agreement with AmossyKlein Family Holdings, LLLP ("AmossyKlein"), as representative of the former
shareholders of Choose Digital Inc. (the “Stockholders”). The Forbearance Agreement provides that the Company will
make monthly installment payments to the Stockholders, beginning on July 31, 2015 and ending on January 29, 2016.
Specifically, the Company agreed to pay $668 on July 31, 2015; $532 on August 31, 2015; $528 on September 30,
2015;%$524 on October 31, 2015; $521 on November 30, 2015; $517 on December 31, 2015; and $1,754 on January
29, 2016. The scheduled payments include $252 of interest. The Company agreed to deliver an affidavit of
confession of judgment to be held in escrow by AmossyKlein’s counsel in the event the Company does not make such
installment payments.

Line of Credit Draws

As discussed in Note 7, Loans Payable, on June 11, 2015, SIC IV agreed to provide a Line of Credit Grid Note to the
Company of up to $10,000 (the “Grid Note”). On September 15, 2015, the Company borrowed an additional $1,000
under the Grid Note. On August 31, 2015, the Company borrowed an additional $2,000 under the Grid Note. On July
31, 2015, the Company borrowed an additional $1,000 under the Grid Note. The Company previously made one
repayment of $1,425 under the Grid Note. As of the filing of this Form 10-K, the balance of the Grid Note is $5,575.
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ANNEX C

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE VIGGLE BUSINESS OF VIGGLE INC.
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Viggle Business of Viggle Inc.

Financial Statements as of September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 and for the
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014

(unaudited)
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